Università degli Studi di Pisa



Dipartimento di Matematica Corso di Laurea Magistrale in Matematica

Asymptotic syzygies of algebraic varieties

Tesi di Laurea Magistrale

Relatore: Prof. **Giorgio Ottaviani** Controrelatore: Prof. Andrea Maffei

Candidato: Daniele Agostini

Anno Accademico 2012/2013

Contents

Introduction								
Ri	ngraz	ziamenti	5					
1	Minimal free resolutions and Koszul cohomology							
	1.1	Preliminary results	6					
		1.1.1 Spectral sequences	6					
		1.1.2 Schur functors	7					
	1.2	Algebra	9					
		1.2.1 The Koszul complex	12					
		1.2.2 Betti tables	16					
		1.2.3 Koszul cohomology as a functor	21					
	1.3	Geometry	22					
		1.3.1 Minimal free resolutions of coherent sheaves	23					
		1.3.2 Koszul cohomology of projective varieties	24					
2	Tech	nniques of Koszul cohomology	25					
	2.1	Syzygy bundles	25					
	2.2	Lefschetz theorem	29					
	2.3	Duality						
	2.4	Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity						
	2.5	Vanishing theorems						
	2.6	Property N_p						
		2.6.1 Arithmetically Cohen-Macaulay embeddings	40					
		2.6.2 Property N_p for curves of high degree	40					
		2.6.3 Property N_p for Veronese embeddings	41					
	2.7	' Examples of Betti tables						
		2.7.1 Rational normal curves	43					
		2.7.2 Elliptic normal curve	45					
		2.7.3 Veronese surface	46					
		2.7.4 Higher degree Veronese surfaces	48					
3	Asymptotic syzygies of algebraic varieties							
	3.1	Asymptotic Betti tables	49					
		3.1.1 The case of $K_{p,1}$	51					
	3.2	Secant constructions	52					
	3.3	The asymptotic non-vanishing theorem	57					
		3.3.1 Preliminary constructions	57					
		3.3.2 The proof	60					
	3.4	The asymptotic non-vanishing theorem for Veronese varieties	62					

4	Asy	mptotic normality of Betti numbers	64
	4.1	Asymptotic Betti numbers of rational normal curves	64
		4.1.1 Discrete random variables and generating functions	65
		4.1.2 Asymptotic normality for Betti numbers of rational normal curves	67
	4.2	Asymptotic normality for Betti numbers of smooth curves	69
5	Coh	nomology of homogeneous vector bundles	73
	5.1	Notations and preliminaries	73
	5.2	Vector bundles and representations	78
		5.2.1 A distinguished open cover of G/P	78
		5.2.2 Homogeneous vector bundles and representations	79
	5.3	Hermitian symmetric varieties and Higgs bundles	81
		5.3.1 The gr functor	81
		5.3.2 Extending representations	82
		5.3.3 Higgs bundles on Hermitian symmetric varieties	83
	5.4	Bott-Borel-Weil Theorem	84
		5.4.1 Bott Theorem on projective space	85
		5.4.2 Bott Theorem on Hermitian symmetric varieties	87
	5.5	Quivers and relations	89
		5.5.1 Basic definitions	89
		5.5.2 The quiver associated to an homogeneous variety	90
	5.6	Cohomology of homogeneous vector bundles	93
	5.7	Example: the projective line	99
		5.7.1 Plethysm of $\wedge^n(S^m(V))$.00
6	The	e Veronese surface 1	.03
	6.1	Working on the projective plane	.03
		6.1.1 The case $d = 2$.04
		6.1.2 The general case	.06
	6.2	Working on the flag variety	11
		6.2.1 Homogeneous bundles on the flag variety	11
		6.2.2 Cohomology and Random triangles	.13
_			

References

Introduction

The purpose of this thesis is the exposition of some recent results about syzygies of projective varieties. More specifically, consider an algebraically closed field \mathbf{k} of characteristic zero, and a smooth connected projective variety *X* over \mathbf{k} . Let *L* be a very ample line bundle on *X* inducing a projectively normal embedding

$$X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}(H^0(X,L)) = \mathbb{P}^r$$

and let $S = S^{\bullet}(H^0(X, L))$ be the homogeneous coordinate ring of the projective space \mathbb{P}^r and $S_X = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} H^0(X, L^q)$ be the homogeneous coordinate ring of the embedded variety $X \subseteq \mathbb{P}^r$. Then the (extended) minimal free resolution of S_X is the unique shortest possible exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow F_s \longrightarrow F_{s-1} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow F_1 \longrightarrow F_0 \longrightarrow S_X \longrightarrow 0$$

where every F_p is a finitely generated free graded *S*-module, called the module of *p*-th syzygies of *X* in \mathbb{P}^r . We can write

$$F_p = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-p-q) \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} K_{p,q}(X,L)$$

for certain uniquely determined finite-dimensional vector spaces $K_{p,q}(X,L)$. The numbers

$$k_{p,q}(X,L) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \dim_{\mathbf{k}} K_{p,q}(X,L)$$

are called the graded Betti numbers of *X* and they encode many of the algebraic and geometric properties of the variety.

In this work, we are interested in studying the Betti numbers $k_{p,q}(X, L^{\otimes d})$ as d grows to infinity. The first natural question to ask is about the vanishing of these numbers. From an intuition based on results about smooth curves, one could think that the $k_{p,q}(X, L^{\otimes d})$ would become more sparse as d increases. Instead, in their recent article [EL12], L. Ein and R. Lazarsfeld proved that the Betti numbers $k_{p,q}(X, L^{\otimes d})$ become asymptotically nonzero for almost all possible values of p, q, moreover, they give a precise range of nonvanishings for the case of Veronese embeddings $k_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d))$. In the thesis, we explain these results, presenting their proof.

The next natural question to ask is about the actual values of the Betti numbers. In particular, inspired by the article [EEL13] of L. Ein, D. Erman and R. Lazarsfeld, we prove that the Betti numbers of smooth curves have an asymptotically normal behavior. More precisely, if X is a smooth curve, then we define a discrete random variable X_d with distribution

$$\mathbb{P}(X_d = p) = \frac{k_{p,1}(X, L^{\otimes d})}{\sum_{h=0}^{+\infty} k_{h,1}(X, L^{\otimes d})} \quad \text{for all } p \ge 0$$

and then we prove the following result.

Theorem 1. As $d \to +\infty$ it holds that $\mathbb{E}[X_d] \sim \frac{d}{2}$, $Var[X_d] \sim \frac{d}{4}$ and moreover

$$\frac{X_d - \mathbb{E}[X_d]}{\sqrt{Var[X_d]}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$$

in distribution.

Following a conjecture of Ein, Erman and Lazarsfeld [EEL13], we expect that the above result extends to higher dimensional varieties as well. Then, the next simplest case to consider would be quite naturally that of Betti numbers of plane Veronese embeddings $k_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$.

In this case, it is much more difficult to get an hold on the Betti numbers with the methods used for curves, since the result of Ein and Lazarsfeld [EL12] tells us that the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$ is very non-sparse as $d \to +\infty$. Thus, we need another technique to compute these numbers: the key point is that we can look at \mathbb{P}^2 as an *SL*(3)-homogeneous variety, and then the Betti numbers are given as the cohomology of certain *SL*(3)-homogeneous bundles on \mathbb{P}^2 .

The cohomology of irreducible homogeneous bundles on an homogeneous projective variety X = G/P is described by the classical Bott's Theorem and it is quite simple. In the thesis we present a result, due to G. Ottaviani and E. Rubei [OR06], that extends Bott's Theorem to every homogeneous bundle, exploiting an equivalence between these bundles and representations of a certain quiver.

It is quite difficult to implement directly this method in our situation, since the quiver maps become quickly very complicated, but, under an additional assumption on the SL(3)-morphisms that is satisfied in all known cases, the problem is reduced to a more tractable combinatorial statement about representations of SL(2). We do not get to a proof of the asymptotic normality, but through this strategy we are able to give some partial results and we can write an algorithm that computes the Betti numbers $k_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$ in further cases than existing ones, albeit under the additional hypothesis.

Turning to the contents of the single chapters, in Chapter 1 we give the basic definitions and first results relative to minimal free resolutions and Betti numbers in an algebraic and geometric context, introducing the language of Koszul cohomology.

In Chapter 2 we investigate further some other aspects of Betti numbers. In particular we discuss syzygy bundles, Castelnuovo-Mumford's regularity, duality, a Lefschetz-type theorem, property N_p and we conclude by giving examples of Betti numbers for rational normal curves, elliptic normal curves and Veronese surfaces of low degree.

Chapter 3 is devoted to the exposition of Ein and Lazarsfeld's results, following their article [EL12].

In Chapter 4 we present the proof of asymptotic normality for the Betti numbers of smooth curves. To this end, we generalize the computations done for elliptic normal curves in order to get control on almost every Betti number and then we use some combinatorial computations to get the result.

Chapter 5 presents the technique of Ottaviani and Rubei [OR06] for computing the cohomology of an homogeneous bundles on an Hermitian symmetric variety X = G/P. We discuss the connection between Bott's Theorem and quiver representations and we conclude giving the proof of a plethysm decomposition for SL(2) as an application of the technique over \mathbb{P}^1 .

In Chapter 6 we apply the methods of the previous chapter to compute the Betti numbers $k_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$ through the cohomology of certain homogeneous bundles. In particular, with an additional hypothesis that is verified in all known cases, we can reduce the problem to a problem in representations of SL(2), that can be attacked explicitly through known rules for plethysm decomposition and tensor product decomposition. This allows to write an algorithm that can compute the Betti numbers in higher degrees than existing ones. In the last part of the chapter we give partial results towards the proof of asymptotic normality, studying the problem over the full flag variety.

Ringraziamenti

Innanzitutto ringrazio Giorgio Ottaviani, per essere stato un ottimo relatore. Questa tesi deve tutto alla sua pazienza ed alla suo supporto, ed in questi anni mi ha mostrato con il suo esempio come un bravo matematico dovrebbe essere.

Poi voglio ringraziare tutti i miei insegnanti di matematica a Pisa, in particolare Franco Flandoli, Patrizia Gianni, Andrea Maffei, Rita Pardini ed Angelo Vistoli, per essere stati sempre disponibili a consigliarmi ed aiutarmi.

Non avrei resistito per sei anni senza la compagnia dei matematici pisani, quindi grazie a Michele, Luciana, Giuseppe, Ivo, Silvia, Silvia, Marco, Dario, Oscar, Luigi, Sabino, Roberta, Libera, Ilenia, Carlo, Mattia, Giuliano, Cristina, Elena, Antonietta, Giulia, Alberto, Giulia, Gennady, Fabrizio, Andrea, Davide, Giovanni, Luca, Giovanni, Marco, Pietro, Denis, Sara, Alessandra, Alexandra, Laura, Mario, Laura, Daniele, Veronica e Danny.

I miei amici marchigiani invece mi ricordano che c'è vita oltre la matematica. Per questo, grazie a Lorenzo, Francesco, Carlo, Fabrizio, Agnese, Sara, Sara, Carlo, Valentina, Luca, Antonio e Giacomo.

Infine, il ringraziamento più grande è per la mia famiglia, per essermi stata vicino ed avermi sostenuto, sempre.

Chapter 1

Minimal free resolutions and Koszul cohomology

In this chapter, we provide the basic definitions and results about minimal free resolutions in the algebraic and in the geometric context. We will work over a fixed algebraically closed field of characteristic 0 denoted by \mathbf{k} .

1.1 Preliminary results

We begin by recalling some preliminary results about spectral sequences and Schur functors.

1.1.1 Spectral sequences

We expose briefly some facts about first-quadrant spectral sequences, mainly to clarify the notation (taken from Vakil [Vak]). Let C be any abelian category, and consider a doubly graded object

$$E = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} E^{p,q}$$

with the $E^{p,q} \in C$, together with two morphisms

$$d^{p,q}_{\rightarrow} \colon E^{p,q} \longrightarrow E^{p+1,q} \qquad d^{p,q}_{\uparrow} \colon E^{p,q} \longrightarrow E^{p,q+1}$$

such that

$$d^{p+1,q}_{
ightarrow} \circ d^{p,q}_{
ightarrow} = 0, \qquad d^{p,q+1}_{\uparrow} \circ d^{p,q}_{\uparrow} = 0, \qquad d^{p,q+1}_{
ightarrow} \circ d^{p,q}_{\uparrow} = d^{p+1,q}_{\uparrow} \circ d^{p,q}_{
ightarrow}$$

If $E^{p,q} = 0$ for all p, q < 0, we call this a **first-quadrant double complex** in the category C.

From this double complex we can define a single complex as follows: we set

$$E^k = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} E^{p,q}$$

and we define a differential $d^k \colon E^k \longrightarrow E^{k+1}$ by $d^k_{|E^{p,q}|} = d^{p,q}_{\rightarrow} + (-1)^p d^{p,q}_{\uparrow}$. The cohomology of this complex is called the **cohomology of the double complex** $E^{\bullet,\bullet}$ or the **hypercohomology** of the complex $E^{\bullet,\bullet}$.

Now, for this complex we can build a **spectral sequence with rightward orientation**, that is a sequence of objects $_{\rightarrow}E_0^{p,q}$, $_{\rightarrow}E_1^{p,q}$, $_{\rightarrow}E_2^{p,q}$, ... such that $_{\rightarrow}E_0^{p,q} = E^{p,q}$ together with maps

$$_{\rightarrow}d_{r}^{p,q}: _{\rightarrow}E_{r}^{p,q} \longrightarrow _{\rightarrow}E_{r}^{p-r+1,q+r}$$

such that $_{\rightarrow}d_0^{p,q} = d_{\rightarrow}^{p,q}$, with a differential relation $_{\rightarrow}d_r^{p,q} \circ _{\rightarrow}d_r^{p+r-1,q-r} = 0$ and an isomorphism

$$\frac{\operatorname{Ker} \to d_r^{p,q}}{\operatorname{Im} \to d_r^{p+r-1,q-r}} \cong \to E_{r+1}^{p,q}$$

Since we are dealing with a first-quadrant double complex, it is easy to see that we have isomorphisms $_{\rightarrow}E_r^{p,q} \cong _{\rightarrow}E_{r+1}^{p,q}$ for all $r \gg 0$ and we denote this object by $_{\rightarrow}E_{\infty}^{p,q}$.

We can also build a **spectral sequence with upward orientation**, that is a sequence of objects ${}_{\uparrow}E_0^{p,q}, {}_{\uparrow}E_1^{p,q}, {}_{\uparrow}E_2^{p,q}, \dots$ together with maps

$${}_{\uparrow}d_r^{p,q}: {}_{\uparrow}E_r^{p,q} \longrightarrow {}_{\uparrow}E_r^{p+r,q-r+1}$$

that behave in the same way as the maps $_{\rightarrow}d_{\bullet}^{\bullet,\bullet}$.

The fundamental result about spectral sequences is the following:

Theorem 1.1.1. The cohomology $H^k(E^{\bullet})$ of the double complex is filtered by both $_{\rightarrow}E_{\infty}^{k,p-k}$ and $_{\uparrow}E_{\infty}^{k,p-k}$. *Proof.* See [Vak] Section 1.7.

1.1.2 Schur functors

Let *n* be a natural number. A partition of *n* is a sequence of natural numbers

 $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_m)$ $\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \dots \ge \lambda_m$ $\lambda_1 + \dots + \lambda_m = n$

A partition λ can also be represented by its Young diagram: a collection of boxes, with λ_1 boxes in the first row, λ_2 boxes in the second row and so on. For example the following is the Young diagram of the partition (3, 2, 1):

Sometimes we identify a partition with its Young diagram: for example we say that a partition λ has *m* rows if its Young diagram has *m* diagram.

For every partition λ one can build as in [FH91] a Schur functor

$$S^{\lambda} \colon \mathbf{Vec}_{\mathbf{k}} \longrightarrow \mathbf{Vec}_{\mathbf{k}} \qquad V \mapsto S^{\lambda}(V)$$

where **Vec**_k denotes the category of finite-dimensional vector spaces over **k**. For example, if $\lambda = (n)$ then $S^{(n)}(V)$ is simply the *n*-th symmetric power S^nV , whereas, if $\lambda = (1, 1, ..., 1)$ repeated *n* times, then $S^{(1,...,1)}(V)$ is the *n*-th alternating power $\wedge^n V$.

Schur functors give a tool to describe the irreducible representations of SL(V) and GL(V).

Theorem 1.1.2. Let V be a vector space of dimension n. Then every irreducible representation of SL(V) is of the form $S^{\lambda}(V)$ for an unique partition λ whose Young diagram has at most n - 1 rows.

Moreover, every irreducible representation of GL(V) is of the form $S^{\lambda}(V) \otimes \det^{m}$, where λ is a partition whose Young diagram has at most at most n - 1 rows, det is the determinant representation and $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ is an integer.

Proof. See [FH91].

There are some useful rules for computing with Schur functors:

Proposition 1.1.1. *Let V* be a vector space of dimension *n* and let $\lambda = (\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_m)$ be a partition with at most *n* rows. Then

dim
$$S^{\lambda}(V) = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{\lambda_i - \lambda_j + j - i}{j - i}$$

Proof. See [FH91].

Theorem 1.1.3 (Pieri's rule). Let λ be a partition and let *m* be a positive integer. Then, as GL(V)-representations we have that

$$S^{\lambda}(V)\otimes_{\mathbf{k}}S^{m}(V)=\bigoplus_{\nu}S^{\nu}(V)$$

where the sum is over all partitions v whose Young diagram can be obtained from that of λ by adding m boxes, no two on the same column.

Proof. See [FH91].

Example 1.1.1. Let *p* and *q* be two positive integers. Then Pieri's rule tells us that

$$\wedge^p V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^q(V) = S^{(q+1,\mathbf{1}^{p-1})}(V) \oplus S^{(q,\mathbf{1}^p)}(V)$$

where by $\mathbf{1}^n$ we mean $(1, 1, \dots, 1)$ with 1 repeated *n* times.



Pieri's rule is a special case of the so-called Littlewood-Richardson rule, that tells us how to decompose an arbitrary tensor product $S^{\lambda}(V) \otimes S^{\mu}(V)$. Since we won't need to use this more general formula, we will not describe it here, however we will need a further generalization to arbitrary semisimple groups.

Theorem 1.1.4 (Generalized Littlewood-Richardson's rule). Let *G* be a simple algebraic group, let λ and μ be two dominant weights for *G* and let Γ^{λ} and Γ^{μ} be their corresponding irreducible representations. Moreover, let $\mu = \mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r$ be all the weights of Γ^{μ} . Then

$$\Gamma^{\lambda} \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} \Gamma^{\mu} = \bigoplus_{i \in I} \Gamma^{\lambda + \mu_i}$$

as *G*-representations, for a certain set $I \subseteq \{1, ..., r\}$.

Proof. See [Lit90].

Now, suppose that the vector space *V* has dimension 2. Then every irreducible representation of SL(V) is of the form $S^p(V)$ for a certain $p \in \mathbb{N}$. The plethysm problem consist on decomposing into irreducible representations a representation of the form $S^n(S^m(V))$: the Cayley-Sylvester formula is a classic result in Invariant Theory that gives a complete solution to this problem.

Before stating it we need some notation: for every triple of positive integers n, m, e we denote by p(n, m, e) the number of partitions of e in at most n elements bounded by m. More precisely:

$$p(n, m, e) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \# \{ (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_n) \mid m \ge \mu_1 \ge \dots \ge \mu_n \ge 0, \ \mu_1 + \dots + \mu_n = e \}$$

Alternatively, we can look at p(n, m, e) as the number of Young diagrams for e that can be fitted into an $n \times m$ rectangle: under this point of view it is easy to see that

$$p(n, m, e) = p(m, n, e)$$
 for all n, m, e

indeed, transposition of rectangles gives the desired bijection. Now we can state the Cayley-Sylvester formula as follows.

Theorem 1.1.5 (Cayley-Sylvester's formula). Let n, m be two positive integers. Then

$$S^n(S^m(V)) = \bigoplus_{e \ge 0} S^e(V)^{\oplus N(n,m,e)}$$

where

$$N(n,m,e) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} p\left(n,m,\frac{nm-e}{2}\right) - p\left(n,m,\frac{nm-e}{2}-1\right)$$

Proof. See [Dol03].

		1
L		L
		L

1.2 Algebra

We will denote by *V* a finite dimensional vector space over **k** of dimension dim V = r + 1 and by $S = S^{\bullet}(V)$ the symmetric algebra over *V*, with the standard grading $S = \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} S^n(V)$. We will denote by $\mathfrak{m} = S_+ = \bigoplus_{n \ge 1} S^n(V)$ its maximal homogeneous ideal. Notice that $\mathbf{k} = S/\mathfrak{m}$ is naturally a graded *S*-module.

Definition 1.2.1 (Graded resolution). Let *M* be an *S*-module. A **graded resolution** of *M* is a complex of *S*-modules

$$F_{\bullet}: \ldots \longrightarrow F_n \longrightarrow F_{n-1} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow F_1 \longrightarrow F_0 \longrightarrow 0$$

where the F_i are homogeneous, the maps are homogeneous of degree 0, and the complex is exact everywhere except in degree 0 where it has cohomology M. This means that it can be extended to an exact complex

 $\ldots \longrightarrow F_n \longrightarrow F_{n-1} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow F_1 \longrightarrow F_0 \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow 0$

We say that a resolution F_{\bullet} is **projective** if every module F_i is projective. We say that a resolution F_{\bullet} is **free** if every module F_i is free.

Definition 1.2.2 (Length of a resolution, Projective dimension). Let M be an S-module and F_{\bullet} a resolution of M. We define the **length** of the resolution as

$$\sup \{ n \mid F_n \neq 0 \}$$

We define the **projective dimension** of M to be the minimum length of a projective resolution of M and we denote it by projdim(M).

It is easy to see that every graded *S*-module has a free resolution: if *M* is such a module, we can just take a set of homogeneous generators of *M* and get an exact sequence

$$F_0 \xrightarrow{\phi_0} M \longrightarrow 0$$

where F_0 is a graded free *S*-module. Then we can take a set of homogeneous generators of the kernel of ϕ_0 and get another exact sequence

$$F_1 \xrightarrow{\phi_1} F_0 \xrightarrow{\phi_0} M \longrightarrow 0$$

It is clear that this process yields a graded free resolution, moreover, if M is finitely generated, the F_i can be taken to be of finite rank. What is nonobvious is the existence of a *finite* graded free resolution. We are going to show that it exists but first we need to give some more definitions.

Lemma 1.2.1 (Graded Nakayama's lemma). Let M be a finitely generated graded S-module.

- (a) If $\mathfrak{m}M = M$, then M = 0.
- (b) If $m_1, \ldots, m_r \in M$ are homogeneous elements such that their images $\overline{m_1}, \ldots, \overline{m_r}$ in $M/\mathfrak{m}M$ generate *it as a* **k**-module, then they also generate *M* as an *S*-module.
- *Proof.* (a) By the usual Nakayama's lemma, there is an element $x \in \mathfrak{m}$ such that (1 + x)M = 0. We write $x = x_1 + \cdots + x_n$ as a sum of homogeneous elements, where each x_i has degree i or is 0. Then for any homogeneous $m \in M$ we have that

$$m + x_1 \cdot m + x_2 \cdot m + \cdots + x_n \cdot m = 0$$

and since this is a sum of homogeneous elements with different degrees (or that are zero), it follows that m = 0. As M is generated by its homogeneous elements, we conclude.

(b) Let *N* be the submodule of *M* generated by the m_i . By hypothesis, we have that $M = N + \mathfrak{m}M$, so that $\mathfrak{m}(M/N) = (M/N)$ and from the previous point, it follows that M = N.

Definition 1.2.3 (Minimal free resolution). Let *M* be a graded *S*-module. A **minimal free resolution** of *M* is a graded free resolution

$$F_{\bullet}: \ldots \longrightarrow F_n \xrightarrow{\phi_n} F_{n-1} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow F_1 \xrightarrow{\phi_1} F_0 \longrightarrow 0$$

where $\phi_n(F_n) \subseteq \mathfrak{m}F_{n-1}$ for all $n \geq 1$.

Remark 1.2.1. We observe that a free resolution

$$F_{\bullet}: \ldots \longrightarrow F_n \longrightarrow F_{n-1} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow F_1 \longrightarrow F_0 \longrightarrow 0$$

is minimal if and only if, when tensored by $\mathbf{k} \otimes_S$, it gives a trivial complex, i.e. all the maps are just the zero maps. This observation will be very useful in the following.

Remark 1.2.2. Let *M* be a finitely generated graded *S*-module. We define a set of generators m_1, \ldots, m_r to be **minimal** if their images $\overline{m_1}, \ldots, \overline{m_r}$ in $\mathbf{k} \otimes_S M$ form a **k**-basis for this space. Observe that from every set of homogeneous generators we can extract a minimal set of generators: indeed, let m_1, \ldots, m_r be any set of generators, then we can suppose that $\overline{m_1}, \ldots, \overline{m_s}$ is a basis of $\mathbf{k} \otimes_S M$ as a **k**-vector space, and from homogeneous Nakayama's lemma we know that m_1, \ldots, m_s generate *M*. This shows that a minimal set of generators coincide with a set of generators of minimal cardinality, which is the dimension of $\mathbf{k} \otimes_S M$ over **k**.

Thanks to these two observations, we can show that a minimal free resolution is indeed minimal how we would expect it to be.

Proposition 1.2.1. Let M be a finitely generated graded S-module. Then a graded free resolution

$$F_{\bullet}: \ldots \longrightarrow F_n \xrightarrow{\phi_n} F_{n-1} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow F_1 \xrightarrow{\phi_1} F_0 \xrightarrow{\phi_0} M \longrightarrow 0$$

is minimal if and only if each ϕ_i *takes a basis of* F_i *to a minimal set of generators of the image.* In particular, if we write $F_i = \bigoplus_i S(a_{i,j})$, then the restriction $\phi_i \colon S(a_{i,j}) \longrightarrow F_{i-1}$ is injective.

Proof. By Remark 1.2.1, the resolution F_{\bullet} is minimal if and only if the tensored complex $F_{\bullet} \otimes_S \mathbf{k}$ is the zero complex: since all the maps $F_{n+1} \otimes_S \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow \text{Im } \phi_{n+1} \otimes_S \mathbf{k}$ are surjective, this is equivalent to saying that the maps Im $\phi_{n+1} \otimes_S \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow F_n \otimes_S \mathbf{k}$ are zero.

On the other hand, the exact sequence

 $0\longrightarrow \operatorname{Im} \phi_{n+1} \longrightarrow F_n \longrightarrow \operatorname{Im} \phi_n \longrightarrow 0$

tensored with $\otimes_S \mathbf{k}$, gives the exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Im} \phi_{n+1} \otimes_S \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow F_n \otimes_S \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Im} \phi_n \otimes_S \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow 0$$

and from Remark 1.2.1, we see that the map ϕ_n sends a basis of F_n to a minimal system of generators of Im ϕ_n if and only if the map Im $\phi_{n+1} \otimes_S \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow F_n \otimes_S \mathbf{k}$ is the zero map.

The following result shows that it makes sense to speak of *the* minimal free resolution.

Theorem 1.2.1. Let M be a finitely generated graded S-module.

- (a) If F_{\bullet} and G_{\bullet} are two minimal free resolutions of M, then they are isomorphic via an unique isomorphism, that induces the identity on M.
- (b) The minimal free resolution is contained as a direct summand in any other free resolution of M.

Proof. See [Eis95].

The modules that appear in the minimal graded free resolution can be computed by means of the Tor functor.

Proposition 1.2.2. Take a finitely generated graded free S-module M and consider its minimal free resolution

 $F_{\bullet}: \ldots \longrightarrow F_i \longrightarrow F_{i-1} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow F_1 \longrightarrow F_0 \longrightarrow 0$

then we can write every F_i in the form

$$F_i = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-j) \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} Tor_i^S(M, \mathbf{k})_j$$

Proof. We know that we can write the minimal free resolution as

$$F_i = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-j) \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} B_{i,j}$$

for certain finite dimensional **k**-vector spaces $B_{i,j}$. These vector spaces count the multiplicity of S(-j) in F_i . Now the Remark 1.2.1 implies that the maps of the complex

 $F_{\bullet} \otimes_{S} \mathbf{k} \colon \ldots \longrightarrow F_{i} \otimes_{S} \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow F_{i-1} \otimes_{S} \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow F_{1} \otimes_{S} \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow F_{0} \otimes_{S} \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow 0$

are all zero, so that the cohomology in degree *i* is given precisely by $F_i \otimes_k S$. By definition of Tor this means that

$$\operatorname{Tor}_{i}^{S}(M,\mathbf{k}) = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathbf{k}(-j) \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} B_{i,j}$$

so that we have a natural identification $\operatorname{Tor}_{i}^{S}(M, \mathbf{k})_{i} = B_{i,i}$.

Definition 1.2.4 (Graded Betti numbers). Let *M* be a finitely generated graded *S*-module. Then the **graded Betti numbers** of *M* are defined as

$$\beta_{i,j} = \beta_{i,j}(M) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \dim_{\mathbf{k}} \operatorname{Tor}_{i}^{S}(M, \mathbf{k})_{j}$$

Remark 1.2.3. By definition of Betti numbers, we can write the minimal free resolution of *M* in the form

$$\dots \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-j)^{\oplus \beta_{i,j}} \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-j)^{\oplus \beta_{i-1,j}} \longrightarrow \dots \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-j)^{\oplus \beta_{1,j}} \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-j)^{\oplus \beta_{0,j}} \longrightarrow 0$$

Corollary 1.2.1. *Let M be a finitely generated graded S-module. The projective dimension of M coincides with the length of its minimal graded free resolution, that is*

$$projdim(M) = \sup \{ i \in \mathbb{N} \mid Tor_i^S(M, \mathbf{k}) \neq 0 \} = \sup \{ i \in \mathbb{N} \mid \beta_{i,j}(M) \neq 0 \text{ for a certain } j \}$$

Proof. We just need to show that every projective resolution of M has length at least equal to the length ℓ of the minimal free resolution. Let P_{\bullet} be a projective resolution of M: then by definition of Tor we know that

$$\operatorname{Tor}_{i}^{S}(M,\mathbf{k}) = H^{i}(P_{\bullet} \otimes_{S} \mathbf{k})$$

and by Proposition 1.2.2, we see that $\text{Tor}_{\ell}^{S}(M, \mathbf{k})_{\bullet} \neq 0$ so that $P_{\ell} \neq 0$.

1.2.1 The Koszul complex

To compute the Betti numbers of a graded module M we need to compute $\text{Tor}_i^S(M, \mathbf{k})_j$: thanks to the symmetry of Tor, to do this we can either tensor a free resolution of M by \mathbf{k} (this is what we have done before) or tensor a free resolution of \mathbf{k} by M.

Now we are going to find the minimal free resolution of **k**: notice that for every $p \ge 0$ we have the natural multiplication map

$$\wedge^{p}V^{\vee}\otimes_{\mathbf{k}}V^{\vee}\longrightarrow\wedge^{p+1}V^{\vee}\qquad\phi_{1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\phi_{p}\otimes\phi_{p+1}\mapsto\phi_{1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\phi_{p+1}$$

That induces by duality a natural **k**-linear map

$$\wedge^{p+1}V \longrightarrow \wedge^p V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} V \qquad v_0 \wedge \cdots \wedge v_p \mapsto \sum_{i=0}^p (-1)^i v_0 \wedge \cdots \wedge \widehat{v_i} \wedge \cdots \wedge v_p \otimes v_i$$

and for every $q \in \mathbb{Z}$ we can consider the composition

$$\wedge^{p+1}V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^{q}(V) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p}V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^{q}(V) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p}V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^{q+1}(V)$$

where the first map is obtained by the one above by tensoring with id_M and the second map is obtained by tensoring the natural multiplication map with $id_{\wedge^p V}$.

This way, we have defined the maps

$$d_{p,q} \colon \wedge^p V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^q(V) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p-1} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^{q+1}(V) \qquad v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge v_p \otimes f \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^p (-1)^{i+1} v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \widehat{v_i} \wedge \dots \wedge v_p \otimes f v_i$$

and taking the direct sum over all q and keeping p fixed, we get homogeneous maps of graded *S*-modules

$$d_p\colon \wedge^p V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S(-1) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p-1} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S$$

Definition 1.2.5 (Koszul complex). The Koszul complex of V is the sequence of graded S-modules

$$K_{\bullet}(V): 0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{r+1} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S(-r-1) \longrightarrow \wedge^{r} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S(-r) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S(-1) \longrightarrow S \longrightarrow 0$$

We are going to prove that the Koszul complex is the minimal graded free resolution of **k**. First we recall Euler's formula on homogeneous polynomials.

Lemma 1.2.2 (Euler's formula). Let $X_0, ..., X_r$ be a basis of V and let $f \in S$ be a nonzero homogenous element. Then

$$\sum_{i=0}^{r} X_i \frac{\partial f}{\partial X_i} = (\deg f) f$$

Proof. First we notice that the statement to prove is linear in f so that it is enough to suppose that f is a monomial in the X_i . Now, we notice that the statement to prove is also multiplicative in f: indeed, suppose that the formula holds for two homogeneous elements f, g then

$$\sum_{i=0}^{r} X_i \frac{\partial (fg)}{\partial X_i} = \sum_{i=0}^{r} X_i \left(f \frac{\partial g}{\partial X_i} + g \frac{\partial f}{\partial X_i} \right) = \deg(g) fg + \deg(f) fg = (\deg f + \deg g) fg = \deg(fg) fg$$

Now it is enough to prove the formula in the cases in which *f* has degree 0 or 1, where it is obvious. \Box

Theorem 1.2.2. The Koszul complex $K_{\bullet}(V)$ is the minimal graded free resolution of **k** as an S-module.

Proof. In view of the importance of this result, we are going to give two different proofs of it

• **Standard proof**: first we prove that the Koszul complex is actually a complex. For every $p \ge 1, v_1, \ldots, v_p \in V$ and $f \in S^q(V)$ we have

$$(d \circ d)(v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge v_p \otimes f) = d\left(\sum_{i=1}^p (-1)^{i+1} v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \widehat{v_i} \wedge \dots \wedge v_p \otimes v_i f\right) =$$

= $\sum_{i=1}^p (-1)^{i+1} \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} (-1)^{j+1} v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \widehat{v_j} \wedge \dots \wedge v_p \otimes v_j v_i f +$
+ $\sum_{i=1}^p (-1)^{i+1} \sum_{j=i+1}^p (-1)^j v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \widehat{v_i} \wedge \dots \wedge v_p \otimes v_j v_i f = 0$

and since the elements $v_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge v_p \otimes f$ generate $\wedge^p V \otimes S^q(V)$, it is clear that $d \circ d = 0$. Now we show that this complex gives a free resolution of **k**: the differential $V \otimes S(-1) \longrightarrow S$ is given by $v \otimes f \mapsto vf$, so that it is clear that the image of this map is \mathfrak{m} , and then the cohomology is $S/\mathfrak{m} = \mathbf{k}$. Now we have to prove that the complex is exact in degree $p \ge 1$. In order to do this, fix a basis $X_0, \ldots X_r$ of V and consider for every $p \ge 0$ the maps

$$D_p: \wedge^p V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^q(V) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^{q-1}(V) \qquad v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge v_p \otimes f \mapsto \sum_{i=0}^r X_i \wedge v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge v_p \otimes \frac{\partial f}{\partial X_j}$$

Then, for every $p \ge 1$, every $f \in S^q(V)$ and every choice of $0 \le i_1 < \cdots < i_p \le r$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} (d_{p+1} \circ D_p + D_{p-1} \circ d_p) (X_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge X_{i_p} \otimes f) &= \\ &= d_{p+1} \left(\sum_{j=0}^r X_j \wedge X_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge X_{i_p} \otimes \frac{\partial f}{\partial X_j} \right) \\ &+ D_{p-1} \left(\sum_{h=1}^p (-1)^{h+1} X_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \widehat{X_{i_h}} \wedge \dots \wedge X_{i_p} \otimes X_{i_h} f \right) = \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^r X_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge X_{i_p} \otimes X_j \frac{\partial f}{\partial X_j} + \sum_{j=0}^r \sum_{h=1}^p (-1)^h X_j \wedge X_{i_1} \dots \wedge \widehat{X_{i_h}} \wedge \dots \wedge X_{i_p} \otimes X_{i_h} \frac{\partial f}{\partial X_i} + \\ &+ \sum_{h=1}^p \sum_{j=0}^r (-1)^{h+1} X_j \wedge X_{i_1} \dots \wedge \widehat{X_{i_j}} \wedge \dots X_{i_p} \otimes \frac{\partial (X_{i_h} f)}{\partial X_j} \end{aligned}$$

Now, by Euler's formula we have that $\sum_{j=0}^{r} X_{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{i_p} \otimes X_j \frac{\partial f}{\partial X_j} = q(X_{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge X_{i_p})$, whereas Leibniz' rule tells us that

$$\frac{\partial(X_{i_h}f)}{\partial X_j} = \delta_{i_h,j}f + X_{i_h}\frac{\partial f}{\partial X_j}$$

Plugging this into the above expression yields

$$(d_{p+1} \circ D_p + D_{p-1} \circ d_p)(X_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge X_{i_p} \otimes f) =$$

= $q(X_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge X_{i_p} \otimes f) + \sum_{h=1}^p (-1)^{h+1} X_{i_{h+1}} \wedge X_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \hat{X_{i_h}} \wedge \dots \wedge X_{i_p} \otimes f =$
= $(p+q)(X_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge X_{i_p} \otimes f)$

Since the elements $X_{i_1} \wedge \ldots X_{i_p} \otimes f$ generate $\bigwedge^p V \otimes_k S^q(V)$ it follows that

$$d_{p+1} \circ D_p + D_{p-1} \circ d_p = (p+q)$$
id

and this implies that the complex is exact in every degree $p \ge 1$.

Representation-theoretic proof: it follows immediately from the construction of the Koszul differentials

$$d_{p,q} \colon \wedge^p V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^q(V) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p-1} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^{q+1}(V)$$

that they are GL(V)-morphisms, with respect to the standard action of GL(V). Now, from Example 1.1.1 we see that we have a decomposition in irreducible GL(V)- representations

$$\wedge^p V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^q(V) = S^{(q+1,\mathbf{1}^{p-1})}(V) \oplus S^{(q,\mathbf{1}^p)}(V)$$

where by $\mathbf{1}^n$ we mean (1, 1, ..., 1) with 1 repeated *n* times. The differentials in the Koszul complex have the form

$$\wedge^{p+1}V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^{q-1}(V) \stackrel{d_{p+1,q-1}}{\longrightarrow} \wedge^{p}V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^{q}(V) \stackrel{d_{p,q}}{\longrightarrow} \wedge^{p-1}V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^{q+1}(V)$$

and after decomposing into irreducible representation we get a sequence

$$S^{(q,\mathbf{1}^{p})}(V) \oplus S^{(q-1,\mathbf{1}^{p+1})}(V) \xrightarrow{d_{p+1,q-1}} S^{(q+1,\mathbf{1}^{p-1})}(V) \oplus S^{(q,\mathbf{1}^{p})}(V) \xrightarrow{d_{p,q}} S^{(q+2,\mathbf{1}^{p-2})}(V) \oplus S^{(q+1,\mathbf{1}^{p-1})}(V)$$

Now, the composition of the two differentials gives a GL(V)-morphism

$$d_{p,q} \circ d_{p+1,q-1} \colon S^{(q,1^p)}(V) \oplus S^{(q-1,1^{p+1})}(V) \longrightarrow S^{(q+2,1^{p-2})}(V) \oplus S^{(q+1,1^{p-1})}(V)$$

and such a map is forced to be zero by Schur's lemma. This proves that the Koszul complex is an actual complex.

To show that the Koszul complex gives a resolution of **k** we can make use again of Schur's lemma: if $p \ge 1$ the Koszul differential is a GL(V)-morphism

$$d_{p,q}: S^{(q+1,1^{p-1})}(V) \oplus S^{(q,1^p)}(V) \longrightarrow S^{(q+2,1^{p-2})}(V) \oplus S^{(q+1,1^{p-1})}(V)$$

and, by Schur's lemma, $d_{p,q}$ can either be the zero map or Ker $(d_{p,q}) = S^{(q,1^p)}(V)$ and Im $(d_{p,q}) = S^{(q+1,1^{p-1})}(V)$. Now, it is easy to prove that $d_{p,q}$ is not zero if $q \ge 0$: indeed if X_0, \ldots, X_r is a basis of V and $f \in S^q(V)$ is a monomial in the X_i then

$$d_{p,q}(X_0 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_p \otimes f) = \sum_{i=0}^p (-1)^i X_0 \wedge \cdots \wedge \widehat{X}_i \wedge \cdots \wedge X_p \otimes e_i f$$

and the latter is different from zero because we know that the elements $X_0 \wedge \cdots \wedge \widehat{X}_i \wedge \cdots \wedge X_p \otimes X_i f$ are linearly independent in $\bigwedge^{p-1} V \otimes_k S^{q+1}(V)$. This shows that Ker $(d_{p,q}) = S^{(q,\mathbf{1}^p)}(V)$ and Im $(d_{p,q}) = S^{(q+1,\mathbf{1}^{p-1})}(V)$ if $p \ge 1$ and $q \ge 0$, and gives immediately the exactness of the Koszul complex for $p \ge 1$.

To see what happens in cohomological degree 0 we just notice that Ker $(d_0) = S$ obviously and Im $(d_1) = \bigoplus_{q \ge 0}$ Im $(d_{p,q}) = \bigoplus_{q \ge 0} S^{q+1}(V) = \mathfrak{m}$ by the computation above, so that the cohomology in 0 is precisely $S/\mathfrak{m} = \mathbf{k}$.

These two proofs show that the Koszul complex is a graded free resolution of \mathbf{k} . To show that this is the minimal free resolution is then immediate because the Koszul differentials are given by multiplication by homogeneous elements of degree 1.

As we said before, we can use the Koszul complex to compute $\text{Tor}_p^S(M, \mathbf{k})_q$, for a finitely generated graded *S*-module *M*. Indeed, tensoring the Koszul complex with *M* we obtain the complex:

$$K_{\bullet}(V) \otimes_{S} M \colon 0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{n+1} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M(-n-1) \longrightarrow \wedge^{n} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M(-n) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M(-1) \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow 0$$

that in cohomological degree p has the form

$$\dots \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M(-p-1) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M(-p) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p-1} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M(-p+1) \longrightarrow \dots$$

And taking the part of degree *q* we obtain the complex

$$\ldots \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M_{q-p-1} \stackrel{d^{M}_{p+1,q-p-1}}{\longrightarrow} \wedge^{p} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M_{q-p} \stackrel{d^{M}_{p,q-p}}{\longrightarrow} \wedge^{p-1} V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M_{q+1-p} \longrightarrow \ldots$$

and this tells us that

$$\operatorname{Tor}_{p}^{S}(M, \mathbf{k})_{q} = \frac{\operatorname{Ker} d_{p,q-p}^{M}}{\operatorname{Im} d_{p+1,q-p-1}^{M}}$$

With this in mind we make the following definition:

Definition 1.2.6 (Koszul cohomology of a module). With the notations as above, we define the **Koszul cohomology** of *M* as

$$K_{p,q}(M,V) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{\operatorname{Ker} d_{p,q}^M}{\operatorname{Im} d_{p+1,q-1}^M}$$

We also define the notation

$$k_{p,q}(M,V) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \dim_k K_{p,q}(M,V)$$

Remark 1.2.4. By definition, the Koszul cohomology of *M* is the cohomology at the middle term of the complex

$$\wedge^{p+1}V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M_{q-1} \longrightarrow \wedge^{p}V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S^{q}(V) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p-1}V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M_{q+1}$$

Proposition 1.2.3. Let M be a finitely generated graded S-module, then

$$K_{p,q}(M, V) = Tor_p^S(M, \mathbf{k})_{p+q}$$

Proof. Follows immediately from what we have said before.

Remark 1.2.5. This shows that the minimal free resolution of a finitely generated graded *S*-module *M* can be written as :

$$\ldots \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-p-q) \otimes K_{p,q}(M,V) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-q) \otimes K_{0,q}(M,V) \longrightarrow 0$$

Example 1.2.1 (Koszul cohomology of \mathbf{k}). From the Koszul complex, it is immediate to see that the Koszul cohomology of \mathbf{k} is given by

$$K_{p,q}(\mathbf{k}, V) = \begin{cases} \wedge^p V & \text{if } q = 0\\ 0 & \text{if } q \neq 0 \end{cases}$$

Now it is very easy to derive from this an important theorem of Hilbert, that tells us that every finitely generated graded module over *S* has finite projective dimension, and actually it gives an upper bound to this number:

Theorem 1.2.3 (Hilbert's Syzygy Theorem). Let M be a finitely generated graded S-module. Then the minimal free resolution of M has length at most r + 1.

Proof. It is enough to note that $\bigwedge^p V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M_q = 0$ for p > r + 1 so that $K_{p,q}(M, V) = 0$ for every $p \ge r + 1$ and $q \in \mathbb{Z}$.

1.2.2 Betti tables

We can summarize the informations about the Betti numbers of a module in a convenient way:

Definition 1.2.7 (Betti tables). Let *M* be a finitely generated graded *S*-module and let $\beta_{i,j} = \beta_{i,j}(M)$ or $k_{i,j} = k_{i,j}(M, V)$ be its graded Betti numbers. Then the **Betti table** of *M* is defined as

or, using Koszul cohomology notations

Example 1.2.2. Suppose that dim V = 3. Then the Betti table of **k** as an *S*-module is

where the dashes stay for a 0 and all the elements not shown are 0.

In general, if dim V = r + 1, then the Betti table of **k** as an *S*-module is

The Betti table of a module cannot have an arbitrary shape: for example we have the following result.

Proposition 1.2.4. Let *M* be a finitely generated graded *S*-module with Betti numbers $k_{p,q} = k_{p,q}(M, V)$. Suppose that for a certain $p \ge 0$ it holds that $k_{p,q} = 0$ for all $q \le \overline{q}$. Then $k_{p,q+1} = 0$ for all $q \le \overline{q}$ as well.

This means that if the Betti table of M is zero in the p-th column above the \overline{q} -th row, then it is zero also in the p + 1-th column above the \overline{q} -th row.

Proof. Consider the minimal free resolution of *M*:

$$F_{\bullet}: \ldots \longrightarrow F_{p+1} \longrightarrow F_p \longrightarrow \ldots$$

then we know from Proposition 1.2.1 that every generator of F_{p+1} must be mapped to a nonzero homogeneous element of $\mathfrak{m}F_p$ of the same degree. By hypothesis we know that

$$F_p = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-p-q)^{\oplus_{k_{p,q}}} = \bigoplus_{q \ge \overline{q}} S(-p-q)^{\oplus_{k_{p,q}}}$$

so that every generator of F_p has degree greater or equal than $p + \overline{q}$, and this implies that every nonzero homogeneous element of $\mathfrak{m}F_p$ has degree greater or equal than $p + \overline{q} + 1$. By what we have said above, this means that every generator of F_{p+1} has degree greater or equal than $p + \overline{q} + 1$, that means $k_{p+1,q} = 0$ for all $q \leq \overline{q}$.

Remark 1.2.6. Recently there has been much attention on the possible shapes of graded Betti tables: in particular a new field called Boij-Söderberg theory describes the space of Betti tables up to a rational multiple, and it has been shown by M. Boij, D. Eisenbud, F.-O. Schreyer and J. Soderberg that these Betti table form a rational polyhedral cone whose extremal rays are spanned by so-called pure Betti diagrams. It is very interesting that the proof of this fact relies on a duality with cohomology tables of coherent sheaves on projective space. For a survey of these results, see [ES].

Hilbert function, Hilbert polynomial and Hilbert series

The minimal free resolution is clearly a complete invariant for a module, but even the knowledge of just the Betti table gives us control over many fundamental algebraic properties.

The first one of these is the Hilbert function of a module:

Definition 1.2.8. Let *M* be a finitely generated graded *S*-module. Then the **Hilbert function** of *M* is defined as

$$H_M: \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow \mathbb{N} \qquad d \mapsto \dim_{\mathbf{k}} M_d$$

It is easy to compute the Hilbert function from the Betti table:

Proposition 1.2.5. Let *M* be a finitely generated *S*-module with Betti numbers $k_{p,q} = k_{p,q}(M, V)$ and for every $s \in \mathbb{Z}$ define $K_s \stackrel{def}{=} \sum_{p \ge 0} (-1)^p k_{p,s-p}$. Then

$$H_M(d) = \sum_{p=0}^{r+1} (-1)^{p+1} \dim_{\mathbf{k}} (F_p)_d = \sum_{s \ge 0} K_s \binom{d-s+r}{r}$$

Conversely, the K_s can be computed inductively from the Hilbert function by the formula

$$K_s = H_M(s) - \sum_{k < s} K_k \binom{s - k + r}{r}$$

Proof. We have the augmented minimal free resolution of *M* given by

$$0 \longrightarrow F_{r+1} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow F_1 \longrightarrow F_0 \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow 0$$

where $F_p = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-p-q) \otimes K_{p,q}(M, V)$. Hence, in degree *d* we get

$$(F_p)_d = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-p-q)_d \otimes K_{p,q}(M,V) = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} S^{d-p-q}(V) \otimes K_{p,q}(M,V)$$

so that

$$H_M(d) = \sum_{p=0}^{r+1} (-1)^{p+1} \dim_{\mathbf{k}}(F_p)_d = \sum_{p=0}^{r+1} \sum_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{p+1} \binom{d-p-q+r}{r} k_{p,q}(M,V)$$

and it is easy to see that this formula can be rearranged to give the one that we want. For the second statement, observe that $\binom{s-k+r}{r} = 0$ if s - k < 0 so that

$$H_M(s) = \sum_{k \le s} K_k \binom{s-k+r}{r} = K_s + \sum_{k < s} K_k \binom{s-k+r}{r}$$

Hilbert actually proved his Syzygy Theorem to show that the Hilbert function is eventually polynomial:

Corollary 1.2.2. Let *M* be a finitely generated graded *S*-module and let $H_M(d)$ be its Hilbert function. Then there exists an unique polynomial $P_M(t) \in \mathbb{Q}[t]$ such that $H_M(d) = P_M(d)$ for $d \gg 0$. *Proof.* By Proposition 1.2.5 we know that

$$H_M(d) = \sum_{p=0}^{r+1} (-1)^{p+1} \dim_{\mathbf{k}}(F_p)_d = \sum_{p=0}^{r+1} \sum_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{p+1} \binom{d-p-q+r}{r} k_{p,q}(M,V)$$

and if we define $m = \max \{ p + q \mid k_{p,q}(M, V) \neq 0 \}$, then it is easy to show that for every $d \ge m$ we have that

$$\binom{d-p-q+r}{r}k_{p,q}(M,V) = \frac{(d-p-q+r)(d-p-q+r-1)\dots(d-p-q+1)}{r!}k_{p,q}(M,V)$$

is a polynomial function in *d* for all *p*, *q*. Then it is clear that H_M is polynomial for all $d \ge m$ and this polynomial is unique, because its value is determined on infinite points.

Definition 1.2.9 (Hilbert polynomial). Let *M* be a finitely generated graded *S*-module with Hilbert function H_M . The **Hilbert polynomial** of *M* is the unique polynomial $P_M(t) \in \mathbb{Q}[t]$ such that $H_M(d) = P_M(d)$ for $d \gg 0$.

Another way to get an hold on the Hilbert function is through its generating function.

Definition 1.2.10 (Hilbert series). Let M be a finitely generated graded *S*-module with Hilbert function H_M . Then the **Hilbert series** of M is defined as the power series

$$HS_M(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} H_M(n) z^n$$

Proposition 1.2.6. Let M be a finitely generated graded S-module. Then its Hilbert series has the form

$$HS_M(z) = \frac{\Phi_M(z)}{(1-z)^{r+1}}$$

where $\Phi_M(z) \in \mathbb{Z}[z, z^{-1}]$ is a Laurent polynomial with integer coefficients.

Proof. Consider the extended minimal free resolution of M

 $0 \longrightarrow F_{r+1} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow F_1 \longrightarrow F_0 \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow 0$

This is an exact sequence, so that $HS_M(z) = \sum_{p=0}^{r+1} (-1)^p HS_{F_p}(z)$. Now, it is easy to compute the Hilbert function for a free module:

$$HS_{F_p}(z) = \sum_{q} k_{p,q}(M, V) HS_{S(-p-q)}(z) = \sum_{q} k_{p,q}(M, V) z^{p+q} HS_S(z) = \frac{\sum_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} k_{p,q}(M, V) z^{p+q}}{(1-z)^{r+1}}$$

and the proof is completed.

Example: Complete Intersections

We can also use the Betti table to detect regular sequences.

Definition 1.2.11 (Regular sequence). Let *M* be a finitely generated graded *S*-module. A sequence (f_1, \ldots, f_s) of homogenous elements $f_i \in S$ is said to be an *M*-regular sequence if

1.
$$M/(f_1, \ldots, f_s)M \neq 0$$
.

2. f_i is not a zerodivisor on $M/(f_1, \ldots, f_{i-1})M$ for every *i*.

Definition 1.2.12 (Complete intersections). A complete intersection is an *S*-module of the form $S/(f_1, ..., f_r)$ where the elements $(f_1, ..., f_r)$ are homogeneous and form a regular sequence in *S*.

Example 1.2.3 (Principal ideals). The most basic example of complete intersections is clearly that of principal ideals: since *S* is a domain, any nonzero homogeneous element $f \in S$ gives a regular sequence (f), and a complete instersection S/(f).

If deg f = d, it is quite clear that the minimal free resolution of S/(f) is

$$0 \longrightarrow S(-d) \xrightarrow{\cdot f} S \longrightarrow 0$$

and in particular the Hilbert series of S/(f) is given by

$$HS_{S/(f)}(z) = \frac{1 - z^d}{(1 - z)^{r+1}}$$

Example 1.2.4 (The residue field). The residue field itself is a complete intersection: indeed if X_0, \ldots, X_r is a basis of V, then $\mathbf{k} = S/(X_0, \ldots, X_r)$ and (X_0, \ldots, X_r) is obviously a regular sequence, whose minimal free resolution is the Koszul complex.

Example 1.2.5. Suppose that dim V = 3 and let $f \in S$ be an irreducible homogeneous polynomial of degree 2 and $g \in S$ an irreducible homogeneous polynomial of degree 3. Then it is clear that (f,g) is a regular sequence: indeed, as S is a domain and $f \neq 0$ it is obvious that f is not a zerodivisor on S. Moreover, take an element $h \in S$ such that $gh \in (f)$: then, as f,g are irreducible and coprime, it must be that $h \in (f)$, so that g is not a zerodivisor on S/(f). Hence, S/(f,g) is a complete intersection.

What is the minimal free resolution of S/(f,g)? Clearly, it starts off as

$$S(-2) \oplus S(-3) \xrightarrow{\left(f \quad g \right)} S \longrightarrow 0$$

and to continue we have to determine the kernel of the map (f g), that is the module

$$K = \{ (h_1, h_2) \in S(-2) \oplus S(-3) \mid h_1 f = -h_2 g \}$$

But since (f,g) is a regular sequence, it is clear that if $(h_1, h_2) \in K$, then we can write $h_1 = gk_1$ and $h_2 = -fk_2$ for certain homogeneous polynomials k_1, k_2 . Plugging this into the relation $h_1f = -h_2g$ tells us that $k_1 = k_2$. Thus, the next step in the minimal free resolution is given by

$$S(-5) \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} -f \\ g \end{pmatrix}} S(-2) \oplus S(-3) \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} f & g \end{pmatrix}} S \longrightarrow 0$$

and, as this last map is cleary injective, the resolution stops here and we get

$$0 \longrightarrow S(-5) \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} -f \\ g \end{pmatrix}} S(-2) \oplus S(-3) \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} f & g \end{pmatrix}} S \longrightarrow 0$$

In particular, the Hilbert series of S/(f,g) is given by

$$HS_{S/(f,g)}(z) = \frac{1 - z^2 - z^3 + z^5}{(1 - z)^{r+1}}$$

Now we want to show that the knowledge of the Betti table of a module allows us to decide whether a certain sequence is regular or not. Actually, this is completely determined by the Hilbert function already:

Proposition 1.2.7. *Let M* be a finitely generated graded S-module and let $\mathbf{f} = (f_1, ..., f_s)$ *be a sequence of homogeneous elements of degrees* deg $f_i = d_i$. Then

$$HS_{M/\mathbf{f}M}(z) \ge \prod_{i=1}^{s} (1 - z^{d_i}) HS_M(z)$$

with equality if and only if **f** is an M-regular sequence (the inequality stands for a term-by-term inequality).

Proof. First we prove the statement when s = 1. We have the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow K \longrightarrow M(-d_1) \xrightarrow{\cdot f_1} M \longrightarrow M/f_1M \longrightarrow 0$$

so that $HS_{M/f_1M}(z) = (1 - z^{d_1})HS_M(z) + HS_K(z)$. Hence, it is clear that $HS_{M/f_1M}(z) \ge (1 - z^{d_1})HS_M(z)$, with equality if and only if $HS_K(z) = 0$. But this is equivalent to saying that K = 0, i.e. f_1 is *M*-regular.

In general, we can use repeatedly the above case to get a chain of inequalities

$$HS_{M/(f_1,\dots,f_s)}(z) \ge (1-z^{d_s})HS_{M/(f_1,\dots,f_{s-1})M} \ge \prod_{i=1}^2 (1-z^{d_{s-i}})HS_{M/(f_1,\dots,f_{s-2})M}(z) \ge \dots \ge \prod_{i=1}^s (1-z^{d_i})HS_M(z)$$

and the equality at the two extremes is equivalent to the equality in all the intermediate steps, and again by the case above, this holds if and only if f is a regular sequence.

Consider again the example of S/(f,g) above: if we stare for a bit at the minimal free resolution we realize that it looks very much like the Koszul complex, and this is no coincidence, as we are going to see now.

Definition 1.2.13 (Koszul complex of a sequence). Let $\mathbf{f} = (f_1, \ldots, f_s)$ be a sequence of homogeneous elements in *S* and let $W = \mathbf{k}f_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathbf{k}f_s$ be the vector space with basis f_1, \ldots, f_s . Then the Koszul complex of \mathbf{f} is the sequence

$$K(\mathbf{f})_{\bullet}: 0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{s} W \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S \longrightarrow \wedge^{s-1} W \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow W \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S \longrightarrow S \longrightarrow 0$$

where the maps are defined by

$$\wedge^{p}W \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S \longrightarrow \wedge^{p-1}W \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S \qquad w_{1} \wedge \cdots \wedge w_{p} \otimes g \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^{p} (-1)^{i+1}w_{1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \widehat{w_{i}} \wedge \cdots \wedge w_{p} \otimes w_{i}g$$

Remark 1.2.7. Of course, we need to change the grading on the various factors $\wedge^p W \otimes_k S$ to get maps of degree zero, but we will not denote this explicitly for reasons of clarity.

Theorem 1.2.4. Let $\mathbf{f} = (f_1, \dots, f_s)$ be a sequence of homogeneous elements in *S*. Then the following are equivalent:

- 1. **f** is a regular sequence.
- 2. The Koszul complex $K(\mathbf{f})_{\bullet}$ is a resolution of $S/\mathbf{f}S$.

Moreover, in this case the Koszul complex is the minimal graded free resolution of S/fS.

Proof. First, we suppose that **f** is regular and we prove that $K_{\bullet}(\mathbf{f})$ is the minimal free resolution. We are going proceed by induction on *s*, the length of the sequence **f**. If s = 0, 1 then the statement is clear. For the inductive step, suppose that s > 1 and consider the subsequence $\mathbf{g} = (g_1, \dots, g_{s-1})$. Then we know by inductive hypothesis that the Koszul complex $K(\mathbf{g})_{\bullet}$ is a free resolution of $S/\mathbf{g}S$. Now, consider the two exact sequences

$$F_{\bullet} \colon K(f_s)_{\bullet} \longrightarrow S/f_s S \longrightarrow 0 \qquad G_{\bullet} \colon K(\mathbf{g}) \longrightarrow S/\mathbf{g} S \longrightarrow 0$$

then if we consider the tensor product of complexes $F_{\bullet} \otimes_S G_{\bullet}$, it is easy to show that it corresponds precisely to the sequence $K(\mathbf{f})_{\bullet} \longrightarrow S/\mathbf{f}S \longrightarrow 0$. By definition, the tensor product $F_{\bullet} \otimes_S G_{\bullet}$ is the complex associated to the first-quadrant double complex

$$E^{p,q} = F_{1-q} \otimes_S G_{s+1-p}$$

but now, taking the upward spectral sequence, it is easy to see that ${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{p,q} = 0$ for all p,q. Indeed, since every free module is flat, it is enough to show that the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow S/\mathbf{g}S \xrightarrow{\cdot f_s} S/\mathbf{g}S \longrightarrow S/\mathbf{g}S \otimes_S S/f_sS \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact, and this is obvious, as f_s is an S/gS-regular element. Thus, the double complex $E^{p,q}$ has no cohomology, that is, the complex $K(\mathbf{f}) \rightarrow S/\mathbf{f}S \rightarrow 0$ is exact. It is also clear from the definition that the Koszul complex is the minimal free resolution of $S/\mathbf{f}S$.

Suppose now that the Koszul complex $K_{\bullet}(\mathbf{f})$ is exact. Observe that the Betti numbers of the Koszul complex depend only on the degrees (d_1, \ldots, d_s) and not on the fact of whether \mathbf{f} is regular or not. In particular, from what we have proved above and Proposition 1.2.7 we see that

$$\sum_{i=0}^{r} (-1)^{i} H_{K_{\bullet}(\mathbf{f})}(z) = \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{r} (1-z^{d_{i}})}{(1-z)^{r+1}}$$

and since $K_{\bullet}(\mathbf{f}) \longrightarrow S/\mathbf{f}S \longrightarrow 0$ is exact by hypothesis, it follows that

$$H_{S/fS}(z) = \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{r} (1 - z^{d_i})}{(1 - z)^{r+1}}$$

so that **f** is a regular sequence by Proposition 1.2.7.

Cohen-Macaulay modules

One other important property of a module that can be read off its Betti table is the Cohen-Macaulay property.

Definition 1.2.14 (Depth). Let *M* be a finitely generated graded *S*-module. The **depth** of *M* is defined as the maximum length of an *M*-regular sequence of homogeneous elements in *S*.

Proposition 1.2.8. *Let* M *be a finitely generated graded* S*-module. Then depth* $M \leq \dim M$ *.*

Proof. See [Eis95].

Definition 1.2.15 (Cohen-Macaulay). Let M be a finitely generated graded *S*-module. We say that M is **Cohen-Macaulay** if depth $M = \dim M$, that is, if there exists an *M*-sequence of length dim M.

Example 1.2.6. Let $X_0, ..., X_r$ be a basis of V. Then it is clear that $(X_0, ..., X_r)$ is a regular sequence in S, and since dim S = r + 1, this shows that S is Cohen-Macaulay.

The depth of a module is linked to its minimal free resolution by the following fundamental formula:

Theorem 1.2.5 (Auslander-Buchsbaum formula). Let M be a finitely generated graded S-module. Then

depth M + projdim M = r + 1

In particular M is Cohen-Macaulay if and only if

projdim
$$M = r + 1 - \dim M$$

Proof. See [Eis95].

1.2.3 Koszul cohomology as a functor

First we observe that Koszul cohomology can be defined as a functor. Indeed, fix a vector space V of finite dimension over \mathbf{k} and consider the category $\mathbf{GrMod}_{S^{\bullet}(V)}$ of finitely generated graded $S^{\bullet}(V)$ -modules (the morphisms in this category are the homogeneous morphisms of degree 0) and the category $Mod_{\mathbf{k}}$ of finite dimensional vector spaces over \mathbf{k} . Then it is clear that for every $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have a functor:

$$K_{p,q}(\cdot, V)$$
: **GrMod**_{S•(V)} \longrightarrow **Mod**_k $M \mapsto K_{p,q}(M, V)$

Indeed, for every morphism $f: M \longrightarrow N$ of graded $S^{\bullet}(V)$ -modules we have an induced morphism of complexes $M \otimes_S K(V) \longrightarrow N \otimes_S K(V)$ and the corresponding morphism in cohomology gives us what we want.

Observe that we can consider also a global functor

$$K_{p,\bullet}(\cdot, V) \colon \mathbf{GrMod}_{S^{\bullet}(V)} \longrightarrow \mathbf{GrMod}_k \qquad M \mapsto K_{p,\bullet}(M, V) = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} K_{p,q}(M, V)$$

and by definition we have $K_{p,\bullet}(\cdot, V) = \operatorname{Tor}_p^{S^{\bullet}(V)}(\cdot, \mathbf{k})(p)$.

The Koszul cohomology functor inherits the long exact sequence of the Tor functor:

Proposition 1.2.9 (Long exact sequence in Koszul cohomology). *Consider a short exact sequence of finitely generated graded S-modules*

 $0 \longrightarrow M' \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow M'' \longrightarrow 0$

then this induces a long exact sequence in Koszul cohomology

$$\ldots \longrightarrow K_{p,q}(M',V) \longrightarrow K_{p,q}(M,V) \longrightarrow K_{p,q}(M'',V) \longrightarrow K_{p-1,q+1}(M',V) \longrightarrow \ldots$$

for every $p,q \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Proof. This follows immediately from the long exact sequence of the Tor functor.

More concretely, since the Koszul complex is made up of free modules, we have a short exact sequence of complexes

$$0 \longrightarrow K_{\bullet}(V) \otimes_{S} M' \longrightarrow K_{\bullet}(V) \otimes_{S} M \longrightarrow K_{\bullet}(V) \otimes_{S} M'' \longrightarrow 0$$

and taking the corresponding long exact sequence in cohomology we get an exact sequence

$$\dots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Tor}_p^S(M',V) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Tor}_p^S(M,V) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Tor}_p^S(M',V) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Tor}_{p+1}^S(M,V) \longrightarrow \dots$$

that in degree p + q yelds the desired exact sequence.

Koszul cohomology behaves well with respect to direct sums:

Lemma 1.2.3. Let M, N be two finitely generated S-modules, with minimal free resolutions F_{\bullet} and G_{\bullet} repectively. Then $F_{\bullet} \oplus G_{\bullet}$ is the minimal free resolution of $M \oplus N$. In particular

$$K_{p,q}(M \oplus N, V) = K_{p,q}(M, V) \oplus K_{p,q}(N, V)$$

Proof. It is clear that $F_{\bullet} \oplus G_{\bullet}$ is the minimal free resolution of $M \oplus N$, and now the statement about Koszul cohomology groups is obvious.

1.3 Geometry

Now we want to explain the concepts of Koszul cohomology in a geometric context. Let *V* be as before a vector space over **k** of dimension r + 1, and let $S = S^{\bullet}(V)$ be its symmetric algebra. Then we denote with $\mathbb{P}(V)$ the projective space of quotients, i.e.

$$\mathbb{P}(V) = \operatorname{Proj} S^{\bullet}(V)$$

Observe that we have a canonical identification

$$H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}(1)) = V$$

that in turn induces identifications

$$H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}(k)) = S^k(V) \qquad \forall k \in \mathbb{Z}$$

so that we can consider

$$S^{\bullet}(V) = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}(k))$$

1.3.1 Minimal free resolutions of coherent sheaves

Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on $\mathbb{P}(V)$. Then we define the graded group

$$R(\mathcal{F}, V) = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(k))$$

and we note that this has a natural structure of an $S^{\bullet}(V)$ -module, thanks to the multiplication maps

$$H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}(k)) \otimes H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(m)) \longrightarrow H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(m+k))$$

Lemma 1.3.1. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on $\mathbb{P}(V)$ such that there are no closed points in $Ass(\mathcal{F})$, then $R(\mathcal{F}, V)$ is a finitely generated graded $S^{\bullet}(V)$ -module. Conversely, if there is a closed point in $Ass(\mathcal{F})$, then $R(\mathcal{F}, V)$ is not finitely generated.

Proof. See [Eis05].

Definition 1.3.1 (Minimal free resolution of a sheaf). Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on $\mathbb{P}(V)$ with no closed points in its support and let $R(\mathcal{F}, V)$ be its associated *S*-module. Then the minimal free resolution of \mathcal{F} is defined as the sheafification of the minimal free resolution of $R(\mathcal{F}, V)$ as an *S*-module.

Definition 1.3.2 (Koszul cohomology of a coherent sheaf). Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on $\mathbb{P}(V)$. Then the Koszul cohomology of \mathcal{F} is defined as

$$K_{p,q}(\mathcal{F},V) \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} K_{p,q}(R(\mathcal{F},V),V)$$

More concretely, it is defined as the cohomology at the middle term of the complex

$$\wedge^{p+1}V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(q-1)) \longrightarrow \wedge^p V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(q)) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p-1}V \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(q+1))$$

Remark 1.3.1. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on $\mathbb{P}(V)$: then the minimal free resolutions of $R(\mathcal{F})$ and \mathcal{F} respectively are given by

$$0 \longrightarrow F_r \longrightarrow F_{r-1} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow F_0 \longrightarrow F \longrightarrow 0$$
$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_r \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_{r-1} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{F} \longrightarrow 0$$

where

$$F_p = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} S(-p-q) \otimes K_{p,q}(\mathcal{F}, V) \qquad \mathcal{F}_p = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{O}(-p-q) \otimes K_{p,q}(\mathcal{F}, V)$$

and in particular we see that $H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}_p(k))$ is precisely the degree *k* part of F_p . By exactness of the minimal free resolution at the level of moduli, we see that the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}_{r}(k)) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}_{r-1}(k)) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}_{0}(k)) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(k)) \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact. Moreover, taking the direct sum of these sequences for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ we recover the minimal free resolution of $R(\mathcal{F})$.

Example 1.3.1. Let *X* be the complete intersection of an irreducible conic and an irreducible cubic in \mathbb{P}^3 . Then the minimal free resolution of \mathcal{O}_X as a sheaf on \mathbb{P}^3 has the form

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{3}}(-5) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{3}}(-2) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{3}}(-2) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{3}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{X} \longrightarrow 0$$

1.3.2 Koszul cohomology of projective varieties

Let *X* be a projective variety, *L* a line bundle on *X* and $V \subseteq H^0(X, L)$ a subspace. Then we can consider the graded ring $S = S(X, L, V) = S^{\bullet}(V)$ and for every coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} on *X* we have the graded $S^{\bullet}(V)$ -module

$$R(\mathcal{F},L) = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} H^0(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{\otimes k})$$

Definition 1.3.3 (Koszul cohomology of a projective variety). Let notations be a s before. Then we define the Koszul cohomology of \mathcal{F} with respect to V as

$$K_{p,q}(X,L,V;\mathcal{F}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} K_{p,q}(R(\mathcal{F},L),S^{\bullet}(V))$$

In particular, if $V = H^0(X, L)$ we use the notation $K_{p,q}(X, L; \mathcal{F}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} K_{p,q}(X, L, V; \mathcal{F})$ whereas, if $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{O}_X$ we use the notation $K_{p,q}(X, L, V) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} K_{p,q}(X, L, V; \mathcal{O}_X)$.

Remark 1.3.2. More concretely, the Koszul cohomology $K_{p,q}(X, L, V; \mathcal{F})$ is the cohomology at the middle term of the complex

$$\wedge^{p+1}V \otimes H^0(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{\otimes (q-1)}) \longrightarrow \wedge^p V \otimes H^0(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{\otimes q}) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p-1}V \otimes H^0(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{\otimes (q+1)})$$

Remark 1.3.3. If $X = \mathbb{P}(V)$ and $L = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(1)$ then the Koszul cohomology $K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(1); \mathcal{F})$ corresponds to the Koszul cohomology $K_{p,q}(\mathcal{F}, V)$ that we have defined before.

Remark 1.3.4. Let X be a projective variety and suppose that L is a very ample line bundle that defines a closed embedding $\phi_L \colon X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}(H^0(X, L))$. Then for every coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} we see that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L;\mathcal{F}) = K_{p,q}(\phi_{L_*}\mathcal{F},V)$$

Chapter 2

Techniques of Koszul cohomology

In this chapter we are going to present some properties of Koszul cohomology and some examples of Betti tables.

2.1 Syzygy bundles

Let *X* be a projective variety over \mathbf{k} and let *L* be a line bundle on it. Suppose that *L* is globally generated: then it defines a morphism

$$\phi_L \colon X \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}(H^0(X,L))$$

On the projective space $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}(H^0(X, L))$ we have the Euler sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega_{\mathbb{P}}(1) \longrightarrow H^0(X, L) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1) \longrightarrow 0$$

and pulling back this sequence on X via ϕ_L we obtain the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_L \longrightarrow H^0(X, L) \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \xrightarrow{ev} L \longrightarrow 0$$

where $ev: H^0(X, L) \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow L$ is the evaluation map and $M_L \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \phi_L^*(\Omega_{\mathbb{P}(H^0(X,L))}(1))$ is a vector bundle of rank $h^0(X, L) - 1$.

Definition 2.1.1 (Syzygy bundle). Let *X* be a projective variety and *L* a globally generated line bundle over *X*. Then, in the above notation, M_L is called the **syzygy bundle** on *X* relative to *L*.

The syzygy bundle is strictly related to the Koszul cohomology of *X* and *L*: indeed, from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_L \longrightarrow H^0(X,L) \otimes \longrightarrow L \longrightarrow 0$$

for every $p \ge 1$ we have exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{p} M_{L} \longrightarrow \wedge^{p} H^{0}(X,L) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X} \longrightarrow \wedge^{p-1} M_{L} \otimes L \longrightarrow 0$$

and twisting this sequence by $L^q \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L^{\otimes q}$ gives the exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{p} M_{L} \otimes L^{q} \longrightarrow \wedge^{p} H^{0}(X,L) \otimes L^{q} \longrightarrow \wedge^{p-1} M_{L} \otimes L^{q+1} \longrightarrow 0$$

so that, taking cohomology, we have the long exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(X, \wedge^p M_L \otimes L^q) \longrightarrow \wedge^p H^0(X, L) \otimes H^0(X, L^q) \longrightarrow H^0(X, \wedge^{p-1} M_L \otimes L^{q+1}) \longrightarrow \dots$$

Now, consider the commutative diagram:

Where the diagonal maps are the differentials in the Koszul complex and the row is exact. Then we have:

Proposition 2.1.1. *Suppose that L is a globally generated line bundle on X. Then there are canonical isomorphisms*

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) \cong Coker (\wedge^{p+1}H^0(X,L) \otimes H^0(X,L^{q-1}) \longrightarrow H^0(X,\wedge^p M_L \otimes L^q))$$
$$\cong Ker (H^1(X,\wedge^{p+1}M_L \otimes L^{q-1}) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1}H^0(X,L) \otimes H^1(X,L^{q-1}))$$

Proof. For the first isomorphism, consider the above commutative diagram: as the map

$$H^0(X, \wedge^{p-1}M_L \otimes L^{q+1}) \hookrightarrow \wedge^{p-1}H^0(X, L) \otimes H^0(X, L^{q+1})$$

is injective, we see that

$$Ker(d_{p,q}) = Ker(\wedge^p H^0(X,L) \otimes H^0(X,L^q) \longrightarrow H^0(X,\wedge^{p-1}M_L \otimes L^{q+1})) = H^0(X,\wedge^p M_L \otimes L^q)$$

and then it is clear how to conclude.

For the second isomorphism, consider the exact sequence in cohomology given by

$$\wedge^{p+1} H^0(X,L) \otimes H^0(X,L^{q-1}) \longrightarrow H^0(X,\wedge^p M_L \otimes L^q) \longrightarrow H^1(X,\wedge^{p+1} M_L \otimes L^{q-1}) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1} H^0(X,L) \otimes H^1(X,L^q)$$

Corollary 2.1.1. Suppose that *L* is a globally generated line bundle on *X* and suppose that for a certain h > 0 we have

$$H^{i}(X, L^{q-i}) = 0$$
 for all $i = 1, ..., h$
 $H^{i}(X, L^{q-1-i}) = 0$ for all $i = 1, ..., h - 1$

Then

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) \cong H^h(X, \wedge^{p+h}M_L \otimes L^{q-h})$$

Proof. The proof is by induction on h, starting from h = 1: we know from the Proposition 2.1.1 that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) = \operatorname{Ker} \left(H^1(X,\wedge^{p+1}M_L \otimes L^{q-1}) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1}H^0(X,L) \otimes H^1(X,L^{q-1}) \right)$$

so that, if $H^1(X, L^{q-1}) = 0$, then it is obvious that $K_{p,q}(X, L) = H^1(X, \wedge^{p+1}M_L \otimes L^{q-1})$.

Now, suppose that the thesis has been proved for h - 1. Then by inductive hypothesis we know that $K_{p,q}(X,L) \cong H^{h-1}(X, \wedge^{p+h-1}M_L \otimes L^{q-h+1})$, and using the long exact sequence in cohomology associated to the short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+h} M_L \otimes L^{q-h} \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+h} H^0(X,L) \otimes L^{q-h} \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+h-1} M_L \otimes L^{q-h+1} \longrightarrow 0$$

it is easy to see that we have

$$H^{h-1}(X,\wedge^{p+h-1}M_L\otimes L^{q-h+1})\cong H^h(X,\wedge^{p+h}M_L\otimes L^{q-h})$$

Г				1	
L	_	_	_		

Corollary 2.1.2. *Suppose that L is a globally generated line bundle on X such that* $\dim_{\mathbf{k}} H^0(X, L) = r + 1$ *, and suppose that for a certain* $p \ge 0$ *it holds that*

$$H^{i}(X, L^{q-i}) = 0$$
 for all $i = 1, ..., r - p + 1$
 $H^{i}(X, L^{q-1-i}) = 0$ for all $i = 1, ..., r - p$

then $K_{p,q}(X, L) = 0.$

Proof. From Corollary 2.1.1, we know that in these hypotheses

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) = H^{r-p+1}(X, \wedge^{r+1}M_L \otimes L^{q-h})$$

but $\wedge^{r+1}M_L = 0$ since M_L is a vector bundle of rank r.

Corollary 2.1.3. Suppose that L is a globally generated line bundle on X such that

$$H^0(X, L^q) = 0$$
 for all $q < 0$

then

$$K_{p,0}(X,L) = H^0(X, \wedge^p M_L)$$
 and $K_{p,q}(X,L) = 0$ for all $q < 0$

Proof. We know from Proposition 2.1.1 that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) = \operatorname{Coker} \left(\wedge^{p+1} H^0(X,L) \otimes H^0(X,L^{q-1}) \longrightarrow H^0(X,\wedge^p M_L \otimes L^q) \right)$$

and in our hypotheses $H^0(X, L^{q-1}) = 0$ for all $q \le 0$, so that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) = H^0(X, \wedge^p M_L \otimes L^q)$$
 for all $q \le 0$

Now, since we have an inclusion $H^0(X, \wedge^p M_L \otimes L^q) \subseteq \wedge^p H^0(X, L) \otimes H^0(X, L^q)$, it is clear that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) = 0$$
 for all $q < 0$

Example 2.1.1 (Veronese embeddings). Let *V* be a vector space of dimension r + 1 over **k** and let $\mathbb{P}(V)$ be the projective space of quotients. Consider the line bundle $L = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(d)$ for a certain positive d > 0 and let $M_d = M_L$ be the corresponding syzygy bundle: then it is easy to see from the Corollary 2.1.1 that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) = H^q(\mathbb{P}(V), \wedge^{p+q}M_d)$$

Indeed, if q < r we know that line bundles on projective spaces do not have any intermediate cohomology, that is $H^i(X, L^s) = 0$ for every $s \in \mathbb{Z}$ and every i = 1, ..., r - 1. Then we only need to check the case $q \ge r$, but this reduces to the condition $H^r(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}) = 0$, that is clearly true. In particular, we see that $K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(d)) = 0$ if q > r.

Remark 2.1.1. The above results can be generalized as follows: let *L* be a globally generated line bundle on a projective variety *X* and let $V \subseteq H^0(X, L)$ be a subspace that generates *L*. Then we have an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_V \longrightarrow V \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow L \longrightarrow 0$$

where M_V is a vector bundle, called the syzygy bundle of *V*. Now we can rephrase our previous results as follows:

Proposition 2.1.2. Suppose that X is a projective variety and that L is a line bundle generated by a subspace $V \subseteq H^0(X, L)$. Then, for every \mathcal{F} coherent sheaf on X we have that

$$\begin{split} K_{p,q}(X,L,V;\mathcal{F}) &\cong Coker \; (\wedge^{p+1}V \otimes H^0(X,\mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1}) \longrightarrow H^0(X,\mathcal{F} \otimes \wedge^p M_V \otimes L^q)) \\ &\cong Ker \; (H^1(X,\mathcal{F} \otimes \wedge^{p+1}M_V \otimes L^{q-1}) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1}V \otimes H^0(X,\mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1})) \end{split}$$

Proof. The proof is analogous to that of Proposition 2.1.1.

Corollary 2.1.4. Let X be a projective variety, L a line bundle on X generated by a subspace $V \subseteq H^0(X, L)$ and \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on X such that for a certain h > 0 we have the vanishings

$$\begin{aligned} H^{i}(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-i}) &= 0 & \text{ for all } i = 1, \dots, h \\ H^{i}(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1-i}) &= 0 & \text{ for all } i = 1, \dots, h-1 \end{aligned}$$

then

$$K_{p,q}(X,L,V;\mathcal{F})\cong H^h(X,\mathcal{F}\otimes\wedge^{p+h}M_L\otimes L^{q-h})$$

Proof. The proof is analogous to that of Corollary 2.1.1.

In particular, this result tells us that we can recover the cohomology of a sheaf from its Koszul cohomology wih respect to an appropriate line bundle.

Proposition 2.1.3. Let X be a connected projective variety, L a line bundle on X generated by a linear subspace $V \subseteq H^0(X, L)$ of dimension dim V = r + 1 and \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on X. Suppose that for a certain q > 0 we have

$$\begin{aligned} H^{i}(X,\mathcal{F}\otimes L^{q-i}) &= 0 & \text{for all } i = 1, \dots, q-1 \\ H^{i}(X,\mathcal{F}\otimes L^{q+1-i}) &= 0 & \text{for all } i = 1, \dots, q \end{aligned}$$

then

$$H^q(X, \mathcal{F}) \cong K_{r-q,q+1}(X, L, V; \mathcal{F})$$

Proof. In these hypotheses, Corollary 2.1.4 tells us that

$$K_{r-q,q+1}(X,L,V;\mathcal{F}) \cong H^q(X,\mathcal{F}\otimes\wedge^r M_V\otimes L)$$

but from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_V \longrightarrow V \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow L \longrightarrow 0$$

we see that $\wedge^r M_V = \det M_V \cong L^{-1}$ and this yields the thesis.

Remark 2.1.2. In the hypotheses of Proposition 2.1.3, we see that the Koszul cohomology spaces $K_{r-q,q+1}(X, L, V; \mathcal{F})$ do not depend on *V*.

Corollary 2.1.5. *Let* X *be a projective variety,* L *a line bundle on* X *generated by a subspace* $V \subseteq H^0(X, L)$ *of dimension* dim V = r + 1. *Suppose that* \mathcal{F} *is a coherent sheaf on* X *such that*

$$\begin{aligned} H^{i}(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-i}) &= 0 \quad \text{for all } i = 1, \dots, r-p+1 \\ H^{i}(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1-i}) &= 0 \quad \text{for all } i = 1, \dots, r-p \end{aligned}$$

then $K_{p,q}(X, L, V; \mathcal{F}) = 0.$

Proof. The proof is analogous to that of Corollary 2.1.2.

.

Corollary 2.1.6. Let X be a projective variety, L a line bundle on X generated by a subspace $V \subseteq H^0(X, L)$ and \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on X such that $H^0(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^q) = 0$ for each q < 0. Then

$$K_{p,0}(X,L,V;\mathcal{F}) = H^0(X,\mathcal{F}\otimes\wedge^p M_L), \qquad K_{p,q}(X,L,V;\mathcal{F}) = 0 \qquad for all q < 0$$

Proof. The proof is analogous to that of Corollary 2.1.3.

2.2 Lefschetz theorem

We want to study what happens to Koszul cohomology upon taking hyperplane sections. Take a vector space *V* of dimension dim V = r + 1 and let $S^{\bullet}(V)$ be its symmetric algebra, with the standard grading. Take an homogeneous element of degree one $\ell \in V$: we denote by $\langle \ell \rangle$ the vector space in *V* spanned by ℓ . Notice that $S^{\bullet}(V / \langle \ell \rangle) = S^{\bullet}(V) / (\ell)$.

Lemma 2.2.1. Let M be a finitely generated graded $S^{\bullet}(V)$ -module such that ℓ is M-regular. Then

$$K_{p,q}(M,V) \cong K_{p,q}(M/\ell M, V/\ell)$$
 for all p,q

Proof. Since ℓ is an *M*-regular element, we have an exact sequence of graded $S^{\bullet}(V)$ -modules

$$0 \longrightarrow M(-1) \stackrel{\cdot \ell}{\longrightarrow} M \longrightarrow M/\ell M \longrightarrow 0$$

that induces by Proposition 1.2.3 a long exact sequence in Koszul cohomology

$$\dots \longrightarrow K_{p,q-1}(M,V) \xrightarrow{\cdot \ell} K_{p,q}(M,V) \longrightarrow K_{p,q}(M/\ell M,V) \longrightarrow K_{p-1,q}(M,V) \xrightarrow{\cdot \ell} \dots$$

We need to study the map $K_{p,q-1}(M, V) \xrightarrow{\cdot \ell} K_{p,q}(M, V)$: observe that the multiplication map $\cdot \ell \colon M(-1) \longrightarrow M$ factors as

$$M(-1) \cong \langle \ell \rangle \otimes M(-1) \longrightarrow V \otimes M(-1) \stackrel{d}{\longrightarrow} M$$

where the last map *d* is the differential in the Koszul complex. Now, it is obvious that the differential *d* induces the zero map in Koszul cohomology, so that the map $K_{p,q-1}(M, V) \xrightarrow{\cdot \ell} K_{p,q}(M, V)$ is zero as well. This shows that for every *p*, *q* we have exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow K_{p,q}(M,V) \longrightarrow K_{p,q}(M/\ell M,V) \longrightarrow K_{p-1,q}(M,V) \longrightarrow 0$$
(2.1)

Now, by definition $K_{p,q}(M/\ell M, V)$ is the cohomology at the middle term of

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1} V \otimes (M/\ell M)_{q-1} \longrightarrow \wedge^{p} V \otimes (M/\ell M)_{q} \longrightarrow \wedge^{p-1} V \otimes (M/\ell M)_{q+1}$$

but thanks to the splitting $V = \langle \ell \rangle \oplus V / \langle \ell \rangle$ we see that we have

$$K_{p,q}(M/\ell M, V) = K_{p,q}(M/\ell M, V/\langle \ell \rangle) \oplus [\langle \ell \rangle \otimes K_{p-1,q}(M/\ell M, V/\langle \ell \rangle)]$$

Putting this in the exact sequence 2.1, we can prove by induction on p (the case p = 0 being obvious) that $K_{p,q}(M, V) = K_{p,q}(M/\ell M, V/\langle \ell \rangle)$.

Remark 2.2.1. Either with the same ideas of the above proof or by applying repeatedly the above result, one can show that if $\ell = (\ell_1, ..., \ell_s)$ is an *M*-regular sequence of homogeneous elements $\ell_i \in V$ of degree 1, then $K_{p,q}(M, V) \cong K_{p,q}(M/\ell M, V/\ell V)$ for each p, q.

Theorem 2.2.1 (Lefschetz theorem for Koszul cohomology). Let *X* be an irreducible projective variety, *L* a line bundle on *X* and $Y \in |L|$ a connected divisor. If $H^1(X, L^q) = 0$ for all $q \ge 0$, then

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) \cong K_{p,q}(Y,L_{|Y})$$
 for all p,q

Proof. First we observe that in these hypotheses we have $H^0(X, L^q) = H^0(Y, L^q_{|Y}) = 0$ for all q < 0. Now, let $\sigma \in H^0(X, L)$ be a global section such that $Y = \operatorname{div}(\sigma)$ and take the exact sequence relative to the divisor Y:

$$0 \longrightarrow L^{-1} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_Y \longrightarrow 0$$

tensoring this sequence by *L* we find the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X \xrightarrow{\cdot \sigma} L \longrightarrow L_{|Y} \longrightarrow 0$$

and since $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = 0$ we have the exact sequence in cohomology

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathbf{k} \stackrel{\cdot \sigma}{\longrightarrow} H^0(X, L) \longrightarrow H^0(Y, L_{|Y}) \longrightarrow 0$$

and this shows that $H^0(Y, L_{|Y}) \cong H^0(X, L) / \langle \sigma \rangle$.

In the same way, we see that for every q > 0 we have the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(X, L^{q-1}) \xrightarrow{\cdot \sigma} H^0(X, L^q) \longrightarrow H^0(Y, L^q_{|Y}) \longrightarrow 0$$

and adding all of these we find the exact sequence of graded $S^{\bullet}(H^0(X,L))$ -modules

$$0 \longrightarrow R(X,L)(-1) \xrightarrow{\cdot \sigma} R(X,L) \longrightarrow R(Y,L_{|Y}) \longrightarrow 0$$

This means precisely that σ is an R(X, L)-regular element, so that we conclude invoking Lemma 2.2.1.

2.3 Duality

We now discuss briefly duality in Koszul cohomology: first we need a technical lemma.

Lemma 2.3.1. Let X be a projective variety over k. Let

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_1 \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_s \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_{s+1} \longrightarrow 0$$

be an exact sequence of sheaves on X such that

$$H^{s-i}(X, \mathcal{F}_i) = H^{s-i}(X, \mathcal{F}_{i+1}) = 0$$
 for all $i = 1, ..., s-1$

then

$$Ker (H^{s}(X, \mathcal{F}_{0}) \longrightarrow H^{s}(X, \mathcal{F}_{1})) \cong Coker (H^{0}(X, \mathcal{F}_{s}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(X, \mathcal{F}_{s+1}))$$

Proof. Let \mathcal{U} be a finite affine open cover of X, and consider the first-quadrant double complex

$$E^{p,q} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} C^q(X, \mathcal{F}_p, \mathcal{U})$$

where the horizontal maps are induced by the exact sequence and the vertical map are the maps of the Cech complex. Since the rows of the complex are exact, the cohomology of the double complex is zero. Now, considering the spectral sequence starting with the vertical maps we get that

$${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{p,q} = H^q(X, \mathcal{F}_p)$$

and now using the hypothesis it is easy to conclude.

Another way to prove this proposition is by splitting the long exact sequence into short exact sequences. $\hfill \Box$

The following result is due to Green [Gre84a].

Theorem 2.3.1 (Duality Theorem). Let X be smooth projective variety of dimension dim X = n and let L be a globally generated line bundle on X. Set $r = h^0(X, L) - 1$. If

$$H^{i}(X, L^{q-i}) = H^{i}(X, L^{q+1-i}) = 0$$
 for all $i = 1, ..., n-1$

then it follows that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) \cong K_{r-n-p,n+1-q}(X,L;K_X)^{\vee}$$

Proof. Set $V = H^0(X, L)$. Then we know from Proposition 2.1.1 that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) \cong \operatorname{Coker} (\wedge^{p+1}V \otimes H^0(X,L^{q-1}) \longrightarrow H^0(X,\wedge^p M_L \otimes L^q))$$

so that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L)^{\vee} \cong \operatorname{Ker} \left(H^0(X, \wedge^p M_L \otimes L^q)^{\vee} \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1} V^{\vee} \otimes H^0(X, L^{q-1})^{\vee} \right)$$

and using Serre's duality we see that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L)^{\vee} \cong \operatorname{Ker} \left(H^{n}(X, K_{X} \otimes \wedge^{p} M_{L}^{\vee} \otimes L^{-q}) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1} V^{\vee} \otimes H^{n}(X, K_{X} \otimes L^{1-q}) \right)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Ker} \left(H^{n}(X, K_{X} \otimes \wedge^{r-p} M_{L} \otimes L^{1-q}) \longrightarrow \wedge^{r-p} V \otimes H^{n}(X, K_{X} \otimes L^{1-q}) \right)$$

where for the second isomorphism we have used the fact that det $M_L \cong L^{-1}$ and det $V \cong \mathbf{k}$.

From the exact sequence

 $0 \longrightarrow M_L \longrightarrow V \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow L \longrightarrow 0$

we get (taking wedge powers and gluing) the exact sequence

 $0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{r-p} V \otimes K_X \otimes L^{1-q} \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow \wedge^{r-p-n+1} V \otimes K_X \otimes L^{n-q} \longrightarrow \wedge^{r-p-n} M_L \otimes K_X \otimes L^{n+1-q} \longrightarrow 0$

Now it is enough to use Serre duality to show that the hypotheses of the Lemma 2.3.1 hold, so that we get

$$\operatorname{Ker} \left(H^{n}(X, K_{X} \otimes \wedge^{r-p} M_{L} \otimes L^{1-q}) \longrightarrow \wedge^{r-p} V \otimes H^{n}(X, K_{X} \otimes L^{1-q}) \right) \cong$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Coker} \left(\wedge^{n-p-n+1} V \otimes H^{0}(X, K_{X} \otimes L^{n-q}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\wedge^{r-n-p} M_{L} \otimes K_{X} \otimes L) \right)$$

and from this we can conclude thanks to Proposition 2.1.1.

Remark 2.3.1. Notice that the conditions of the theorem are automatically satisfied if *X* is a smooth curve or if $X = \mathbb{P}(W)$ is a projective space. Indeed, in both cases the intermediate cohomology of any line bundle is zero.

Remark 2.3.2. In the previous Theorem, suppose that $X = \mathbb{P}(W)$. Then the proof of the theorem gives an isomorphism of SL(W)-representations

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) \cong K_{r-n-p,n+1-q}(X,L;K_X)^{\vee}$$

and not merely of vector spaces. Indeed, it is enough to note that the isomorphisms det $V = \mathbf{k}$ and det $M_L = L^{-1}$ hold as SL(W)-isomorphisms, and this follows from the fact that for every finite-dimensional vector space U, we have

$$\det U \cong \mathbf{k}$$

as SL(U)-representation, where **k** is the trivial representation (notice that this does not hold for GL(U)).

Remark 2.3.3. With a similar argument, one can prove the following more general result: let *X* be a smooth projective variety of dimension *n*, *L* a line bundle on *X*, $V \subseteq H^0(X, L)$ a base-point-free subspace of dimension r + 1 and *E* a vector bundle on *X* such that

$$H^i(X, E \otimes L^{q-i}) = H^i(X, E \otimes L^{q-i-1}) = 0$$
 for all $i = 1, \dots, n-1$

then we have an isomorphism

$$K_{p,q}(X,L,V;E)^{\vee} \cong K_{r-n-p,n+1-q}(X,L,V;K_X \otimes E^{\vee})$$

2.4 Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity

Koszul cohomology is deeply connected with Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity, which is a numerical measure of the cohomological complexity of a coherent sheaf.

Definition 2.4.1 (Regularity on projective spaces). Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on a projective space $\mathbb{P}(V)$ and let $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ be an integer. We say that \mathcal{F} is *m*-regular if

$$H^{i}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(m-i)) = 0$$
 for all $i > 0$

Remark 2.4.1. It is clear that \mathcal{F} is *m*-regular if and only if $\mathcal{F}(m)$ is 0-regular.

Theorem 2.4.1 (Mumford's theorem on regularity - I). Let \mathcal{F} be a *m*-regular coherent sheaf on a projective space $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}(V)$, then for every $h \ge 0$ one has that

- 1. \mathcal{F} is (m+h)-regular.
- 2. $\mathcal{F}(m+h)$ is generated by global sections.
- 3. The multiplication map $H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(h)) \otimes H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(m)) \longrightarrow H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(m+h))$ is surjective.

Proof. Substituting \mathcal{F} with $\mathcal{F}(m)$ we can suppose that m = 0.

First, suppose that we have already proved (1) and (3). Then to prove (2) it is sufficient to consider the case h = 0: we know that $\mathcal{F}(H)$ is globally generated for a certain H > 0, so that the map $H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(H)) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}(H)$ is surjective. Now, using (3) we find that the morphism $H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}) \otimes H^0(P(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(H)) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}(H)$ is surjective, but this factors through

$$H^0(\mathbb{P}(V),\mathcal{F})\otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(H)\longrightarrow \mathcal{F}(H)$$

and tensoring this sequence with $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-H)$ shows that \mathcal{F} is generated by global sections.

Now, to prove (1) and (3) we proceed by induction on *h*, starting with h = 1 (for h = 0 there is nothing to prove): set dim V = r + 1 and consider the Koszul complex on $\mathbb{P}(V)$ given by

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{r+1} V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-r-1) \longrightarrow \wedge^{r} V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-r) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \longrightarrow 0$$

this is exact, since it is the sheafification of the augmented Koszul complex

$$K_{\bullet}(V) \longrightarrow \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow 0$$

of $S^{\bullet}(V)$ -modules (notice that the sheafification of **k** is 0).

Now, for every $i \ge 0$, tensoring the above complex by $\mathcal{F}(1-i)$ we get an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{r+1} V \otimes \mathcal{F}(-r-i) \longrightarrow \wedge^{r} V \otimes \mathcal{F}(-r+1-i) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow V \otimes \mathcal{F}(-i) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}(1-i) \longrightarrow 0$$

Now, fix a finite open affine cover \mathcal{U} of $\mathbb{P}(V)$ and consider the first-quadrant double complex

$$E^{p,q} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} C^q(\wedge^{r+1-p}V \otimes \mathcal{F}(-r-i+p),\mathcal{U})$$

where the horizontal maps are induced by the exact sequence above and the vertical maps are the differentials in the Cech complex. Since that the rows of this complex are exact, the spectral sequence that starts with the vertical differentials abuts to zero.

At the first step of this spectral sequence we find ${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{p,q} = \wedge^{r+1-p}V \otimes H^q(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(-r-i+p))$ and by hypothesis we have that ${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{p,r+i-p} = 0$ for all p < r+i.

Now, taking i = 0, this implies that ${}_{\uparrow}E_2^{0,r+1} = {}_{\uparrow}E_{\infty}^{0,r+1} = 0$ but by definition we see that

$${}_{\uparrow}E_2^{0,r+1} = \operatorname{Coker} \left(V \otimes H^0(\mathbb{P}(V),\mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^0(\mathbb{P}(V),\mathcal{F}(1)) \right)$$

and this proves point (3).

Instead, taking i > 0 we see that this implies ${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{r+1,i} = {}_{\uparrow}E_{\infty}^{r+1,i} = 0$, that is $H^i(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(1-i)) = 0$, and this proves point (1).

For the inductive step, take h > 1 and suppose that the thesis is true for every $0 \le s < h$. Then \mathcal{F} is h – 1-regular, that is $\mathcal{F}(h-1)$ is 0-regular, and by what we have proved before we know that $\mathcal{F}(h-1)$ is 1-regular, that is \mathcal{F} is h-regular.

For the surjectivity of the multiplication map, observe that by inductive hypothesis we know that the map

$$H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(h-1)) \otimes H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(h-1))$$

is surjective, so that the tensored map

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1)) \otimes H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(h-1)) \otimes H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1)) \otimes H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(h))$$

is surjective as well. Now, we know that $\mathcal{F}(h)$ is 0-regular by inductive hypothesis, and from what we have proved before it follows that the map $H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1)) \otimes H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(h)) \longrightarrow H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(h+1))$ is surjective. To conclude it is enough to observe that the resulting surjective map

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1)) \otimes H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(h-1)) \otimes H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(h))$$

factors through

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1)) \otimes H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(h-1)) \otimes H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(h)) \otimes H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(h))$$

so that the last map is surjective.

Thanks to this theorem, we can give a meaningful definition of the regularity of a sheaf:

Definition 2.4.2 (Castelnuovo-Mumford's regularity). Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on a projective space $\mathbb{P}(V)$. Then we define the **Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity** of \mathcal{F} as

$$\operatorname{reg}(\mathcal{F}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \min \left\{ m \in \mathbb{Z} \mid \mathcal{F} \text{ is } m \operatorname{-regular } \right\}$$

Example 2.4.1. Let *V* be a vector space over **k** of dimension r + 1 and let $d \ge 1$ be a positive integer. We want to compute the regularity of the line bundle $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d)$: we need to find the smallest $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$H^i(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d+m-i)) = 0$$
 for all $i > 0$

and since line bundles on projective spaces do not have any intermediate cohomology, this is equivalent to

$$H^{r}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d+m-r)) = H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-d-m-1))^{\vee} = 0$$

and now it is easy to see that reg $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d) = -d$.

Example 2.4.2. Let *V* be as before. We want to study the Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity of the syzygy bundle corresponding to $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d)$, that is, the vector bundle M_d defined by the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_d \longrightarrow S^d V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d) \longrightarrow 0$$

First, we note that M_d is not 0-regular: indeed, tensoring the above exact sequence by $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1)$ and taking the induced exact sequence in cohomology we get an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow S^{d-1}V \longrightarrow H^1(\mathbb{P}(V), M_d(-1)) \longrightarrow S^dV \otimes H^1(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1))$$

Now we observe that $H^1(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1))$ is always zero: this is clear if r > 1, as line bundles on projective space do not have any intermediate cohomology, and for r = 1 we see that $H^1(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1)) = H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1))^{\vee} = 0$. Hence, this gives $H^1(\mathbb{P}(V), M_d(-1)) \cong S^{d-1}V$ and this is always different from zero. Let's check whether M_d is 1-regular: for every i > 0 we have the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_d(1-i) \longrightarrow S^d V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1-i) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d+1-i) \longrightarrow 0$$

that induces the exact sequence in cohomology

$$H^{i-1}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d+1-i)) \longrightarrow H^{i}(\mathbb{P}(V), M_{d}(1-i)) \longrightarrow S^{d}V \otimes H^{i}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1-i)) \longrightarrow 0$$

and now it is easy to check that $H^{i-1}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d+1-i)) = H^i(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1-i)) = 0$ so that $H^i(\mathbb{P}(V), M_d(1-i)) = 0$ as well. This shows that reg $M_d = 1$.

The definition of regularity and the above theorem can be generalized as follows:

Definition 2.4.3 (Regularity w.r.t. an ample line bundle). Let *X* be a projective variety, *L* an ample globally generated line bundle on *X* and \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on *X*. For every fixed integer $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ we say that \mathcal{F} is *m*-regular with respect to *L* if

$$H^i(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{m-i}) = 0$$
 for all $i > 0$

Remark 2.4.2. Take $X = \mathbb{P}(V)$ and let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on $\mathbb{P}(V)$. Then saying that \mathcal{F} is *m*-regular means precisely that \mathcal{F} is *m*-regular w.r.t the line bundle $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(1)$.

In order to generalize the above result we need a small lemma:

Lemma 2.4.1. Let X be a projective variety of finite type over \mathbf{k} , L a globally generated line bundle on X and $\phi_L \colon X \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}(H^0(X, L))$ the morphism associated to the complete linear system of L. Then L is ample if and only if ϕ_L is finite.

Proof. Recall that if $f: X \longrightarrow Y$ is a finite morphism of projective varieties and if M is an ample line bundle on Y, then f^*M is an ample line bundle on X (see for example [Har77]). In particular, if ϕ_L is finite, it is clear that L is ample, since $L = \phi_L^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1)$.

Conversely, suppose that ϕ_L is not finite, then there must be a closed subscheme $Z \subseteq X$ of positive dimension that is contracted to a point by ϕ_L (since a projective morphism is finite if and only if it has finite fibers). But then the line bundle $L_{|Z}$ is trivial, and since the closed embedding $Z \subseteq X$ is finite, we see that L cannot be ample.

Remark 2.4.3. Let *X* be a projective variety, *L* an ample globally generated line bundle on *X* and \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on *X*. Then \mathcal{F} is *m*-regular w.r.t. *L* if and only if $\phi_{L_*}\mathcal{F}$ is *m*-regular on $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}(H^0(X, L))$.

Indeed, since the map $\phi_L \colon X \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}$ is finite, hence affine, we see that

$$H^{i}(\mathbb{P}, \phi_{L_{*}}\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(m-i)) = H^{i}(\mathbb{P}, \phi_{L_{*}}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \phi_{L}^{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(m-i))) = H^{i}(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{m-i})$$

Theorem 2.4.2 (Mumford's theorem on regularity - II). Let X be a projective variety, L an ample globally generated line bundle on X and \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on X. Suppose that \mathcal{F} is m-regular w.r.t. L. Then for every $h \ge 0$ one has that

- 1. \mathcal{F} is (m+h)-regular w.r.t. L.
- 2. $\mathcal{F} \otimes L^{m+h}$ is generated by global sections.
- 3. The multiplication map $H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), L^h) \otimes H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F} \otimes L^m) \longrightarrow H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{m+h})$ is surjective.

Proof. It is enough to apply the above remark and Theorem 2.4.1 to the sheaf $\phi_{L_*}\mathcal{F}$ on $\mathbb{P}(H^0(X, L))$.

Definition 2.4.4. Let *X* be a projective variety, *L* an ample globally generated line bundle on *X* and \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on *X*. We define the **Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity** of \mathcal{F} w.r.t *L* as

$$\operatorname{reg}_{L}(\mathcal{F}) = \min \{ m \mid \mathcal{F} \text{ is } m - \operatorname{regular w.r.t. } L \}$$
Now, the proof of Theorem 2.4.1 shows that the regularity of a sheaf is strongly linked to the Koszul complex. In fact, the regularity can be read off directly from the Koszul cohomology of \mathcal{F} .

Theorem 2.4.3. Let X be a projective variety, L an ample globally generated line bundle on X and \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on X. Suppose that \mathcal{F} is (m + 1)-regular w.r.t. L, then it is m-regular w.r.t. L if and only if $K_{p,m+1}(X,L;\mathcal{F}) = 0$ for all p. In particular

$$reg_{L}(\mathcal{F}) = \max \{ m \mid K_{p,m}(X, L; \mathcal{F}) \neq 0 \text{ for a certain } p \}$$

Proof. Suppose first that \mathcal{F} is *m*-regular w.r.t *L*. Then $K_{p,m+1}(X,L;\mathcal{F}) = 0$ for all *p* thanks to Corollary 2.1.5.

Conversely, suppose that \mathcal{F} is (m + 1)-regular w.r.t L and that $K_{p,m+1}(X, L; \mathcal{F}) = 0$ for all p. Then observe that, thanks to what we have already proved and Theorem 2.4.2, we have $K_{p,q}(X, L; \mathcal{F}) = 0$ for all $q \ge m + 1$.

Now, set $V = H^0(X, L)$, then we know that we have an exact sequence of sheaves on $\mathbb{P}(V)$

 $0 \longrightarrow L_{r+1} \longrightarrow L_r \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow L_0 \longrightarrow L_{-1} \longrightarrow 0$

where

$$L_p = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(-p-q) \otimes K_{p,q}(X,L;\mathcal{F}) \quad \text{for all } p \ge 0, \quad L_{-1} = \phi_{L_*}\mathcal{F}$$

and $r + 1 = \dim V$. Now, for every i > 0 we tensor this sequence by $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(m - i)$ so that we get the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow L_{r+1}(m-i) \longrightarrow L_r(m-i) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow L_0(m-i) \longrightarrow L_{-1}(m-i) \longrightarrow 0$$

Take a finite affine open cover \mathcal{U} of $\mathbb{P}(V)$ and consider the first-quadrant double complex

$$E^{p,q} = C^q(L_{r+1-p}(m-i),\mathcal{U})$$

where the horizontal maps are induced by the previous exact sequence and the vertical maps are the differentials in the Cech complex. This complex has exact rows, so that the spectral sequence of the vertical maps abuts to zero. Computing the sequence at the first step gives

$${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{p,q} = H^q(\mathbb{P}(V), L_{r+1-p}(m-i))$$

In particular ${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{r+2,q} = H^q(\mathbb{P}(V), \phi_{L_*}\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(m-i)) = H^q(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{m-i}).$

Now, to show that $H^i(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{m-i}) = 0$ it is enough to prove that

$$E_1^{r+1+i-q,q} = H^q(\mathbb{P}(V), L_{q-i}(m-i)) = 0 \quad \text{for all } q \ge i$$

but since line bundles on projective spaces do not have any intermediate cohomology, it is enough to prove that $H^r(\mathbb{P}(V), L_{r-i}(m-i)) = 0$. We see that

$$H^{r}(\mathbb{P}(V), L_{r-i}(m-i)) = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} H^{r}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}(m-r-q)) \otimes K_{r-i,q}(X, L; \mathcal{F})$$
$$\cong \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}(q-m-1))^{\vee} \otimes K_{r-i,q}(X, L; \mathcal{F})$$

and since $K_{p,q}(X, L; \mathcal{F}) = 0$ for all $q \ge m + 1$ and for all p, we get the desired vanishing.

Remark 2.4.4. This theorem says that the regularity of a sheaf \mathcal{F} is the highest index of a non zero row in the Betti table of \mathcal{F} .

As an application of the above result we can study the regularity of a tensor product:

Proposition 2.4.1. Let X be a projective variety, L an ample globally generated line bundle, \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on X and E a vector bundle on X. Suppose that \mathcal{F} is m-regular w.r.t. L and E is n-regular w.r.t. L, then $\mathcal{F} \otimes E$ is (n + m)-regular w.r.t L.

Proof. Substituting \mathcal{F} by $\mathcal{F} \otimes L^m$ and E by $E \otimes L^n$ we can suppose that m = n = 0.

Exploiting the fact that the map $\phi_L \colon X \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}(H^0(X, L))$ is finite, we can suppose that $X = \mathbb{P}(V)$ for a certain vector space of dimension r + 1 and that $L = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(1)$. Then the augmented minimal free resolution of E gives us an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow E_{r+1} \longrightarrow E_r \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow E_0 \longrightarrow E_{-1} = E \longrightarrow 0$$

where $E_p = \bigoplus_q \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(-p-q) \otimes K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}(V), E)$. Then, for every i > 0 we can tensor this exact sequence by $\mathcal{F}(-i)$ to get an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{F} \otimes E_{r+1}(-i) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow \mathcal{F} \otimes E_0(-i) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F} \otimes E_{-1}(-i) \longrightarrow 0$$

Now, take an affine and finite open cover \mathcal{U} of $\mathbb{P}(V)$ and consider the first-quadrant double complex

$$E^{p,q} = C^q(\mathcal{F} \otimes E_{r+1-p}, \mathcal{U})$$

where the horizontal differentials are induced by the above exact sequence and the vertical differentials are the differential in the Cech complex. Since the rows are exact, the spectral sequence starting with the vertical maps abuts to 0. Computing this sequence at the first step gives

$${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{p,q} = H^q(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F} \otimes E_{r+1-p}(-i))$$

in particular, we see that ${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{r+2,i} = H^i(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F} \otimes E(-i))$ and then, to show that this is zero it is enough to prove that ${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{r+1,i} = 0$ and ${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{r+2-j,j} = 0$ for all $j \ge i + 1$.

For the first vanishing observe that

$${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{r+1,i} = H^i(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F} \otimes E_0(-i)) = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} H^i(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(-q-i)) \otimes K_{0,q}(E, V)$$

and now $K_{0,q}(E, V) = 0$ for every q > 0 since *E* is 0-regular (cfr. Theorem 2.4.3), whereas $H^i(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(-q-i)) = 0$ for every $q \le 0$ since \mathcal{F} is 0-regular. For the other vanishings we see that for every $j \ge i + 1$ we have

$${}_{\uparrow}E_1^{r+2-j,j} = H^j(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F} \otimes E_{j-1}(-i)) = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} H^i(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{F}(1-j-i-q)) \otimes K_{j-1,q}(E,V)$$

and we can use the same reasoning as before.

Corollary 2.4.1. Let X be a projective variety, L an ample globally generated line bundle on X and E a vector bundle on X that is m-regular w.r.t. L. Then $E^{\otimes p}$, $\wedge^{p}E$, $S^{p}E$ are pm-regular w.r.t. L.

Proof. Applying repeatedly Proposition 2.4.1 yields that $E^{\otimes p}$ is *pm*-regular. Now, we just need to observe that we can regard $\wedge^{p}E$ and $S^{p}E$ as direct summands of $E^{\otimes p}$ and the thesis follows.

2.5 Vanishing theorems

As for standard sheaf cohomology, it is of great interest to know whether a certain Koszul cohomology group is zero or nonzero. In this section we want to present two useful vanishing statements for Koszul cohomology: the first one is quite generic and due to Green [Gre].

Theorem 2.5.1. Let X be an irreducible projective variety, L a line bundle on X, $V \subseteq H^0(X, L)$ a subspace and E a vector bundle on X such that $h^0(X, E \otimes L^q) \leq p$. Then

$$Ker (\wedge^{p} V \otimes H^{0}(X, E \otimes L^{q}) \xrightarrow{a} \wedge^{p-1} V \otimes H^{0}(X, E \otimes L^{q+1})) = 0$$

and in particular

$$K_{p,q}(X,L,V;E) = 0$$

	1

Proof. Substituting *E* with $E \otimes L^q$ we can suppose that q = 0. Suppose dim_k V = r + 1 and take r + 1 general points $P_0, \ldots, P_r \in X$. Choose a basis v_0, \ldots, v_r of *V* such that $v_i(P_j) = 0$ for every $i \neq j$ and $v_i(P_i) \neq 0$. Then every element $\alpha \in \wedge^p V \otimes H^0(X, E)$ can be written in the form

$$\alpha = \sum_{0 \le i_1 < \cdots < i_p \le r} v_{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge v_{i_p} \otimes \alpha_{i_1 \dots i_p}$$

where $\alpha_{i_1,...,i_p} \in H^0(X, E)$. Now, suppose that $\alpha \in Ker(\wedge^p V \otimes H^0(X, E) \xrightarrow{d} \wedge^{p-1} V \otimes H^0(X, E \otimes L))$, then

$$0 = d(\alpha) = \sum_{0 \le i_1 < \dots < i_p \le r} \left[\sum_{j=1}^p (-1)^{j+1} v_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \widehat{v_{i_j}} \wedge \dots \wedge v_{i_p} \otimes v_{i_j} \alpha_{i_1 \dots i_p} \right]$$
$$= \sum_{0 \le h_1 < \dots < h_{p-1} \le r} v_{h_1} \wedge \dots \wedge v_{h_{p-1}} \otimes \left[\sum_{0 \le j < h_1} v_j \alpha_{jh_1 \dots h_{p-1}} + \dots + (-1)^{p-1} \sum_{h_{p-1} < j \le r} v_j \alpha_{h_1 \dots h_{p-1}j} \right]$$

For every sequence $(i_1, \ldots, i_p) \in \{0, \ldots, r\}^p$ we define $\alpha_{i_1, \ldots, i_p} = 0$ if $i_h = i_k$ for certain $h \neq k$, and $\alpha_{i_1, \ldots, i_p} = \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \alpha_{i_{\sigma(1)} \ldots i_{\sigma(p)}}$ where $\sigma \colon \{1, \ldots, p\} \longrightarrow \{1, \ldots, p\}$ is the unique permutation such that $i_{\sigma(1)} < \cdots < i_{\sigma(p)}$. With this notation, we can rephrase the condition $d(\alpha) = 0$ as

$$\sum_{j=0}^{r} v_{j} \alpha_{jh_{1}...h_{p-1}} = 0 \quad \text{for all } 0 \le h_{1} < \dots < h_{p-1} \le r$$

and evaluating this at the point P_j tells us that $\alpha_{jh_1...h_{p-1}}(P_j) = 0$ for every j = 0, ..., r, that can also be written as

$$\alpha_{i_1\dots i_p}(P_{i_j}) = 0 \qquad \text{for all } j = 1,\dots,p$$

But, now, since the points P_j were chosen generally, and $h^0(X, E) \le p$ by hypothesis, we know that the evaluation map

$$H^0(X,E) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j=0}^r E \otimes \kappa(P_j)$$

is injective, so that $\alpha_{i_1...i_p} = 0$ and $\alpha = 0$ as desired.

The second statement, again due to Green [Gre84b], is about projective spaces.

Theorem 2.5.2. Let V be a vector space over **k** of dimension n + 1, let $d > 0, k \ge 0$ be two integers and consider a base-point free subspace $W \subseteq S^d V = H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d))$ of codimension c. Then

$$K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d), W; \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(k)) = 0$$
 for all $k + (q-1)d \ge p + c$

Proof. Thanks to Corollary 2.1.4, we see that

$$K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d), W; \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(k)) \cong H^1(\mathbb{P}(V), \wedge^{p+1}M_W \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}((q-1)d+k))$$

Indeed, thanks to the fact that line bundles on projective space do not have any intermediate cohomology, it is enough to check that, if n = 1 then $H^1(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}((q-1)d+k)) = 0$, but

$$H^1(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}((q-1)d+k)) \cong H^0(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-(q-1)d-k-2))^{\vee} = 0$$

since $(q - 1)d + k \ge p + c \ge 0$.

Now, to conclude, it is enough to show that $\wedge^{p+1}M_W$ is ((q-1)d + k + 1)-regular on $\mathbb{P}(V)$. To this end, choose a flag of linear subspaces

$$W = W_c \subseteq W_{c-1} \subseteq \cdots \subseteq W_1 \subseteq W_0 = S^d V$$

such that dim $W_{i-1}/W_i = 1$, and for every i = 0, ..., c let M_i be defined by the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_i \longrightarrow W_i \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d) \longrightarrow 0$$

we are going to show by induction that $\wedge^{p+1}M_i$ is (p+1+i)-regular, for all $p \ge 0, i = 0, ..., c$ and this will give us the thesis.

For i = 0, we already know from Example 2.4.2 that M_0 is 1-regular, so that $\wedge^{p+1}M_0$ is (p+1)-regular thanks to Lemma 2.4.1.

For the inductive step, suppose that i > 0: then we have an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_i \longrightarrow M_{i-1} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \longrightarrow 0$$

that yields another exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+2} M_i \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+2} M_{i-1} \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1} M_i \longrightarrow 0$$

Now we prove by descending induction on p that $\wedge^{p+1}M_i$ is (p + i + 1)-regular. If $p + 1 > \text{rk } M_i$ this is obvious, and for the inductive step, we observe that the above exact sequence gives the exact sequence in cohomology

$$H^{i}(\mathbb{P}(V), \wedge^{p+2}M_{i-1}(p+1)) \longrightarrow H^{i}(\mathbb{P}(V), \wedge^{p+1}M_{i}(p+1)) \longrightarrow H^{i+1}(\mathbb{P}(V), \wedge^{p+2}M_{i}(p+1))$$

Now, $\wedge^{p+2}M_i$ is (p+2+i)-regular thanks to the inductive hypothesis on i, so that $H^i(\mathbb{P}(V), \wedge^{p+2}M_{i-1}(p+1)) = 0$, whereas $\wedge^{p+2}M_{i-1}$ is (p+2+i)-regular, thanks to the inductive hypothesis on p, so that $H^{i+1}(\mathbb{P}(V), \wedge^{p+2}M_i(p+1)) = 0$.

2.6 Property N_p

Now we are going to introduce a measure of "niceness" for syzygies, called property N_p . In general, let us consider a connected projective variety X with an embedding $X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}(H^0(X,L))$ determined by a very ample line bundle L. What is the best possible minimal free resolution of (X, L), that is, the minimal free resolution of the $S = S^{\bullet}(H^0(X,L))$ graded module $R(X,L) = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} H^0(X,L^q)$?

First, we would like R(X, L) to coincide with the coordinate ring of X in $\mathbb{P}(H^0(X, L))$, that is $S_X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} S/I_X$, where I_X is the homogeneous ideal of $X \subseteq \mathbb{P}$. Taking global sections in the exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_X(q) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(q) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X(q) \longrightarrow 0$$

we get an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow I_X \longrightarrow S \longrightarrow R(X,L)$$

so that $R(X, L) = S_X$ if and only if all the maps $S^q(H^0(X, L)) \longrightarrow H^0(X, L^q)$ are surjective. This property has a name:

Definition 2.6.1 (Projective normality). Let *X* be a projective variety and *L* an ample line bundle on *X*. Then we say that (X, L) is **projectively normal** if the natural multiplication maps $S^q(H^0(X, L)) \longrightarrow H^0(X, L^q)$ are surjective for all $q \ge 0$.

Now, the condition of projective normality on (X, L) can be also rephrased by saying that the multiplication maps

$$H^0(X,L) \otimes H^0(X,L^{q-1}) \longrightarrow H^0(X,L^q)$$

are surjective for all $q \ge 1$, but by definition of Koszul cohomology this means that $K_{0,q}(X, L) = 0$ for all q > 0. Since X is connected, it follows that $K_{0,1}(X, L) = 0$ and this brings us to the following definition.

Definition 2.6.2 (Property N_0). Let *X* be a connected projective variety and let *L* be an ample line bundle on *X*. Then we say that *L* satisfies property N_0 if $K_{0,q}(X, L) = 0$ for all $q \ge 2$.

Remark 2.6.1. Let *X* be a connected projective variety and *L* an ample line bundle on *X*. Then (X, L) is projectively normal if and only if *L* satisfies property N_0 . An equivalent characterization is that the augmented minimal free resolution of R(X, L) starts as

$$S \longrightarrow R(X,L) \longrightarrow 0$$

Indeed, since *X* is connected it follows that $K_{0,0}(X, L) = \mathbf{k}$, whereas, since *L* is ample, it follows that $K_{0,q}(X, L) = 0$ for all q < 0.

Now, suppose that (X, L) satisfies property N_0 . Then the next step in the minimal free resolution tells us about the generators of the ideal I_X of X. Observe that there cannot be any elements of degree 1 in I_X , as any embedding determined by a complete linear system is nondegenerate. Thus, the simplest possible case is that I_X is generated by elements of degree 2, that is, X is an intersection of quadrics. In this case, the augmented minimal free resolution of R(X, L) continues as

$$S(-2) \otimes K_{1,1}(X,L) \longrightarrow S \longrightarrow R(X,L) \longrightarrow 0$$

Then we make the following definition:

Definition 2.6.3 (Property N_1). Let X be a connected projective variety and let L be an ample line bundle on X. We say that L has property N_1 if it has property N_0 and moreover $K_{1,q}(X, L) = 0$ for all $q \ge 2$.

Remark 2.6.2. By the above discussion, an ample line bundle *X* has property N_1 if and only if the minimal free resolution of R(X, L) starts as

$$S(-2) \otimes K_{1,1}(X,L) \longrightarrow S \longrightarrow 0$$

that is, (X, L) is projectively normal and the ideal of X is generated by quadrics.

Now, suppose that *L* satisfies property N_1 . Then the simplest possible case for the next step in the minimal free resolution of R(X, L) is

$$S(-3) \otimes K_{2,1}(X,L) \longrightarrow S(-2) \otimes K_{1,1}(X,L) \longrightarrow S \longrightarrow 0$$

this means that all the relations between the generators of the ideal I_X are generated by linear relations. In terms of Koszul cohomology we can write this as $K_{2,q}(X, L) = 0$ for all $q \ge 2$, and in this case we say that L has property N_2 .

Now it is obvious how to proceed:

Definition 2.6.4 (Property N_p). Let *X* be a connected projective variety and *L* an ample line bundle on *X*. Then for any positive integer $p \ge 0$, we say that *L* has **property** N_p if

$$K_{h,q}(X,L) = 0$$
 for all $0 \le h \le p,q \ge 2$

Remark 2.6.3. *L* has property N_p if and only if the minimal free resolution of R(X, L) starts as

$$\dots \longrightarrow S(-p-1) \otimes K_{p,1}(X,L) \longrightarrow S(-p) \otimes K_{p-1,1}(X,L) \longrightarrow \dots \longrightarrow S(-2) \otimes K_{1,1}(X,L) \longrightarrow S \longrightarrow 0$$

This can be rephrased by saying that the Betti table of R(X, L) has shape

	0	1	2	3	•••	p - 1	р	p+1	•••
0	1	_	-	_		_	_	-	
1	-	*	*	*		*	*	*	
2	-	_	_	_		_	_	*	

and by definition, this could be also expressed in terms of the minimal free resolution of the sheaf \mathcal{O}_X on $\mathbb{P}(H^0(X, L))$.

2.6.1 Arithmetically Cohen-Macaulay embeddings

The concept of projective normality can be used to study the Cohen-Macaulay property for coordinate rings of projective varieties.

Definition 2.6.5 (Arithmetically Cohen-Macaulay line bundles). Let *X* be a projective variety and let *L* be a line bundle on *X*. We say that *L* is an **arithmetically Cohen-Macaulay** line bundle if R(X, L) is a Cohen-Macaulay $S^{\bullet}(H^0(X, L))$ -module.

Proposition 2.6.1. Let X be an irreducible projective variety of dimension dim X = n and let L be a projectively normal very ample line bundle on X. Suppose that

 $H^i(X, L^q) = 0$ for all 0 < i < n and $q \in \mathbb{Z}$

then L is arithmetically Cohen-Macaulay.

Proof. Since *L* is projectively normal and very ample, we see that dim $R(X, L) = \dim S^{\bullet}(H^0(X, L))/I_X = n + 1$. Hence, using the Auslander-Buchsbaum formula 1.2.5, we see that *L* is arithmetically Cohen-Macaulay if and only if

projdim $R(X, L) \le h^0(X, L) - n - 1$

that is, if and only if

$$K_{p,\bullet}(X,L) = 0$$
 for all $p \ge h^0(X,L) - n$

Now, from Corollary 2.1.1, we see that for any $p \ge 0$ and $q \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) = H^{n-1}(X, \wedge^{n-1+p} M_L \otimes L^{q-n+1})$$

Observe now that, rk $M_L = h^0(X, L) - 1$, so that, if $p = h^0(X, L) - n$, then $H^{n-1}(X, \wedge^{n+1-p}M_L \otimes L^{q-n+1}) = H^{n-1}(X, L^{q-n}) = 0$, whereas, if $p > h^0(X, L) - n$ then $\wedge^{n-1+p}M_L = 0$.

2.6.2 Property N_p for curves of high degree

As a first example, we study property N_p for smooth curves.

Let *X* be a connected smooth projective curve of genus *g*, and let *L* be a line bundle on *X*: it is a standard principle that the line bundle *L* gets "nicer" as its degree grows:

Proposition 2.6.2. Let X be a smooth curve of genus g and let L be a line bundle on X of degree d. Then

- 1. If $d \ge 2g 1$ then $h^0(X, L) = d + 1 g$ and $h^1(X, L) = 0$.
- 2. If $d \ge 2g$ then L is base-point-free.
- 3. If $d \ge 2g + 1$ then L is very ample.
- *Proof.* 1. By Serre's Duality we know that $h^1(X, L) = h^0(X, \omega_X \otimes L^{\vee})$ but this is zero since $\deg(\omega_X \otimes L^{\vee}) = 2g 2 d < 0$. Now, by Riemann-Roch we see that $h^0(X, L) = \chi(X, L) = d + 1 g$.
 - 2. We need to show that $h^0(X, L(-p)) = h^0(X, L) 1$ for every closed point $p \in X$, but this follows at once from point 1.
 - 3. We need to show that $h^0(X, L(-p-q)) = h^0(X, L) 2$ for every two closed points $p, q \in X$, but this follows at once from point 1.

Then, it is quite natural to ask ourselves whether the line bundle *L* gets "nicer" also from a syzygy point of view. It turns out that this is precisely the case:

Theorem 2.6.1. Let X be a smooth curve of genus g, let $k \ge 0$ be a nonnegative integer and let L be a line bundle on X of degree deg L = 2g + 1 + k. Then L has property N_k .

Proof. By definition, we need to check that $K_{p,q}(X, L) = 0$ for all $0 \le p \le k$ and $q \ge 2$.

Observe that by Riemann-Roch we have

$$h^{0}(X, L) = \deg(L) + 1 - g = 2g + 2 + k - g = g + 2 + k$$

and then Duality Theorem 2.3.1 tells us that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) \cong K_{g+k-p,2-q}(X,L;K_X)^{\vee}$$

Now, by Vanishing Theorem 2.5.1, we know that $K_{g-1+k-p,2-q}(X,L;K_X) = 0$ as soon as

$$h^0(X, K_X \otimes L^{2-q}) \leq g+k-p$$

In particular, we see that deg $K_X \otimes L^{2-q} = (2g-2) + (2-q)(2g+k+1)$ so that $h^0(X, K_X \otimes L^{2-q}) = 0$ as soon as q > 2. The only case remaining is q = 2, but we see that $h^0(X, K_X) = g \leq g + k - p$ for every $k \geq p$.

Remark 2.6.4. The above result was proved in the case k = 0 by Castelnuovo [Cas93], Mattuck [Mat61] and Mumford [Mum]. The case k = 1 is due to Fujita [Fuj] and Saint-Donat [SD72]. Then Green understood that the property N_p was the right generalizations of these results and proved the above theorem in [Gre84a].

Remark 2.6.5. In the hypotheses of Theorem 2.6.1, we see from Proposition 2.6.1 that the embedded curve $X \subseteq \mathbb{P}(H^0(X, L))$ is arithmetically Cohen-Macaulay, since the embedding is projectively normal and there is no intermediate cohomology on a curve. In particular, we know that

$$projdim(R(X,L)) = h^{0}(X,L) - dim R(X,L) = g + 2 + k - 2 = g + k$$

and by the above Theorem we can see the the Betti table of (X, L) has the shape

	0	1	2	3	•••	k-1	k	k + 1	• • • •	k + g
0	1	-	_	_		_	-	_		_
1	-	*	*	*		*	*	?		?
2	-	_	_	_		_	_	?		?

where the asterisks stand for a nonzero element and the question marks stand for an element that could be either zero or nonzero.

2.6.3 Property N_p for Veronese embeddings

Another interesting case for studying property N_p is provided by Veronese embeddings.

Proposition 2.6.3. Let V be a vector space over **k** of dimension r + 1 and consider the line bundle $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d)$ for $d \geq 2$. Then $(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(d))$ has property N_d .

Proof. By Theorem 2.5.2, we see that

$$K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d)) = 0$$

if $p \le (q-1)d$, and this is true for every $0 \le p \le d$ and $q \ge 2$.

Remark 2.6.6. The above result is due to M. Green ([Gre84b]). In the paper [Rub04] E. Rubei showed that the Veronese embedding $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(3)$ satisfies property N_4 and this result has been improved by W. Bruns, A. Conca and T. Römer that in their paper [BCR11] proved that the Veronese embedding given by $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d)$ satisfies property N_{d+1} .

We will see later that the minimal free resolution of the Veronese embeddings of \mathbb{P}^1 is explicitly known, and from this it can be seen that they satisfy property N_p for every p.

In the case of \mathbb{P}^n with $n \ge 2$ this is not true anymore. To see this, we need a preliminary result about the structure of syzygies. Specifically, we consider the functor

$$\mathbf{K}_{p,q}(d) \colon \operatorname{Vec}_{\mathbf{k}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Vec}_{\mathbf{k}} \qquad V \mapsto K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(V)}(d))$$

then, from [Rub04] or [Sno13] one can see that

$$\mathbf{K}_{p,q}(d) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \vdash (p+q)d} M_\lambda \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} \mathbf{S}^\lambda$$

where S^{λ} is the schur functor associated to the partition λ and $M_{\lambda} = M_{\lambda}(p,q;d)$ is a vector space that counts multiplicities. In particular we see that

Corollary 2.6.1. If $K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^m, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^m}(d)) \neq 0$ then $K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d)) \neq 0$ for all $n \geq m$.

Proof. Immediate from the above remark.

Now we can prove that we have an upper bound for property N_p , due to G. Ottaviani and R. Paoletti [OP01]:

Proposition 2.6.4. For every positive integer $d \ge 1$ set $r_d = \dim \mathbb{P}(S^d(\mathbf{k}^3)) = \dim S^d(\mathbf{k}^3) - 1$. Then for every vector space V of dimension greater or equal than 3 we have

$$K_{p,2}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d)) \neq 0$$
 for all $3d - 2 \leq p \leq r_d - 2$

Proof. Thanks to Corollary 2.6.1, we can suppose that dim V = 3. First we observe that there is nothing to prove for d = 1, 2, hence we can suppose that $d \ge 3$. By Duality Theorem 2.3.1, we have that

$$K_{p,2}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d)) \cong K_{r_d-2-p,1}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d); \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-3))^{\setminus}$$

and by definition this is the cohomology at the middle term of the complex

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{r_d - 2 - p}(S^d V) \otimes S^{d - 3} V \xrightarrow{d} \wedge^{r_d - 3 - p}(S^d V) \otimes S^{2d - 3} V$$

Now, suppose that $p \le r_d - 2$ (otherwise $\wedge^{r_d - 2 - p}(S^d V) = 0$) and consider an element $\alpha \in \wedge^{r_d - 2 - p}(S^d V) \otimes S^{d-3}V$ of the form

$$\alpha = \sum_{i=0}^{r_d-2-p} (-1)^i f_0 \wedge \cdots \wedge \widehat{f_i} \wedge \cdots \wedge f_{r_d-2-p} \otimes g_j$$

for certain linearly independent elements $f_i \in S^d V$ and nonzero elements $g_j \in S^{d-3}V$. Then we see that $\alpha \neq 0$ and if $f_i g_j = f_j g_i$ for all i, j, then $d(\alpha) = 0$. In particular, this happens when $f_i = sg_i$ for a certain $s \in S^3V$. Thus, to get a nonzero element in $K_{r_d-2-p,1}(\mathbb{P}(V), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d); \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-3))$ it suffices to get $r_d - 1 - p$ linearly independent elements in $S^{d-3}V$ and this is possible as soon as $p \geq 3d - 2$.

Remark 2.6.7. After this result, Ottaviani and Paoletti conjectured that $(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d))$ always satisfies property N_{3d-3} .

2.7 Examples of Betti tables

We want to present some examples of Betti tables and minimal free resolutions in geometrical situations.

2.7.1 Rational normal curves

Let *V* be a vector space of dimension 2 over **k** and let $\mathbb{P}^1 = \mathbb{P}(V)$. We want to study the Betti numbers $K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))$ and actually this is one of the few cases in which these are known explicitly. Since it is a basic example, we are going to give several different methods that can be used to compute this Betti table.

Computation by syzygy bundles

Consider for each $d \ge 0$ the syzygy bundle M_d defined by the exact sequence on \mathbb{P}^1 :

$$0 \longrightarrow M_d \longrightarrow S^d V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d) \longrightarrow 0$$

then we know from Example 2.1.1 that

$$K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)) \cong H^q(\mathbb{P}^1, \wedge^{p+q}M_d)$$

Now, the by the Grothendieck-Segre Theorem, we know that every vector bundle on \mathbb{P}^1 splits as the direct sum of line bundles: to determine this splitting for M_d it is enough to consider the exact sequence in cohomology associated to the above exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(\mathbb{P}^1, M_d) \longrightarrow S^d V \xrightarrow{\mathrm{id}} S^d V \longrightarrow H^1(\mathbb{P}^1, M_d) \longrightarrow 0$$

This shows that $H^0(\mathbb{P}^1, M_d) = H^1(\mathbb{P}^1, M_d) = 0$ and then it is clear that $M_d \cong \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-1)^{\oplus d}$.

We can also determine completely M_d as an homogeneous bundle: indeed, twisting the above exact sequence by $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(1)$ and taking global sections we find the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(\mathbb{P}^1, M_d(1)) \longrightarrow S^d V \otimes V \longrightarrow S^{d+1} V$$

and a simple application of Pieri's rule shows that $H^0(\mathbb{P}^1, M_d(1)) \cong S^{d-1}V$ as an SL(V)-module. Hence

$$M_d = S^{d-1}V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-1) \qquad \wedge^{p+q} M_d = \wedge^{p+q}(S^{d-1}V) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-p-q)$$

Now it is easy to compute the Betti numbers: indeed we have

•
$$K_{p,0}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(d)) = \wedge^{p}(S^{d-1}V) \otimes H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(-p)) = \begin{cases} \mathbf{k} & \text{if } p = 0\\ 0 & \text{if } p \neq 0 \end{cases}$$

• $K_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(d)) = \wedge^{p+1}(S^{d-1}V) \otimes H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(-p-1)) = \begin{cases} \wedge^{p+1}(S^{d-1}V) \otimes S^{p-1}V & \text{if } 1 \leq p \leq d\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$

•
$$K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)) = 0$$
 for all $q \ge 2, p \ge 0$.

And the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))$ is the following

Computation from the shape of the Betti table

Another strategy is to compute the shape of the Betti table and then infer the values of the Betti numbers. To compute the shape of the Betti table, observe that $(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))$ satisfies property N_{d-1} by Theorem 2.6.1 and, moreover we know that it is arithmetically Cohen-Macaulay since there is no intermediate cohomology on a curve. Hence, the projective dimension of $(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))$ is precisely d-1 and then we know that the Betti table has the following shape

	0	1	2	•••	р	p+1	• • •	d-1
0	1	_	-		_	-	_	
1	—	*	*		*	*		*

Now, using again Example 2.1.1, we see that $K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)) \cong H^q(\mathbb{P}^1, \wedge^{p+q}M_d)$ and in particular

$$\chi(\mathbb{P}^1, \wedge^{p+1}M_d) = k_{p+1,0}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)) - k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))$$

Now, the shape of the Betti table tells us that $k_{p+1,0}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)) = 0$ for all $p \ge 1$ so that

 $k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)) = -\chi(\mathbb{P}^1, \wedge^{p+1}M_d)$ for all $p \ge 1$

and the Euler characteristic is easy to compute:

Lemma 2.7.1. Let X be a smooth projective curve of genus g and let L be a globally generated line bundle on X with syzygy bundle M_L . Let $h^0(X, L) = r + 1$ and deg L = d. then

$$\chi(X,\wedge^h M_L \otimes L^t) = \binom{r}{h}(td+1-g) - \binom{r-1}{h-1}d$$

Proof. By Riemann-Roch we know that

$$\chi(X, \wedge^{h} M_{L} \otimes L^{t}) = c_{1}(\wedge^{h} M_{L} \otimes L^{t}) + \operatorname{rank}(\wedge^{h} M_{L} \otimes L^{t})\chi(\mathcal{O}_{X})$$
$$= c_{1}(\wedge^{h} M_{L}) + \operatorname{rank}(\wedge^{h} M_{L})c_{1}(L^{t}) + \operatorname{rank}(\wedge^{h} M_{L})\chi(\mathcal{O}_{X})$$
$$= \binom{r-1}{h-1}c_{1}(M_{L}) + \operatorname{rank}(\wedge^{h} M_{L})(td+1-g)$$

and from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_L \longrightarrow H^0(X,L) \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow L \longrightarrow 0$$

we see that $c_1(M_L) = -d$ and $rank(M_L) = r$ and we conclude.

In our case, we see that

$$k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)) = -\binom{d}{p+1} + \binom{d-1}{p}d = \binom{d}{p+1}p$$

as above.

Computation from the Hilbert function

Suppose that we already know that the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(d))$ has the shape

To compute explicitly the Betti numbers, consider the module $R = R(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)) = \bigoplus_{q \ge 0} S^{qd}(V)$. It is easy to see that the Hilbert function of R is given by

$$H_R(t) = egin{cases} td+1, & ext{if } d \geq 0 \ 0, & ext{if } d < 0 \end{cases}$$

Now, using the notations of Proposition 1.2.5, we see from the Betti table that

$$k_{p,1} = (-1)^p K_{p+1}$$
 for every $p \ge 1$

and the Proposition 1.2.5 tells us how to compute the K_s from the Hilbert function by the formula

$$K_s = H_R(s) - \sum_{k < s} K_k \binom{s - k + d}{d}$$

Remark 2.7.1. Actually, for $(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))$ one can give an explicit description of the whole minimal free resolution using the Eagon-Northcott complex, which is a generalization of the Koszul complex. We are not going to describe this construction here, but the interested reader can consult [Eis05].

2.7.2 Elliptic normal curve

Another example in which the Betti numbers are known explicitly is that of elliptic normal curves: let *X* be a smooth connected projective curve of genus 1 and let *L* be a line bundle on *X* of degree deg L = d. Observe that since $K_X = O_X$ the Riemann-Roch Theorem tells us that

$$h^0(X,L) - h^0(X,L^{\vee}) = d$$

and in particular $h^0(X, L) = d$ if d > 0 and $h^0(X, L) = 0$ if d < 0.

Now, Proposition 2.6.2 tells us that *L* is very ample as soon as $d \ge 3$ and it is clear that this is not true if d = 1, 2. Then, we want to study the Betti table of (X, L) for $d \ge 3$. Theorem 2.6.1 tells us that (X, L) satisfies property N_{d-3} and in particular it is always projectively normal. Since there is no intermediate cohomology on a curve, it is also arithmetically Cohen-Macaulay from Proposition 2.6.1 so that

projdim
$$R(X, L) = h^0(X, L) - 2 = d - 2$$

Moreover, Duality Theorem 2.3.1, tells us that

$$K_{p,q}(X,L) \cong K_{d-2-p,2-q}(X,L)^{\vee}$$

and in particular

$$K_{d-2,q}(X,L) \cong K_{0,2-q}(X,L)^{\vee} \cong \begin{cases} \mathbf{k}, & \text{if } q = 2\\ 0, & \text{if } q \neq 2 \end{cases}$$

Hence, the Betti table of (X, L) has the following shape

	0	1	2	•••	р	p+1	 d-3	d-2
0	1	-	_		—	_	 —	—
1	_	*	*		*	*	 *	_
2	_	_	_		_	_	 _	1

To compute the Betti numbers explicitly, we can use a reasoning similar to the one that we used for the rational normal curve: fix a $1 \le p \le d-3$, then from Proposition 2.1.1, we know that

$$K_{p,1}(X,L) \cong \operatorname{Coker} (\wedge^{p+1} H^0(X,L) \longrightarrow H^0(X,\wedge^p M_L \otimes L))$$

and from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1} M_L \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1} H^0(X,L) \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow \wedge^p M_L \otimes L \longrightarrow 0$$

we get an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{0}(X, \wedge^{p+1}M_{L}) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1}H^{0}(X, L) \longrightarrow H^{0}(X, \wedge^{p}M_{L} \otimes L) \longrightarrow K_{p,1}(X, L) \longrightarrow 0$$

so that

$$k_{p,1}(X,L) = h^0(X,\wedge^p M_L\otimes L) - {d \choose p+1} + h^0(X,\wedge^{p+1} M_L)$$

Now, from the Betti table and Corollary 2.1.3 we see that $h^0(X, \wedge^{p+1}M_L) = 0$, whereas from Corollary 2.1.1 we see that $H^1(X, \wedge^p M_L \otimes L) \cong K_{p-1,2}(X, L) = 0$. Then, from Lemma 2.7.1, we see that

$$h^{0}(X,\wedge^{p}M_{L}\otimes L)=\chi(X,\wedge^{p}M_{L}\otimes L)=-\binom{d-2}{p-1}d+\binom{d-1}{p}d$$

and putting everything together we see that

$$k_{p,1}(X,L) = -\binom{d-2}{p-1}d + \binom{d-1}{p}d - \binom{d}{p+1} = \frac{d(d-p-2)}{p+1}\binom{d-2}{p-1}$$

Remark 2.7.2. Once we know that the Betti table of a normal elliptic curve has the above shape, we can compute the values of the Betti numbers also through the Hilbert function, as for the rational normal curves.

We can also compute explicitly the whole minimal free resolution through an Eagon-Northcott complex: for details see [Eis05].

2.7.3 Veronese surface

Let *V* be a vector space over **k** of dimension 3 and let $\mathbb{P}^2 = \mathbb{P}(V)$. We want to study the Betti tables of the Veronese embeddings $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$, for $d \ge 2$.

Quadratic Veronese surface

The first case is d = 2: observe that $H^1(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(2q)) = 0$ for every $q \ge 0$, so that we can use the Lefschetz Theorem 2.2. We can take as a connected divisor $Y \in |\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(2)|$ a smooth conic $Y \cong \mathbb{P}^1$ and then $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(2)|_Y \cong \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(4)$.

Thus, the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(2))$ corresponds to the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(4))$ that we already know:

For instance, this tells us that the ideal of $X_2 = \phi_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(2)}(\mathbb{P}^2) \subseteq \mathbb{P}^5$ is generated by 6 quadratic polynomials. Indeed, the Veronese surface can be characterized as the locus of points $[x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5] \in \mathbb{P}^5$ such that

$$\operatorname{rk} \begin{pmatrix} x_0 & x_1 & x_2 \\ x_1 & x_3 & x_4 \\ x_2 & x_4 & x_5 \end{pmatrix} \le 1$$

and this condition is equivalent to the vanishing of the upper-triangular 2×2 minors, so that

$$I_{X_2} = (x_0x_3 - x_1^2, x_0x_4 - x_1x_2, x_0x_5 - x_2^2, x_1x_4 - x_2x_3, x_1x_5 - x_2x_4, x_3x_5 - x_4^2)$$

Cubic Veronese surface

The next case is d = 3: we can use the Lefschetz Theorem 2.2 as before, and as a connected divisor $Y \in |\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(3)|$ we can take a smooth plane cubic, and now $L = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(3)|_Y$ is a line bundle of degree 9 on Y. Hence, the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(3))$ corresponds of the Betti table of (Y, L), where Y is a smooth connected curve of genus 1 and L is a line bundle on Y of degree 9: from our previous computations, we see that this Betti table is given by



Quartic Veronese surface

Now we proceed to the case d = 4: we can use again the Lefschetz Theorem 2.2, taking a smooth plane quartic $Y \in |\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4)|$ and then $L = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4)|_Y$ is a line bundle of degree 16 on *Y*.

Observe that *Y* is a smooth curve of genus 3 and from Theorem 2.6.1, we see that (Y, L) satisfies property N_9 . In particular, from Proposition 2.6.1, we know that (Y, L) is arithmetically Cohen-Macaulay, so that its minimal free resolution has length $h^0(Y, L) - 2 = 14 - 2 = 12$. Proposition 2.6.4 tells us that $K_{p,2}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4)) \neq 0$ for $10 \leq p \leq 12$ so that the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4))$ has the shape

	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
0	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
1	_	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	?	?	?
2	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	*	*	*

where the asterisk * denote a nonzero element and the question marks ? denote an element that can be either zero or nonzero.

Now, we study the group $K_{11,1}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4))$: by Duality Theorem 2.3.1, we see that $K_{11,1}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4)) \cong K_{1,2}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4); \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(-3))^{\vee}$, and from Theorem 2.5.2 we see that $K_{1,2}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4); \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(-3)) = 0$. Now, using Proposition 1.2.4, we see that $K_{12,1}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4)) = 0$ as well, so that the Betti table is

	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
0	1	_	-	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	-	_
1	_	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	?	_	_
2	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	*	*	*

To conclude, we can observe that, by Example 2.1.1, we have that $K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4)) \cong H^q(\mathbb{P}^2, \wedge^{p+q}M_4)$ for every p, q. Then, for every $s \in \mathbb{Z}$ we see that

$$k_{s,0}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4)) - k_{s-1,1}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4)) + k_{s-2,2}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4)) = \chi(\mathbb{P}^2, \wedge^s M_4)$$

and since on every diagonal p + q = s of the Betti table there is at most one Betti number that is nonzero, this must be equal to the absolute value $|\chi(\mathbb{P}^2, \wedge^s M_4)|$. This Euler characteristic can be computed inductively

Lemma 2.7.2. Let X be an irreducible projective variety and let L be a globally generated line bundle on X with syzygy bundle M_L . Set $h^0(X, L) = r + 1$, then for every $s \ge 0$ and $t \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$\chi(\wedge^{s} M_{L} \otimes L^{t}) = \sum_{h=0}^{s} (-1)^{h} \binom{r+1}{s-h} \chi(L^{t+h})$$

Proof. The proof is by induction on *s*: if s = 0 the identity is obvious, and if s > 0 it is enough to observe that the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_L \longrightarrow H^0(X,L) \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow L \longrightarrow 0$$

yields the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{s} M_{L} \otimes L^{t} \longrightarrow \wedge^{s} H^{0}(X,L) \otimes L^{t} \longrightarrow \wedge^{s-1} M_{L} \otimes L^{t+1} \longrightarrow 0$$

and now the thesis follows immediately by induction.

In our case, this lemma yields

$$\chi(\wedge^{s} M_{4}) = \sum_{h=0}^{s} (-1)^{h} {\binom{15}{s-h}} \chi(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{2}}(4h)) = \sum_{h=0}^{s} (-1)^{h} {\binom{15}{s-h}} {\binom{4h+2}{2}}$$

and after some computations we see that the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(4))$ is given by

	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
0	1	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	_
1	—	75	536	1947	4488	7095	7920	6237	3344	1089	120	_	_
2	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	55	24	3

2.7.4 Higher degree Veronese surfaces

What can we say in general about the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$? Using as before the Lefschetz Theorem 2.2, we see that this Betti table coincides with that of (Y, L), where Y is a smooth plane curve of degree d and genus $g = \frac{(d-1)(d-2)}{2}$ and L is a line bundle on Y of degree d^2 . In particular, Theorem 2.6.1, tells us that (Y, L) satisfies property N_{3d-3} .

Moreover, setting $r_d = h^0(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d)) - 1$, we know that $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$ is arithmetically Cohen-Macaulay, so that projdim $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}) = h^0(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d)) - 3 = r_d - 2$, and Proposition 2.6.4 tells us that $K_{p,2}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d)) \neq 0$ for every $3d - 2 \leq p \leq r_d - 2$.

Then, as before we can observe that $K_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d)) \cong K_{r_d-2-p,2}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d); \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(-3))$ and now we can use Theorem 2.5.2, to show that $K_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d)) = 0$ for $p \ge r_d - d + 1$.

We can sum up what we have said saying that the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$ has the shape

	0	1	2		3d - 3	3d - 2	3d-1		$r_d - d$	$r_d - d + 1$		$r_d - 3$	$r_d - 2$
0	1	-	_	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	_
1	-	*	*		*	?	?		?	_		_	_
2	-	-	_		_	*	*		*	*		*	*

and the mistery of the question marks will be unveiled in the next chapter.

Chapter 3

Asymptotic syzygies of algebraic varieties

We have seen in Remark 2.6.5 that if *X* is a smooth curve of genus *g* and if *L* is a line bundle on *X* of degree $d \gg 0$ then the Betti table of (X, L) has the following shape:

	0	1	2	3	•••	d - 2g - 2	d - 2g - 1	d-2g	•••	d - g - 1
0	1	-	-	-		_	-	_	•••	-
1	-	*	*	*		*	*	?	•••	?
2	-	-	-	-		_	_	?		?

In particular, we note that the length of the segment in which there can be two nonzero elements in the same column has constant length g, thus as $d \to +\infty$, it becomes negligible w.r.t. the length of the Betti table. Thus, the Betti table becomes nicer, in the sense of more sparse, as $d \to +\infty$.

Hence, we ask ourselves whether this facts generalizes to higher dimensions: more precisely, we pose the following question.

Question 1. Let X be a smooth irreducible variety of dimension $n \ge 2$ and let L be a very ample line bundle on X. Is it true that the Betti table of (X, L^d) becomes more sparse as d grows ?

The most basic example of the above situation is that of Veronese embeddings: in the case of \mathbb{P}^2 we know that the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$ has the shape

	0	1	2	•••	3d - 3	3d - 2	3d - 1	•••	$r_d - d$	$r_d - d + 1$		$r_d - 3$	$r_d - 2$
0	1	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	—	—
1	_	*	*		*	?	?		?	_		_	_
2	_	-	_		_	*	*		*	*		*	*

but with what we know up to now we have control only over the segments $0 \le p \le 3d - 3$ and $r_d - d + 1 \le p \le r_d - 2$, that become negligible as $d \to +\infty$, because their length grows linearly with *d*, whereas the length of the Betti table grows quadratically with *d*.

Then, to answer our question we need to study further the asymptotic behaviour of Betti numbers.

3.1 Asymptotic Betti tables

We are going to work in the following slightly more general setting: we consider a smooth irreducible projective variety *X* of positive dimension dim X = n, an ample line bundle *A* on *X*, two arbitrary divisors *P*, *B* and for each *d* we set

$$L_d = A \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(P)$$
 $r_d = h^0(X, L_d) - 1$

Observe that, thanks to Riemann-Roch, $h^0(X, L_d)$ and r_d are given by polynomials of degree n in d, for $d \gg 0$.

To begin with, we set up upper and lower bounds for the rows of the Betti table.

Proposition 3.1.1. *For* $d \gg 0$ *we have that*

$$K_{p,q}(X, L_d, \mathcal{O}_X(B)) = 0$$
 for all $p \ge 0$, $q < 0$ and $q > n + 1$

Proof. Take *d* large enough so that $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B) \otimes L^q_d) = 0$ for all q < 0, then from Corollary 2.1.6 it follows that

$$K_{p,q}(X, L_d; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) = 0$$
 for all $p \ge 0, q < 0$

To prove the other vanishings, thanks to Theorem 2.4.3, it is enough to show that $\mathcal{O}_X(B)$ is (n + 1)-regular w.r.t. L_d if d is large enough. But this is clearly true because by definition of Castelnuovo-Mumford's regularity, it means that

$$H^i(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B) \otimes L_d^{n+1-i}) = 0$$
 for $i = 1, \dots, n$

and we can achieve this if $d \gg 0$.

Now we study the groups $K_{p,0}$.

Proposition 3.1.2. *For* $d \gg 0$ *we have that*

$$K_{p,0}(X, L_d; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) \neq 0 \iff 0 \le p \le h^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B)) - 1$$

Proof. First, from Theorem 2.5.1, we see that $K_{p,0}(X, L_d; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) = 0$ for all $p \ge h^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B))$. Note that this is true independently of *d*.

For the other implication, we can proceed as in the proof of Proposition 2.6.4. More precisely, we begin by taking *d* large enough so that $H^0(X, L_d^{-1} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(B)) = 0$ and then, by definition, the group $K_{p,0}(X, L_d; \mathcal{O}_X(B))$ is the cohomology at the middle term of the complex

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{p} H^{0}(X, L_{d}) \otimes H^{0}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}(B)) \xrightarrow{d_{p,0}} \wedge^{p-1} H^{0}(X, L_{d}) \otimes H^{0}(X, L_{d} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(B))$$

that is

$$K_{p,0}(X, L_d; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) = \operatorname{Ker} d_{p,0}$$

Then, suppose that $p < h^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B))$ and take linearly independent elements $f_0, \ldots, f_p \in H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B))$ together with a nonzero element $s \in H^0(X, L_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-B))$ (we can take *d* large enough so that this last group is nonzero). Consider now the element

$$\alpha \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{j=0}^{p} (-1)^{j} (f_0 s \wedge \dots \wedge \widehat{f_j s} \wedge \dots \wedge f_p s) \otimes f_j \in \wedge^{p} H^0(X, L_d) \otimes H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B))$$

it is then clear that $\alpha \neq 0$ and $d_{p,0}(\alpha) = 0$ and in this way we have constructed a nonzero element in Ker $d_{p,0}$.

This result, coupled with the Duality Theorem 2.3.1, gives us control over the groups $K_{p,n+1}$ as well.

Corollary 3.1.1. *For* $d \gg 0$ *we have that*

$$K_{p,n+1}(X,L_d;\mathcal{O}_X(B)) \neq 0 \iff r_d - n - h^0(X,\mathcal{O}_X(K_X - B)) + 1 \le p \le r_d - n$$

Proof. Suppose that *d* is large enough so that

$$H^{i}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}(B) \otimes L^{n+1-q}) = H^{i}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}(B) \otimes L^{n-i}) = 0$$
 for all $i = 1, \dots, n-1$

then we can use the Duality Theorem in the form of Remark 2.3.3 to see that

$$K_{p,n+1}(X, L_d; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) \cong K_{r_d-n-p,0}(X, L, \mathcal{O}_X(K_X - B))^{\vee}$$

and then the result follows applying Proposition 3.1.2 to the right-hand term.

The above results tell us that for $d \gg 0$ the Betti table of (X, L_d) is zero above the 0-th row and under the (n + 1)-th row, and moreover, on these two rows the segments with nonzero elements have constant length.

In particular, all the action is concentrated between the 1-st and the *n*-th row. What we want to present now is a recent result due to L. Ein and R. Lazarsfeld [EL12] that gives the asymptotic behaviour of these rows.

Theorem 3.1.1. For every $1 \le q \le n$ there exist constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$ such that, if $d \gg 0$, then $K_{p,q}(X, L_d) \ne 0$ for every

$$C_1 \cdot d^{q-1} \le p \le r_d - C_2 \cdot d^{n-1}$$

If moreover $H^i(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = 0$ for all 0 < i < n then $K_{p,q}(X, L_d) \neq 0$ for every

$$C_1 \cdot d^{q-1} \le p \le r_d - C_2 \cdot d^{n-q}$$

In particular, this result tells us that our previous question has a negative answer. The situation, indeed, is quite the opposite: imagine to construct a normalized Betti table for every *d* by rescaling the horizontal length so that every Betti diagram stays into a rectangle of fixed length and n + 2 rows. Then the nonzero Betti numbers fill up completely the rows from the 1-st one to the *n*-th one for $d \rightarrow +\infty$, whereas the 0-th row and the n + 1-th row become asymptotically zero.

In the same paper [EL12], Ein and Lazarsfeld also give an explicit result for the case of Veronese embeddings:

Theorem 3.1.2. *For every* $1 \le q \le n$ *, if* $d \gg 0$ *then*

$$K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d)) \neq 0$$

for every

$$\binom{d+q}{q} - \binom{d-1}{q} - q \le p \le \binom{d+n}{n} - \binom{d+n-q}{n-q} + \binom{n}{n-q} - q - 1$$

Remark 3.1.1. In particular, Theorem 3.1.2 tells us that the question marks in the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$ are actually asterisks, so that this Betti table has the form

	0	1	2		3d - 3	3d - 2	3d - 1	•••	$r_d - d$	$r_d - d + 1$	•••	$r_d - 3$	$r_d - 2$
0	1	_	_	-	_	_	_	_	-	_	-	_	_
1	_	*	*		*	*	*		*	_		_	_
2	_	_	_		_	*	*		*	*		*	*

Remark 3.1.2. Zhou [Zho14] gives a simplified proof of Theorem 3.1.1 when *B* is an adjoint divisor of type $B = K_X + bA$. Moreover, his result specializes to Theorem 3.1.2 in the case of projective spaces.

3.1.1 The case of $K_{p,1}$

We begin by giving the proof of Theorem 3.1.1 in the case of q = 1. We keep the same notation of before and, moreover we choose a very ample divisor H on X, a general divisor $\overline{X} \in |H|$ and we set

$$V_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H^0(X, L_d), \qquad V'_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H^0(X, \mathcal{I}_{\overline{X}/X} \otimes L_d), \qquad v'_d = \dim V'_d$$

Observe that from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{X/\overline{X}} \otimes L_d \longrightarrow L_d \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \otimes L_d \longrightarrow 0$$

and Riemann-Roch we see that

$$v'_d = r_d - O(d^{n-1})$$

for $d \gg 0$.

Then we have the following result that, in particular, proves Theorem 3.1.1 for q = 1.

Proposition 3.1.3. If $d \gg 0$ then $K_{\nu,1}(X, L_d; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) \neq 0$ for all

$$h^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B+H)) \le p \le v'_d - 1$$

Proof. We denote by \overline{B} , $\overline{L_d}$, \overline{H} the restrictions of the corresponding objects to \overline{X} . Then consider the commutative diagram with exact rows

where the columns are Koszul differentials. Suppose that $p \ge h^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B+H))$: then by Theorem 2.5.1 we see that the two vertical maps on the left are injective. Now, a little bit of diagram chasing shows that, in order to conclude, we just need to find an element $\alpha \in \wedge^{p+1}V_d \otimes H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B+H))$ such that

$$\alpha \neq 0$$
, $r(\alpha) = 0$, $d(r(\alpha)) = 0$

In particular, any nonzero element in $\wedge^{p+1}V'_d \otimes H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B+H))$ will do, and this group is nonzero precisely when $p \leq v'_d - 1$.

The rest of the chapter is devoted to complete the proof of Theorem 3.1.1: the basic idea of the proof is to use secant hyperplanes to prove the statements inductively on the dimension. After that, we will also give the proof of Theorem 3.1.2. The exposition here follows faithfully that of [EL12].

3.2 Secant constructions

We consider an irreducible projective variety *X* of dimension dim X = n and a very ample line bundle *L* on *X*. We also fix a basepoint-free subspace $V \subseteq H^0(X, L)$ of dimension dim V = v that defines an embedding $X \subseteq \mathbb{P}(V)$. We suppose also to have a divisor a divisor *B* on *X* such that

$$H^{i}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}(B) \otimes L^{m}) = 0 \quad \text{for all } i > 0, \ m > 0$$

$$(3.1)$$

so that, from Corollary 2.1.4 we have

$$K_{p,q}(X,L,V;\mathcal{O}_X(B)) \cong H^{q-1}(X,\mathcal{O}_X(B) \otimes \wedge^{p+q-1} M_V \otimes L) \qquad \text{for } q \ge 2$$
(3.2)

and in particular

$$K_{p,n+1}(X,L,V;\mathcal{O}_X(B)) \cong H^n(X,\mathcal{O}_X(B) \otimes \wedge^{p+n-1}M_V \otimes L)$$

and $K_{p,q}(X; L, V; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) = 0$ if q > n + 1.

In this section, we expose a technique to prove inductively on the dimension the non-vanishing of certain cohomology groups $K_{p,q}(X, L, V; \mathcal{O}_X(B))$, using secant planes.

Turning to details, we fix a quotient

$$\pi \colon V \longrightarrow W$$

of dimension dim W = w < v, that defines a linear subspace $\mathbb{P}(W) \subseteq \mathbb{P}(V)$ and we set

$$Z \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X \cap \mathbb{P}(W)$$

as the scheme-theoretic intersection. If we set $J = \text{Ker } \pi$, then the twisted ideal sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{Z/X} \otimes L$ is generated by J through the natural evaluation map

$$V \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow L$$

We suppose in what follows that $Z \neq \emptyset$. Now, we have a commutative diagram of sheaves on X

where the rows are exact, the columns surjective and Σ_W is defined by the diagram itself. Observe that Σ_W is torsion-free of rank w.

Lemma 3.2.1. Let $p \in X$ be a closed point, then there are isomorphisms

$$\Sigma_{W,p} \cong \mathcal{I}_{Z/X,p} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{X,p}^{\oplus w-1}$$

 $W \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X,p} \cong \mathcal{O}_{X,p} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{X,p}^{\oplus w-1}$

compatible with the inclusion $\Sigma_W \subseteq W \otimes \mathcal{O}_X$, meaning that at the level of stalks this map induces the identity between the two components on the right.

Proof. If $p \notin Z$, then $\mathcal{I}_{Z/X,p} = \mathcal{O}_{X,p}$ and we are done. Then suppose that $p \in Z$ and fix an isomorphism $\mathcal{O}_{Z,p} \cong (\mathcal{O}_Z \otimes L)_p$. Then, since the map ev_W is surjective, there is a basis $e_1, \ldots, e_w \in W \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X,p}$ such that $ev_W(e_1) = 1 \in \mathcal{O}_{Z,p}$ is the standard generator, whereas $ev_W(e_i) = 0$ if $i \ge 0$. The assertion follows.

Note that the above isomorphism is non-canonical, but it has a canonical consequence

Corollary 3.2.1. There is a canonical surjective map $\varepsilon \colon \wedge^w \Sigma_W \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{Z/X}$ that makes the following diagram commutative



where the bottom map is the natural inclusion.

Proof. It follows from Lemma 3.2.1.

Now, if we take the composition

$$\wedge^w M_V \xrightarrow{\wedge^w \rho} \wedge^w \Sigma_W \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \mathcal{I}_{Z/X}$$

we get a surjective map $\sigma: \wedge^w M_V \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{Z/X}$. This map will be our main tool to show the nonvanishing of the Koszul cohomology group:

Definition 3.2.1. Fix an integer q > 2. Then we say that *W* **carries weight** *q* **syzygies** of *B* (with respect to *V*) if the map

$$H^{q-1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B) \otimes \wedge^w M_V \otimes L) \longrightarrow H^{q-1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B) \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z/X} \otimes L)$$

induced by σ is surjective.

In particular, if we manage to find a W that carries weight q syzygies and such that $H^{q-1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B) \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z/X} \otimes L) \neq 0$ then $H^{q-1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B) \otimes \wedge^w M_V \otimes L) \neq 0$ as well, so that

$$K_{w+1-q,q}(X,L,V;\mathcal{O}_X(B)) \neq 0$$

thanks to the isomorphism 3.2.

Now we suppose that $n \ge 2$ and we study the behaviour of the previous construction with respect to hyperplane sections. We fix a very ample divisor H on X and we take a general divisor $\overline{X} \in |H|$. We can choose this divisor such that \overline{X} is again irreducible and such that the commutative diagram 3.3 has still exact rows when tensored by $\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}$.

Now we set

$$V' = V \cap H^0(X, \mathcal{I}_{\overline{X}/X} \otimes L) \subseteq H^0(X, L)$$

and $W' = \pi(V') \subseteq W$. If we write $\overline{V} = V/V'$ and $\overline{W} = W/W'$, we have a commutative diagram with exact rows



and setting $v' = \dim V', w' = \dim W', \overline{v} = \dim \overline{V}, \overline{w} = \dim \overline{W}$, we have that

$$v = v' + \overline{v}, \qquad w = w' + \overline{w}$$

Now, taking

$$\overline{L} = L_{|\overline{X}}, \qquad \overline{Z} = Z \cap \overline{X}, \qquad \overline{B} = B_{|X}, \overline{H} = H_{|X}$$

we can apply the same constructions of before on \overline{X} and get an exact commutative diagram of sheaves on \overline{X}



with exact rows and surjective columns (the sheaves $M_{\overline{V}}$ and $\overline{\Sigma}_{\overline{W}}$ are defined by the diagram itself). As before, we have a surjective map

$$\overline{\sigma}\colon \wedge^w M_{\overline{V}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}/\overline{X}}$$

Observe that if dim Z = 0, then $\overline{Z} = \emptyset$ and $\Sigma_{\overline{W}} = \overline{W}_{\overline{X}}$: in this case, if moreover W' = W, we take $\overline{\sigma}$ to be the identity map $\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}$.

Lemma 3.2.2. There are isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} & M_V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \xrightarrow{\sim} (V' \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}) \oplus M_{\overline{V}} \\ & \Sigma_W \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \xrightarrow{\sim} W'_{\overline{X}} \oplus \Sigma_{\overline{W}} \end{split}$$

under which the quotient map $\rho \otimes id \colon M_V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \longrightarrow \Sigma_W \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}$ is identified with the direct sum of the two maps

$$\pi' \colon V' \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \longrightarrow W' \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}, \qquad \overline{\rho} \colon M_{\overline{V}} \longrightarrow \Sigma_{\overline{W}}$$

Proof. First we observe that by construction

$$V' = \operatorname{Ker} \left(H^0(\overline{X}, V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}) \longrightarrow H^0(\overline{X}, \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \otimes \overline{L}) \right)$$

and in the same way the sections in W' vanish on $\mathcal{O}_{\overline{Z}} \otimes \overline{L}$. Then we get a commutative diagram of sheaves on \overline{X} with exact rows

$$0 \longrightarrow V' \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \longrightarrow M_V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \longrightarrow M_{\overline{V}} \longrightarrow 0$$

$$\downarrow \pi' \qquad \qquad \downarrow \rho \otimes \mathrm{id} \qquad \qquad \downarrow \overline{\rho}$$

$$0 \longrightarrow W'_{\overline{X}} \longrightarrow \Sigma_W \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \longrightarrow \Sigma_{\overline{W}} \longrightarrow 0$$

if we can show that there are compatible splittings of the two rows, then we are done.

Now, from diagram 3.2, we can choose a section $\overline{V} \longrightarrow V$ that maps Ker $(\overline{\pi})$ into Ker (π) : then this section induces a compatible splitting of the two rows of 3.2 and consequently the left-square diagram of 3.3 restricts to

 $\begin{array}{c} M_V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} & \longrightarrow V' \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \oplus (\overline{V} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}) \\ & \downarrow \rho \otimes \mathrm{id} & \downarrow \pi' \oplus \overline{\pi} \\ \Sigma_W \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} & \longrightarrow W'_{\overline{X}} \oplus \overline{W}_{\overline{X}} \end{array}$

and this gives the required splitting.

Now we can prove the first main technical result, that is a criterion for verifying inductively when *W* carries weight *q* syzygies.

Theorem 3.2.1. Fix $q \ge 2$ and suppose that $H^{q-1}(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(B+H) \otimes L) = 0$ and that \overline{W} carries weight q - 1 syzygies of $\overline{B} + \overline{H}$ on \overline{X} . Then W carries weight q syzygies of B on X.

Proof. Consider the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 0 & \longrightarrow & \wedge^{w} M_{V}(B+H) & \longrightarrow & \wedge^{w} M_{V}(B+H) \otimes L & \longrightarrow & \wedge^{w} M_{V} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}(\overline{B}+\overline{H}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}} \overline{L} & \longrightarrow & 0 \\ & & & \downarrow \sigma & & \downarrow \overline{\sigma} & & \\ 0 & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{I}_{Z/X}(B) \otimes L & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{I}_{Z/X}(B+H) \otimes L & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}/\overline{X}} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}(\overline{B}+\overline{H}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}} \overline{L} & \longrightarrow & 0 \end{array}$$

from this we get the commutative diagram with exact rows

whose middle column is the map in Definition 3.2.1, that we need to prove to be surjective. To do this, since $H^{q-1}(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(B+H) \otimes L) = 0$, it is enough to prove that the leftmost map in the diagram (that is induced by the restriction of σ to \overline{X}) is surjective. Then, consider the restriction to \overline{X} of the composition $\varepsilon \circ \wedge^w \rho = \sigma$

$$\wedge^w(M_V\otimes\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}})\longrightarrow\wedge^w(\Sigma_W\otimes\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}})\longrightarrow\mathcal{I}_{Z/X}\otimes\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}$$

using the identification of Lemma 3.2.2, we see that this is precisely the bottom row of the commutative diagram

then to get the surjectivity of

$$H^{q-2}(X, \wedge^{w} M_{V} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}(\overline{B} + \overline{H}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}} \overline{L}) \longrightarrow H^{q-2}(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}(\overline{B} + \overline{H}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}} \overline{L})$$

it is enough to prove the surjectivity of the map

$$H^{q-2}(\overline{X}, \wedge^{w'}(V' \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}) \otimes \wedge^{\overline{w}} M_{\overline{V}}(\overline{B} + \overline{H}) \otimes \overline{L}) \longrightarrow H^{q-2}(\overline{X}, \wedge^{w'}(W' \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}) \otimes \mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}/H}(\overline{B} + \overline{H}) \otimes \overline{L})$$

induced by the top row of the last commutative diagram. But now we see that we can identify this map with

$$\wedge^{w'}V' \otimes H^{q-2}(\overline{X}, \wedge^{\overline{w}}M_{\overline{V}}(\overline{B}+\overline{H}) \otimes \overline{L}) \xrightarrow{\wedge^{w'}\pi' \otimes \overline{\sigma}} \wedge^{w'}W' \otimes H^{q-2}(\overline{X}, \mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}/\overline{X}}(\overline{B}+\overline{H}) \otimes \overline{L})$$

that is surjective by the hypothesis that \overline{W} carries weight q - 1 syzygies.

Remark 3.2.1. Observe that when q = 2 the hypothesis of the theorem is that the map

$$H^{0}(\overline{X}, \wedge^{\overline{w}}M_{\overline{V}} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}(\overline{B} + \overline{H}) \otimes \overline{L}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\overline{X}, \mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}/\overline{X}}(\overline{B} + \overline{H}) \otimes \overline{L})$$

determined by $\overline{\sigma}$ is surjective, and this is automatically verified if $\overline{w} = 0$.

We now give the second main technical result

Theorem 3.2.2. Suppose that the hypotheses of Theorem 3.2.1 are verified and that, moreover, $Z \subseteq X$ is a local complete intersection, that $\overline{v} - \overline{w} > n$ and that $H^{q-1}(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z/X}(B) \otimes L) \neq 0$. Then

$$K_{p,q}(X, L, V; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) \neq 0$$
 for all $w + 1 \leq p + q \leq v' + \overline{w} + 1$

Proof. Suppose that *U* is a quotient of *V* such that π factors as

$$V \xrightarrow{\pi_1} U \xrightarrow{\pi_2} W$$

then we have a chain of linear subspaces $\mathbb{P}(W) \subseteq \mathbb{P}(U) \subseteq \mathbb{P}(V)$. We set $U' = \pi_1(V')$, $\overline{U} = U/U'$ and we write $u = \dim U$, $u' = \dim U'$, $\overline{u} = \dim \overline{U}$, in particular $u = u' + \overline{u}$. Suppose now that we can choose U such that

The natural map
$$\overline{U} \longrightarrow \overline{W}$$
 is an isomorphism (3.4)

$$\mathbf{P}(U) \cap X = Z. \tag{3.5}$$

Then, applying the constructions of before to *U*, we get maps

$$\varepsilon^{\#} \colon \wedge^{u} \Sigma_{U} \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{Z/X}, \qquad \sigma^{\#} \colon \wedge^{u} M_{U} \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{Z/X}$$

and thanks to property 3.4, the map

$$\overline{\sigma}^{\#} \colon \wedge^{\overline{u}} M_{\overline{V}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{Z/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}$$

coincides with the map

$$\overline{\sigma}\colon \wedge^{\overline{w}} M_{\overline{V}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}/\overline{X}}$$

determined by \overline{W} . Thus, from Theorem 3.2.1 we see that U carries weight q syzygies of B, and then from the hypothesis $H^{q-1}(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z/X}(B) \otimes L) \neq 0$ it follows that $K_{u+1-q,q}(X, L, V; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) \neq 0$. Hence we just need to build one such U for every $w \leq u \leq \overline{w} + 1$.

To this end, we consider a subspace $\Lambda \subseteq V$ and we ask ourselves when does the quotient $U \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} V/\Lambda$ meet the necessary conditions. First, to get a factorization of π we need to have

$$\Lambda \subseteq \operatorname{Ker} \pi$$

then, condition 3.4 is equivalent to

$$V' + \Lambda = V' + \operatorname{Ker} \pi$$

and condition 3.5 is equivalent to the fact that $\mathcal{I}_{Z/X} \otimes L$ is generated by Λ .

Now, we see that $\dim(V' + \operatorname{Ker} \pi) = v - \overline{w}$, so that the condition $V' + \Lambda = V' + \operatorname{Ker} \pi$ holds for a general subspace $\Lambda \subseteq \operatorname{Ker} \pi$ such that $\dim \Lambda \geq \overline{v} - \overline{w}$. Now, since Z is a local complete intersection and $\operatorname{Ker} \pi$ generates $\mathcal{I}_{Z/X}$, any general subspace $\Lambda \subseteq \operatorname{Ker} \pi$ of dimension $\dim \Lambda \geq n + 1$ will generate $\mathcal{I}_{Z/X}$ as well. Since $\overline{v} - \overline{w} > n$ we can then find a subspace that satisfies all these conditions for every $w \leq u \leq \overline{w} + 1$.

3.3 The asymptotic non-vanishing theorem

Now we want to give a proof of Theorem 3.1.1. The notation is as follows: we fix an irreducible smooth projective variety *X* of dimension $n \ge 2$, an ample line bundle *A* on *X*, an arbitrary divisor *P* and for every $d \ge 0$ we set

$$L_d = A \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(P)$$
 $V_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H^0(X, L_d),$ $v_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} h^0(X, L_d)$

We are interested in the behaviour of L_d for $d \gg 0$ so that we can suppose that L_d is very ample and that it defines an embedding

$$X \subseteq \mathbb{P}(V_d) = \mathbb{P}^{r_d}$$

with $r_d = v_d - 1$. From Riemann-Roch we know that v_d and r_d are polynomials of degree n in d, for $d \gg 0$.

The main step in the proof of Theorem 3.1.1 is the following result.

Theorem 3.3.1. *Fix an index* $2 \le q \le n$ *and consider a divisor B on X. Then there are positive constants* $C_1, C_2 > 0$ *such that, if* $d \gg 0$ *then*

$$K_{p,q}(X, L_d; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) \neq 0$$
 for all $C_1 \cdot d^{q-1} \leq p \leq r_d - C_2 \cdot d^{n-1}$

If moreover $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X(B)) = 0$ for all 0 < i < n then we have

$$K_{p,q}(X, L_d; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) \neq 0$$
 for all $C_1 \cdot d^{q-1} \leq p \leq r_d - C_2 \cdot d^{n-q}$

The strategy is to prove this theorem inductively on n using Theorem 3.2.1 and Theorem 3.2.2, but first we need to perform some auxiliary constructions.

3.3.1 Preliminary constructions

Let *B* be a fixed divisor on *X*. Then we choose a very ample divisor *H* on *X* such that

$$H + B - K_X$$
 is very ample (3.6)

$$H^{1}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}(mH+B)) = 0 \text{ for all } i > 0, \ m \ge 1$$
 (3.7)

$$H^{i}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}(mH + K_{X})) = 0 \text{ for all } i > 0, \ m \ge 1.$$
 (3.8)

and we fix smooth irreducible divisors $\overline{X}_1, \overline{X}_2, ..., \overline{X}_n \in |H|$ that meet transversely. For the next step, we set c = n + 2 - q and we assume that d is sufficiently large so that $L_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_X((c-1)H)$ is very ample. Then we choose divisors

$$D_1, D_2, \dots, D_{c-2} \in |H|, \qquad D_{c-1} \in |H+B-K_X|, \qquad D_c \in |L_d - (c-1)H|$$
 (3.9)

in such a way that $\sum \overline{X_i} + \sum D_i$ has simple normal crossing and set

$$Z = Z_d = D_1 \cap \dots \cap D_c \tag{3.10}$$

as the complete intersection of the D_i . Then Z is smooth and dim Z = n - c = q - 2. By construction, we have that

$$\mathcal{O}_X(D_1 + \dots + D_c) \cong L_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(B - K_X)$$
 (3.11)

so that only D_c involves L_d . If $d \gg 0$, then every $L_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-D_i)$ is base-point-free and we will always suppose so in the future. In particular, this implies that $\mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X} \otimes L_d$ is globally generated.

Now, we define a quotient $V_d \longrightarrow W_d$ such that $X \cap \mathbb{P}(W_d) = Z_d$. Set

$$J_{0,d} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H^0(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X} \otimes L_d), \qquad W_{0,d} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} V_d / J_{0,d}$$

then we see that

$$W_{0,d} = \operatorname{Im} \left(H^0(X, L_d) \longrightarrow H^0(Z_d, L_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_{Z_d}) \right)$$

and since $\mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X}$ is globally generated, it follows that $\mathbb{P}(W_{0,d}) \cap X = Z_d$. We could try to apply now the constructions in the previous section to this quotient, but it will actually convenient to work with a modification of it.

Suppose that for any $d \gg 0$ one has a subspace $J_d \subseteq J_{0,d}$ such that

$$\mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X} \otimes L_d$$
 is generated by J_d dim $J_{0,d}/J_d \le a$ (3.12)

for a certain *a* independent of *d*. Then set $W_d = V_d/J_d$, $w_d = \dim W_d$ and let $\pi_d \colon V_d \longrightarrow W_d$ be the natural map. Observe that the first condition ensures that $\mathbb{P}(W_d) \cap X = Z_d$ in $\mathbb{P}(V_d)$.

Definition 3.3.1. With notations as before, we say that H, X_j, Z_d and W_d are **adapted to** *B* if

- 1. *H* satisfies the conditions 3.6,3.7,3.8.
- 2. Z_d is constructed as in 3.9 and 3.10, for $d \gg 0$.
- 3. W_d arise from a subspace J_d as in 3.12 for $d \gg 0$.

In what follows, we will always suppose H, X_i, Z_d and W_d to be adapted to B.

Lemma 3.3.1. It holds that

- 1. $H^{q-1}(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(B) \otimes L_d) \neq 0.$
- 2. $H^{q-1}(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(B+H) \otimes L_d) = 0.$
- 3. The dimensions dim $H^i(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X} \otimes L_d)$ and dim $H^i(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X} \otimes L_d(-H))$ are bounded from above independently from *d*.

Proof. Set $E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{c} \mathcal{O}_X(-D_i)$. Then it can be shown that we have an exact complex

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^{c} E \longrightarrow \wedge^{c-1} E \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow E \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{Z_{d}/X} \longrightarrow 0$$

given by the Koszul complex of a complete intersection. Now, using the double complex arising to the above resolution and the Cech complex, it can be shown that to prove the first point we just need to show that

$$H^n(X, \wedge^c E \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(B+H)) \neq 0$$
 and $H^i(X, \wedge^j E \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(B+L_d)) = 0$ for $i > 0, j < c$

Thanks to 3.11 we see that $\wedge^c E \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(B) \otimes L_d \cong \mathcal{O}_X(X_X)$, that implies the first condition. For the second one, we note that for j < c the bundle $\wedge^j E$ is the direct sum of twists of $\mathcal{O}_X(K_X)$ by line bundles of the form $\mathcal{O}_X(mH)$, for $m \ge 1$ as well as possibly one or both of $\mathcal{O}_X(H + B - K_X)$ and $L_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-(c-1)H)$. Then we see that the summands with L_d have vanishing cohomology for $d \gg 0$, whereas the other terms are covered by 3.7 and 3.8. The second point can be proved in a similar way.

For the last point, we see that the line bundle summands that appear in $\wedge^{j}E \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(L_{d})$ and $\wedge^{j}E \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(L_{d} - H)$ either involve only B, H and K_{X} or else have vanishing cohomology if $d \gg 0$. This shows that for i > 0 the dimensions of $H^{i}(X, \wedge^{j}E \otimes L_{d})$ and $H^{i}(X, \wedge^{j}E \otimes L_{d} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(-H))$ are independent from d if $d \gg 0$. Then the conclusion that we want follows as before considering the double complex arising from the resolution and the Cech complex.

Lemma 3.3.2. There exists a polynomial Q(d) of degree q - 1 such that the difference

$$|\dim W_d - Q(d)|$$

is bounded.

Proof. Thanks to condition 3.12, it is enough to construct a polynomial P(d) of degree q - 1 such that $|\dim W_{0,d} - P(d)|$ is bounded. To do this we take $Y = D_1 \cap D_2 \cap \cdots \cap D_{c-1}$: this is a smooth variety of dimension n - (c - 1) = q - 1 and $Z_d \subseteq Y$ is a divisor corresponding to the line bundle $L_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y(-(c-1)H)$, so that we have an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_Y((c-1)H) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_Y \otimes L_d \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{Z_d} \otimes L_d \longrightarrow 0$$

of sheaves on Y. Taking cohomology we get the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{0}(Y, \mathcal{O}_{Y}((c-1)H)) \longrightarrow H^{0}(Y, \mathcal{O}_{Y} \otimes L_{d}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(Z_{d}, \mathcal{O}_{Z_{d}} \otimes L_{d}) \longrightarrow H^{1}(Y, \mathcal{O}_{Y}((c-1)H)) \longrightarrow C_{d} \longrightarrow H^{0}(Y, \mathcal{O}_{Y}((c-1)H)) \longrightarrow H^{0}(Y,$$

which tells us that

$$|h^0(Y,\mathcal{O}_Y\otimes L_d)-h^0(Z_d,\mathcal{O}_{Z_d}\otimes L_d)| \le h^0(Y,\mathcal{O}_Y((c-1)H))+h^1(Y,\mathcal{O}_Y((c-1)H))+\dim C_d$$

and the right-hand term is bounded independently from d, as dim $C_d \leq h^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y((c-1)H))$. Moreover, we know from Riemann-Roch that $h^0(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y \otimes L_d)$ is a polynomial function in d of degree dim Y = q - 1 for $d \gg 0$.

To conclude, it is enough to observe that, if $d \gg 0$ then $H^1(X, L_d) = 0$ so that, taking cohomology in the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X} \otimes L_d \longrightarrow L_d \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{Z_d} \otimes L_d \longrightarrow 0$$

we get the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow J_{0,d} \longrightarrow V_d \longrightarrow H^0(Z_d, \mathcal{O}_{Z_d} \otimes L_d) \longrightarrow H^1(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X} \otimes L_d) \longrightarrow 0$$

Now, this last sequence tells us that

$$h^0(Z_d, \mathcal{O}_{Z_d} \otimes L_d) - \dim W_{0,d} = h^1(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X} \otimes L_d)$$

and the right-hand term is bounded thanks to Lemma 3.3.1.

We also need to consider the kernel bundle M_{L_d} :

Lemma 3.3.3. The vector bundle $M_{L_d} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(H)$ is globally generated if $d \gg 0$. In particular, M_{L_d} is a quotient of $\mathcal{O}_X(-H)^{\oplus N}$ for a certain N.

Proof. We denote by M_H the kernel bundles corresponding to the line bundle $\mathcal{O}_X(H)$. We observe that the fibers at a point $p \in X$ of M_H and M_{L_d} are canonically identified with $H^0(X, \mathcal{I}_p \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(H))$ and $H^0(X, \mathcal{I}_p \otimes L_d)$ respectively and we have a natural multiplication map

$$H^0(X, L_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-H)) \otimes H^0(X, L \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(H)) \longrightarrow H^0(X, \mathcal{I}_p \otimes L_d)$$

It can be seen that the above map globalizes to morphism of vector bundles

$$H^0(X, L_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-H)) \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M_H \longrightarrow M_{L_d}$$

and moreover this morphism is surjective for $d \gg 0$, because it is surjective at the level of stalks. To conclude, it is enough to observe that $M_H \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(H)$ is globally generated

Proposition 3.3.1. Suppose that for every $d \gg 0$ we have a quotient

$$M_{L_d} \stackrel{s_d}{\longrightarrow} T_d \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow 0$$

for a certain vector space T_d of dimension $t_d \leq c$, where c is a positive integer independent of d. Then for any fixed divisor C the map

$$H^{0}(X, \wedge^{t_{d}}M_{L_{d}} \otimes L_{d} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(\mathcal{C})) \longrightarrow H^{0}(X, \wedge^{t_{d}}T_{d} \otimes L_{d} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(\mathcal{C})) = H^{0}(X, L_{d} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(\mathcal{C}))$$

determined by $\wedge^{t_d} s_d$ is surjective for $d \gg 0$.

-	_	_	

Proof. By Lemma 3.3.3, we have a surjective map

$$\mathcal{O}_X(-H)^{\oplus N} \longrightarrow M_{L_d}$$

for a certain $N = N_d$. Then, we get another surjective map

$$u_d \colon \mathcal{O}_X(-H)^{\oplus N} \longrightarrow T_d \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} \mathcal{O}_X$$

Set $\phi_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \wedge^{t_d} u_d$: then it is enough to show that the map

$$H^0(X, \wedge^{t_d}(\mathcal{O}_X(-H)^{\oplus N} \otimes L_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(C))) \longrightarrow H^0(X, L_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(C))$$

induced by ϕ_d is surjective if $d \gg 0$.

Now, ϕ_d is resolved by an Eagon-Northcott complex (see [Eis05]) that is of the form

$$\dots \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X(-(t_d+2)H) \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S_2 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X(-(t_d+1)H) \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} S_1 \longrightarrow \wedge^{t_d}(\mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus N})(-t_dH) \xrightarrow{\varphi_d} \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow 0$$

where the s_i are certain vector spaces with dimension depending on t_d . Now, to get the surjectivity result that we need it is enough to prove that

$$H^{i}(X, L_{d} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(C - (t_{d} + i)H)) = 0$$
 for all $i > 0$

but since t_d is bounded independently by d, we can make this happen taking $d \gg 0$.

3.3.2 The proof

Now we proceed to prove Theorem 3.3.1. We begin by setting notation: assume that we have data H, Z_d, W_d adapted to B: then we set $\overline{X} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \overline{X}_n \in |H|$ and for every $1 \leq j \leq n-1$ we denote by $\overline{\overline{X}}_j$ the restriction of \overline{X}_j to \overline{X} . We also denote by $\overline{Z}_d, \overline{L}_d, \overline{B}, \overline{H}, \overline{D}_i$ the restrictions of the corresponding objects to \overline{X} ; we point out that $\overline{Z}_d = \overline{D}_1 \cap \cdots \cap \overline{D}_c$.

Now set

$$V'_{d} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H^{0}(X, L_{d} \otimes \mathcal{I}_{\overline{X}/\overline{X}}) = H^{0}(X, L_{d} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(-H))$$

and define $\overline{V}_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} V_d / V'_d$, $v'_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \dim V'_d$. We observe that $\overline{V}_d = H^0(\overline{X}, \overline{L}_d)$ for $d \gg 0$ and that $v'_d = v_d - O(d^{n-1})$.

Similarly, we set $W'_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \pi_d(W_d)$, $\overline{W}_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} W_d/W'_d$, $\overline{w}_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \dim \overline{W}_d$ and we denote as $\overline{J}_d \subseteq H^0(\overline{X}, \mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}_d/\overline{X}} \otimes \overline{L}_d)$ the image of J_d on \overline{X} , so that $\overline{W}_d = \overline{V}_d/\overline{J}_d$.

Lemma 3.3.4. If the data H, \overline{X}_j, Z_d and W_d are adapted to B on X, then the restrictions $\overline{H}, \overline{X}_j, \overline{Z}_d$ and \overline{W}_d are adapted to $\overline{B} + \overline{H}$ on \overline{X} .

Proof. First we remark that

$$(B-K_X)_{|\overline{X}} \equiv_{lin} \overline{B} + \overline{H} - K_{\overline{X}}$$

thanks to the adjunction formula. Then, the fact that \overline{H} and \overline{Z}_d satisfy the required conditions can be shown using the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X(-H) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}} \longrightarrow 0$$

of sheaves on *X*.

Regarding the conditions for \overline{W}_d , it is easy to show that the sections in \overline{J}_d generate the sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}_d/\overline{X}} \otimes \overline{L}_d$, and it remains to show that

$$\dim \frac{H^0(\overline{X}, \mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}_d/\overline{X}} \otimes \overline{L}_d)}{\overline{J}_d} \leq a$$

for a certain \overline{a} independent of *d*. In order to do this we consider

$$\overline{I}_d = \operatorname{Im} \left(H^0(X, \mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X} \otimes L_d) \longrightarrow H^0(\overline{X}, \mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}_d/\overline{X}} \otimes \overline{L}_d) \right)$$

as the image of the restriction map. Then the condition 3.12 tells us that dim $\overline{I}_d/\overline{J}_d \leq a$, but there is also a natural embedding

$$\frac{H^0(X,\mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}_d/\overline{X}}\otimes\overline{L}_d)}{\overline{I}_d}\subseteq H^1(X,\mathcal{I}_{Z_d/X}\otimes L_d\otimes\mathcal{O}_X(-H))$$

and then we can conclude thanks to Lemma 3.3.1.

Lemma 3.3.5. Suppose that H, X_i, Z_d and W_d are adapted to a divisor B.

- 1. If $q \ge 2$, then W_d carries weight q syzygies of B with respect to L_d , for $d \gg 0$.
- 2. If $q \ge 3$, then \overline{W}_d carries weight q 1 syzygies of $\overline{B} + \overline{H}$ with respect to \overline{L}_d for $d \gg 0$.

Proof. We want to apply Theorem 3.2.1. In order to do this, consider the exact sequence

$$0\longrightarrow \Sigma_{\overline{W}_d}\longrightarrow \overline{W}_d\otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}\longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\overline{Z}_d}\otimes \overline{L}_d\longrightarrow 0$$

of sheaves on \overline{X} and the quotient $M_{\overline{L}_d} \longrightarrow \Sigma_{\overline{W}_d}$ that induces the map $\sigma_d \colon \wedge^{\overline{w}_d} M_{\overline{L}_d} \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{\overline{Z}_d/\overline{X}}$.

Now we fix the codimension c = n + 2 - q and we proceed to prove the result by induction on q. If q = 2, we see that dim $Z_d = 0$ so that $\overline{Z}_d = \emptyset$ and then the above exact sequence shows that $\Sigma_{\overline{W}_d} = \overline{W}_d \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}$. Moreover, we also claim that the map

$$H^{0}(\overline{X}, \wedge^{\overline{w}_{d}}M_{\overline{L}_{d}} \otimes \overline{L}_{d} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}(\overline{B} + \overline{H})) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\overline{X}, \overline{L}_{d} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}(\overline{B} + \overline{H}))$$
(3.13)

induced by $\overline{\sigma}_d$ is surjective for $d \gg 0$. Indeed, we observe that $\overline{\sigma}_d$ is an exterior power of the quotient

$$M_{\overline{L}_d} \longrightarrow \Sigma_{\overline{W}_d} = \overline{W}_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}$$

and then the fact that \overline{W}_d is adapted to $\overline{B} + \overline{H}$ (cf Lemma 3.3.4) tells us that \overline{w}_d is bounded independently of *d*. Then the claim on surjectivity follows from Proposition 3.3.1.

Now, if $d \gg 0$, the hypotheses of Theorem 3.2.1 are satisfied thanks to Lemma 3.3.1, and then from the surjectivity of 3.13 we see that the statement (1) of the Lemma holds when q = 2. But now, thanks to Lemma 3.3.4, we can apply this statement to the divisor $\overline{B} + \overline{H}$ on \overline{X} and get the statement (2) of the Lemma in the case q = 3. Now, using once again Theorem 3.2.1, we prove the statement (1) in the case q = 3 and we continue like this.

Finally, we prove Theorem 3.3.1:

Proof of Theorem 3.3.1. We just make use of Theorem 3.2.2. Indeed, using the surjectivity of 3.13 (for the case q = 2), the Lemma 3.3.5 (for the case $q \ge 3$), as well as the Lemma 3.3.1 and the observation that $\overline{v}_d - \overline{w}_d = O(d^{n-1})$, we see that the hypotheses of Theorem 3.2.2 are satisfied, so that, if *d* is large enough, then

$$K_{p,q}(X, L_d; \mathcal{O}_X(B)) \neq 0$$
 for all $w_d + 1 - q \leq p \leq v'_d + \overline{w}_d + 1 - q$

Now, the first part of the Theorem follows from Lemma 3.3.2 and the observation that $v'_d - v_d = O(d^{n-1})$.

To get the second part, it is enough to apply (for $d \gg 0$) the Duality Theorem 2.3.3, the part of the Theorem already proved and the statement for the groups $K_{p,1}$ given by Proposition 3.1.3.

3.4 The asymptotic non-vanishing theorem for Veronese varieties

We now aim at proving Theorem 3.1.2: we already know that it is true in the case of \mathbb{P}^1 so that now we address the higher dimensional cases.

We begin with the extremal cases of $K_{p,0}$ and $K_{p,n}$.

Lemma 3.4.1. Let $d \ge 0$ and $b \ge 0$ be two integers. Then

1. If $d \ge b + 1$ then $K_{p,0}(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d); \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(b)) \ne 0$ if and only if

$$0 \le p \le \binom{b+n}{n} - 1$$

2. If $d \ge b + n + 1$ then $K_{p,n}(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}; \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d)) \ne 0$ if and only if

$$\binom{d+n}{n} - \binom{d-b-1}{n} - n \le p \le \binom{d+n}{n} - n - 1$$

Proof. The point (1) follows from the proof of Proposition 3.1.2. The point (2) follows from point (1) by Duality Theorem in Remark 2.3.3. \Box

Next, we address the case of $K_{p,1}$.

Proposition 3.4.1. Suppose $n \ge 2$ and take integers $b \ge 0$ and $d \ge b + 2$. Then $K_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d); \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(b)) \ne 0$ for

$$b+1 \le p \le \binom{d+n-1}{n} - 1$$

Proof. We denote by M_d the syzygy bundle associated to $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d)$. Then we know from Corollary 2.1.4 that

 $K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d); \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(b)) \cong H^1(\mathbb{P}^n, \wedge^{p+1}M_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(b))$

Now, take a subset $Z \subseteq \mathbb{P}^n$ of b + 2 collinear points, so that

$$H^1(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{I}_{Z/\mathbb{P}^n}(b)) \neq 0, \qquad H^1(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{I}_{Z/\mathbb{P}^n}(b+1)) = 0$$

Then we apply the constructions of Section 3.2 with

$$W = \operatorname{Im} \left(H^0(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d)) \xrightarrow{\pi} H^0(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(d)) \right) = H^0(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(d))$$

and in this way we get a mapping

$$\sigma \colon H^1(\mathbb{P}^n, \wedge^w M_d \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(b)) \longrightarrow H^1(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{I}_{Z/\mathbb{P}^n}(b))$$

with $w = \dim W = b + 2$ and we want to prove that this is surjective. In order to do this, we observe that, using the same notations as in Section 3.2, we see that W' = W, $\overline{W} = 0$ and then the homomorphism $\overline{\sigma}$ of Theorem 3.2.1 is automatically surjective, so that we can apply the same reasoning as in the proof of that theorem.

This proves that $K_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d); \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(b)) \neq 0$ for p = b + 1. But now, as in the proof of Theorem 3.2.2, we can substitute W with a bigger quotient $U = H^0(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d))/\Lambda$ with the same properties and such that dim U takes any value between b + 1 and $\binom{n+d-1}{n}$. The conclusion follows.

To conclude, we study the case $2 \le q \le n - 1$.

Proposition 3.4.2. Consider integers $2 \le q \le n-1$, $b \ge 0$ and $d \ge b+q+1$. Then $K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(b); \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d)) \ne 0$ for

$$\binom{d+q}{q} - \binom{d-b-1}{q} - q \le p \le \binom{d+n-1}{n} + \binom{d+q-1}{q-1} - \binom{d-b-2}{q-1} - q$$

Proof. We begin by adapting some constructions of Section 3.2 to the case of projective space \mathbb{P}^m . Fix an integer $2 \le c \le m$, and integer $a \ge 0$ and set s = m - c + 2; assume, moreover, that $d \ge a + s + 1$. Now we choose general divisors

$$D_1, D_2, \ldots, D_{c-2} \in |\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^m}(1)|, \qquad D_{c-1} \in |\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^m}(a+s+1)|, \qquad D_c \in |\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^m}(d)|$$

and we denote their complete intersection by

$$Z_{d,m,a} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} D_1 \cap \cdots \cap D_a$$

We see that $Z_{d,m,a}$ is a smooth variety of dimension n - c = s - 2 such that $\mathcal{I}_{Z_{d,m,a}/\mathbb{P}^m}(d)$ is generated by global sections and

$$H^{s-1}(\mathbb{P}^m,\mathcal{I}_{Z_{d,m,a}/\mathbb{P}^m}(d+a))\neq 0, \qquad H^{s-1}(\mathbb{P}^m,\mathcal{I}_{Z_{d,m,a}/\mathbb{P}^m}(d+a+1))=0$$

Now we set

$$W_{d,m,a} = \operatorname{Im} \left(H^0(\mathbb{P}^m, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^m}(d)) \longrightarrow H^0(Z_{d,m,a}, \mathcal{O}_{Z_{d,m,a}}(d)) \right)$$

then, if dim *Z* > 0, one can show that $W_{d,m,a}$ is surjective and that

$$w_{d,m,a} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \dim W_{d,m,a} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \binom{d+s}{s} - \binom{d-a-1}{s} - 1$$

for every $s \ge 2$. Now, if we denote by $M_{m,d}$ the syzygy bundle on \mathbb{P}^m associated to $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^m}(d)$, we can get as in Section 3.2 a map

$$\sigma_{m,d,a} \colon \wedge^{w_{m,d,a}} M_{d,m} \longrightarrow \mathcal{I}_{Z_{d,m,a}/\mathbb{P}^m}$$

If we take a general hyperplane $\mathbb{P}^{m-1} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^m$, we see that the intersection

$$\overline{Z}_{d,m,a} = Z_{d,m,a} \cap \mathbb{P}^{m-1}$$

can be identified with $Z_{d,m-1,a+1}$ inside \mathbb{P}^{m-1} . In particular we see that *c* is unchanged and that *s* is decreased by 1. Using the same notations as in Section 3.2 we have an identification $\overline{W}_{d,m,a} = W_{d,m-1,a+1}$ if c < m. Instead, if c = m we get dim $Z_{m,d,a} = 0$ and

$$\overline{W}_{d,m,a} = \operatorname{Ker} \left(H^1(\mathbb{P}^m, \mathcal{I}_{Z_{d,m,a}/\mathbb{P}^m}(d-1)) \longrightarrow H^1(\mathbb{P}^m, \mathcal{I}_{Z_{d,m,a}}) \right)$$

It can be shown that in this case

$$\overline{w}_{d,m,a} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \dim \overline{W}_{d,m,a} = a + 2$$

To prove our Proposition, we begin by applying this constructions with m = n, a = b and c = n + 2 - q, for a fixed $2 \le q \le n$. We want to show that $W_{n,d,a}$ satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 3.2.1 and Theorem 3.2.2. The strategy is to apply repeatedly Theorem 3.2.2 and use descending induction on $0 \le i \le 2$ to prove that the homomorphisms

$$H^{q-1-i}(\mathbb{P}^{n-i},\wedge^{w_{d,n-i,b+1}}M_{d,n-i}(b+d-i))\longrightarrow H^{q-1-i}(\mathbb{P}^{n-i},\mathcal{I}_{Z_{d,n-i,b+i}/\mathbb{P}^n}(d+b+i))$$

determined by $\sigma_{d,n-i,b+i}$ are surjective. Thanks to the discussion above, the only issue is with the base of induction with i = q - 2. In this case, we need to prove the surjectivity of the map

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{n+1-q}, \wedge^{\overline{w}_{d,n+2-q,b+q-2}}M_{d,n+1-q}(b+d+q-1)) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{n+1-s}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{n+1-q}}(b+d+q-1))$$

induced by

$$\overline{\rho}_{d,n+1-q,b+q-2}\colon M_{d,n+1-q}\longrightarrow \overline{W}_{d,n+2-q,b+q-2}\otimes_{\mathbf{k}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{n+1-q}}$$

but this follows using the Eagon-Northcott complex as in the proof of Proposition 3.3.1 and the fact that $M_{d,n+1-q}(1)$ is globally generated (by Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity for example).

Now, we can apply Theorem 3.2.2 that in this case tells us that $K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d); \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(b)) \neq 0$ for

$$w_{d,n,b} + 1 - q \le p \le h^0(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(d-1)) + \overline{w}_{d,n,b} + 1 - q$$

and we conclude observing that

$$\overline{w}_{d,n,b} = w_{d,n-1,b+1} = \binom{d-q-1}{q-1} - \binom{d-b-2}{q-1} - 1$$

Chapter 4

Asymptotic normality of Betti numbers

In the previous chapter we have seen results about the asymptotic shape of the Betti tables. It is then natural to ask ourselves what we can say about the asymptotic values of the Betti numbers.

In this chapter, we want to present some results about the asymptotic distribution of these values for curves and give a conjecture for higher-dimensional varieties. The questions addressed here are inspired by the paper [EEL13], of L. Ein, D. Erman and R. Lazarsfeld.

4.1 Asymptotic Betti numbers of rational normal curves

To begin with, we study the rational normal curves $(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))$: indeed, they are a perfect example to examine, since we know explicitly from Subsection 2.7.1 their Betti table:

In particular, we see that the Betti numbers $k_{p,0}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))$ are uninteresting, and we concentrate on the Betti numbers $k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))$. It is enlightening to plot this Betti numbers for various values of *d*:



Figure 4.1: The plot on the left shows the Betti numbers $k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(10))$ and the plot on the right shows the Betti numbers $k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(20))$.

It is then quite natural from these figures to conjecture that the Betti numbers $k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))$ tend to a normal distribution as $d \longrightarrow +\infty$.

More precisely, for every $d \ge 0$ we fix a random variable X_d with natural values such that

$$\mathbb{P}(X_d = p) = \frac{k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))}{\sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d))} \quad \text{for all } p \in \mathbb{N}$$

then we are going to prove the following result.



Figure 4.2: The plot on the left shows the Betti numbers $k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(50))$ and the plot on the right shows the Betti numbers $k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(100))$.

Proposition 4.1.1. We have that

$$\frac{X_d - \mathbb{E}[X_d]}{\sqrt{Var[X_d]}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$$

in distribution as $d \to +\infty$ *.*

Before attacking this problem, we need some preliminaries from probability.

4.1.1 Discrete random variables and generating functions

The law of a discrete random variable is completely determined by its probability generating function.

Definition 4.1.1 (Probability generating function). Let *X* be a random variable with values in \mathbb{N} . Then we define the **probability generating function** (or **PGF**) of *X* as the power series

$$G_X(z) = \mathbb{E}[z^X] = \sum_{n \ge 0} \mathbb{P}(X=n) z^n$$

Definition 4.1.2 (Moment generating function). Let *X* be a random variable such that $\mathbb{E}[X^n] < +\infty$ for every $n \ge 0$. Then we define the **moment generating function** (or **MGF**) of *X* as the power series

$$\psi_X(z) = \mathbb{E}[e^{zX}] = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{\mathbb{E}[X^n]}{n!} z^n$$

Lemma 4.1.1. Let X be a random variable that takes a finite number of values in \mathbb{N} . Then

- 1. G_X is a polynomial.
- 2. $\psi_X(t) = \mathbb{E}[e^{tX}] = G_X(e^t).$
- 3. $\mathbb{E}[X] = G'_X(1)$ and $\mathbb{E}[X^2] = G''_X(1) + G'_x(1)$.
- 4. $Var[X] = G''_X(1) + G'_X(1) G'_X(1)^2$.

Proof. 1. This is clear.

- 2. This is also clear.
- 3. By definition, we see that $\mathbb{E}[X^n] = \psi_X^{(n)}(0)$ so that the thesis follows from point (2).
- 4. This follows from point (3) and the formula $\operatorname{Var}[X] = \mathbb{E}[X^2] \mathbb{E}[X]^2$.

The moment generating function gives us a criterion for convergence to a normal distribution.

Lemma 4.1.2. Let X_n be a sequence of random variables that take finite values in \mathbb{N} . If

$$\psi_{X_n}(t) \longrightarrow e^{rac{t^2}{2}}$$
 for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$

then $X_n \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0,1)$ in distribution.

Proof. See [Fel71].

Corollary 4.1.1. Let X_n be a sequence of random variables that take finite values in \mathbb{N} . Set $m_n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathbb{E}[X_n]$ and $\sigma_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sqrt{Var[X_n]}$. If

 $e^{-rac{m_n}{\sigma_n}t}G_{X_n}(e^{rac{t}{\sigma_n}})\longrightarrow e^{rac{t^2}{2}}$ for all $t\in\mathbb{R}$

then

$$\frac{X_n - m_n}{\sigma_n} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$$

in distribution.

Proof. Thanks to Lemma 4.1.2, it is enough to observe that

$$\psi_{\frac{X_n-m_n}{\sigma_n}}(t) = \mathbb{E}[e^{t\frac{X_n-m_n}{\sigma_n}}] = e^{-\frac{m_n}{\sigma_n}t}\mathbb{E}[e^{\frac{t}{\sigma_n}X_n}] = e^{-\frac{m_n}{\sigma_n}t}G_{X_n}(e^{\frac{t}{\sigma_n}})$$

Random variables from power series

We have seen before that to a discrete random variable we can associate a power series with positive coefficients. Conversely, given a power series with positive coefficients, we can associate to it a random variable, or better a distribution on \mathbb{N} :

Definition 4.1.3 (Random variable associated to a power series). Consider a power series

$$F(z) = \sum_{n \ge 0} p_n z^n$$

with nonnegative conefficients not all zero, which converges on the whole of \mathbb{C} . Then a random variable *X* with values in \mathbb{N} is said to be **associated to** *F* if its law is given by

$$\mathbb{P}(X=n) = \frac{p_n}{F(1)}$$

Lemma 4.1.3. Let X be a random variable associated to the power series F, as above. Then

- 1. $G_X(z) = \frac{F(z)}{F(1)}$.
- 2. $\mathbb{E}[X] = \frac{F'(1)}{F(1)}$.
- 3. $Var[X] = \frac{F''(1)}{F(1)} + \frac{F'(1)}{F(1)} \left(\frac{F'(1)}{F(1)}\right)^2$.

Proof. The first point is clear from the definition of a random variable associated to a power series. The other points follow from the first point and Lemma 4.1.1.

4.1.2 Asymptotic normality for Betti numbers of rational normal curves

With the language that we have just introduced, Proposition 4.1.1 can be formulated as follows: for every $d \ge 1$ we define the polynomial

$$F_d(z) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{p \ge 0} k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^1, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)) z^p = \sum_{p=1}^{d-1} p\binom{d}{p+1} z^p$$

we also define X_d to be a random variable associated to F_d and we set

$$m_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathbb{E}[X_d], \qquad \sigma_d = \sqrt{\operatorname{Var}[X_d]}$$

Then we want to prove that

$$\frac{X_d - m_d}{\sigma_d} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$$

in distribution, as $d \to +\infty$.

Lemma 4.1.4. With notations as before we have

1. $F_d(z) = d(1+z)^{d-1} - \frac{(1+z)^d}{z} + 1.$ 2. $F_d(1) = \frac{d}{2}2^d + 1.$ 3. $m_d \sim \frac{d}{2} \text{ as } d \to +\infty.$ 4. $\sigma_d \sim \frac{\sqrt{d}}{2} \text{ as } d \to +\infty.$

Proof. 1. This follows from a simple computation:

$$\begin{split} F_d(z) &= \sum_{p=1}^{d-1} p\binom{d}{p+1} z^p = z \sum_{p=1}^{d-1} p\binom{d}{p+1} z^{p-1} = z \cdot \frac{d}{dz} \left[\sum_{p=1}^{d-1} \binom{d}{p+1} z^p \right] = z \cdot \frac{d}{dz} \left[\sum_{p=2}^{d} \binom{d}{p} z^{p-1} \right] \\ &= z \cdot \frac{d}{dz} \left[\frac{1}{z} \sum_{p=2}^{d} \binom{d}{p} z^p \right] = z \cdot \frac{d}{dz} \left[\frac{(1+z)^d - (1+dz)}{z} \right] \\ &= z \left[\frac{(d(1+z)^{d-1} - d)z - ((1+z)^d - (1+dz))}{z^2} \right] = d(1+z)^{d-1} - d - \frac{(1+z)^d}{z} + \frac{1+dz}{z} \\ &= d(1+z)^{d-1} - \frac{(1+z)^d}{z} + 1 \end{split}$$

2. From point (1) we see that

$$F_d(1) = d2^{d-1} - 2^d + 1 = (d-2)2^{d-1} + 1$$

and then the asymptotic estimate is obvious.

3. After a small computation, we see that the derivative of $F_d(z)$ is given by

$$F'_{d}(z) = d(d-1)(1+z)^{d-2} - d\frac{(1+z)^{d-1}}{z} + \frac{(1+z)^{d}}{z^{2}}$$

so that

$$F'_d(1) = rac{d^2 - 3d + 4}{4} 2^d$$

and then we obtain

$$m_d = \frac{F'_d(1)}{F_d(1)} = \frac{1}{2}\left((d-1) + \frac{2}{d-2}\right) \sim \frac{d}{2}$$

for $d \to +\infty$.

4. Computing the second derivative of $F_d(z)$ we get

$$F_d''(z) = d(d-1)(d-2)(1+z)^{d-3} - d(d-1)\frac{(1+z)^{d-2}}{z} + 2d\frac{(1+z)^{d-1}}{z^2} - 2\frac{z(1+z)^d}{z^4}$$

so that

$$F_d''(1) = \frac{d^3 - 5d^2 + 12d - 16}{8}2^d$$

and

$$\frac{F_d''(1)}{F_d(1)} = \frac{1}{4} \left(d^2 - 3d + 6 - \frac{4}{d-2} \right)$$

To conclude, we just need to use the formula for the variance of Lemma 4.1.3.

$$\sigma_d^2 = \frac{F_d''(1)}{F_d(1)} + \frac{F_d'(1)}{F_d(1)} - \left(\frac{F_d'(1)}{F_d(1)}\right)^2 \sim \frac{1}{4}(d^2 - 3d + 6) + \frac{1}{2}(d - 1) - \frac{1}{4}(d^2 - 2d + 1)$$
$$\sim \frac{1}{4}d^2 - \frac{3}{4}d + \frac{1}{2}d - \frac{1}{4}d^2 + \frac{1}{2}d = \frac{d}{4}$$

Now we can prove Proposition 4.1.1:

Proof of Proposition **4.1.1**. Thanks to Lemma **4.1.1** and Lemma **4.1.3**, it is enough to prove that for every fixed $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} e^{-\frac{m_d}{\sigma_d}t} \frac{F_d\left(e^{\frac{t}{\sigma_d}}\right)}{F_d(1)} = e^{\frac{t^2}{2}}$$

Thanks to the estimates of Lemma 4.1.4, the limit that we have to compute is

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^d} F_d\left(e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right) = \lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^d} \left[d\left(1 + e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^{d-1} - \frac{\left(1 + e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^u}{e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}} + 1 \right]$$

Now, we observe that, as $d \to +\infty$, we have $e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}} \to 1$ and $\frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^d} \to 0$, so that the limit reduces to

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^{d}} \left[d\left(1 + e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^{d-1} - \left(1 + e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^{d} \right] = \lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^{d}} \left(1 + e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^{d} \left[\frac{d}{\left(1 + e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)} - 1 \right]$$
$$= \lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{2^{d}} \left(1 + e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^{d} \left[\frac{1}{\left(1 + e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)} - \frac{1}{d} \right] = \lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{2^{d}} \left(1 + e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^{d}$$

We can write

$$\frac{e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{2^d} \left(1 + e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^d = \frac{\left(e^{-\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^d}{2^d} \left(1 + e^{\frac{2t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^d = \left(\frac{e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}} + e^{-\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}}{2}\right)^d$$

but we observe that

$$e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}} = 1 + \frac{t}{\sqrt{d}} + \frac{t^2}{2d} + o\left(\frac{1}{d}\right)$$

as $d \to +\infty$, so that

$$e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}} + e^{-\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}} = 2\left(1 + \frac{t^2}{2d}\right) + o\left(\frac{1}{d}\right)$$

and then

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} \left(\frac{e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}} + e^{-\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}}{2} \right)^d = e^{\frac{t^2}{2}}$$

as we wanted.

4.2 Asymptotic normality for Betti numbers of smooth curves

Now we want to prove a generalization of the above result to curves of arbitrary genus. More precisely, let *C* be smooth, connected projective curve of genus *g*, and, for every $d \gg 0$, let L_d be a line bundle on *C* of degree *d*.

Then for every *d* we consider the random variable X_d with distribution

$$\mathbb{P}(X_d = p) = \frac{k_{p,1}(C, L_d)}{\sum_{n \ge 0} k_{n,1}(C, L_d)} \quad \text{for all } p \in \mathbb{N}$$

and we want to prove the following.

Theorem 4.2.1. As $d \to +\infty$ it holds that $\mathbb{E}[X_d] \sim \frac{d}{2}$, $Var[X_d] \sim \frac{d}{4}$ and moreover

$$\frac{X_d - \mathbb{E}[X_d]}{\sqrt{Var[X_d]}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$$

in distribution.

Remark 4.2.1. We recall from Remark 2.6.5 that the Betti table of (C, L_d) is given by

	0	1	2	3		d - 2g - 2	d - 2g - 1	d-2g	•••	d-g-1
0	1	-	—	-	•••	-	—	-	•••	-
1	-	*	*	*		*	*	?		?
2	-	-	_	_		—	—	?	•••	?

In particular, as we have already observed, the segment in which $k_{p,2}(C, L)$ could be different from zero has constant lenght, so that it becomes negligible with respect to the lenght of the table. This is the reason why we restrict our attention to the Betti numbers $k_{p,1}$.

To prove the above proposition, we need to study the Betti numbers $k_{p,1}$ for a curve of arbitrary genus.

Proposition 4.2.1. *Let C be a smooth connected projective curve of genus g and let* L_d *be a line bundle of degree d on C. Then, if* $d \gg 0$ *we have that*

1.
$$k_{p,1}(C, L_d) = \binom{d-g}{p}(d+1-g) - \binom{d-g-1}{p-1}d - \binom{d+1-g}{p+1}$$
 for $1 \le p \le d-2g-1$.
2. $k_{p,1}(C, L_d) \le (d+1-g)\binom{d+1-g}{p}$ for all p .

Proof. By Riemann-Roch, we know that $h^0(C, L_d) = d + 1 - g$ and now the second point is immediate, as $K_{p,1}(C, L_d)$ is by definition a quotient of a subspace of $\wedge^p H^0(X, L_d) \otimes H^0(X, L_d)$.

For the first point, we can proceed as we have done for the elliptic normal curves, in Subsection 2.7.2. We know from Proposition 2.1.1 that we have an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{0}(C, \wedge^{p+1}M_{L_{d}}) \longrightarrow \wedge^{p+1}H^{0}(C, L_{d}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(C, \wedge^{p}M_{L_{d}} \otimes L_{d}) \longrightarrow K_{p,1}(C, L_{d}) \longrightarrow 0$$

so that

$$k_{p,1}(C,L_d) = h^0(C,\wedge^p M_{L_d} \otimes L_d) - {d+1-g \choose p+1} + h^0(C,\wedge^{p+1} M_{L_d})$$

Now suppose that $1 \le p \le d - 2g - 1$, then from the Betti table of (C, L_d) and Corollary 2.1.3 we see that $h^0(C, \wedge^{p+1}M_{L_d}) = 0$, whereas from Corollary 2.1.1 we see that $H^1(X, \wedge^p M_L \otimes L) \cong K_{p-1,2}(X, L) = 0$. Then

$$k_{p,1}(C,L_d) = \chi(C,\wedge^p M_{L_d}\otimes L_d) - egin{pmatrix} d+1-g\ p+1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and we can conclude thanks to Lemma 2.7.1.

Now, for every $d \gg 0$ we define the polynomial

$$F_d(z) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{p=0}^{+\infty} k_{p,1}(C, L_{d+g}) z^p$$

and if we set $Y_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X_{d+g}$ we see that the random variable Y_d is associated to F_d by construction. We also define the polynomials

$$A_{d}(z) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -(d+1)\left(1 + \sum_{p=d-g}^{d} \binom{d}{p} z^{p}\right), \qquad B_{d}(z) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (d+g)z\left(\sum_{p=d-g-1}^{d-1} \binom{d-1}{p} z^{p}\right) \\ C_{d}(z) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{z}\left[1 + (1+d)z + \sum_{p=d-g+1}^{d+1} \binom{d+1}{p} z^{p}\right], \quad D_{d}(z) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{p=d-g}^{d-1} k_{p,1}(C, L_{d+g}) z^{p}$$

and we observe that these polynomials have always the same number of terms, indipendently of *d*.

As the last ingredient, we define another polynomial

$$H_d(z) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (d+1)(1+z)^d - (d+g)z(1+z)^{d-1} - \frac{(1+z)^{d+1}}{z}$$

Lemma 4.2.1. 1. If $d \gg 0$ then

$$F_d(z) = H_d(z) + A_d(z) + B_d(z) + C_d(z) + D_d(z)$$

- 2. $F_d(1) \sim \frac{d}{2} 2^d$ as $d \to +\infty$. 3. $\mathbb{E}[Y_d] \sim \frac{d}{2}$ as $d \to +\infty$
- 4. $Var[Y_d] \sim \frac{d}{4} \text{ as } d \to +\infty.$

Proof. 1. If $d \gg 0$ we see that $k_{0,1}(C, L_{d+g}) = 0$ from the Betti table, so that

$$F_d(z) = \sum_{p=1}^{d-g-1} k_{p,1}(C, L_{d+g}) z^p + D_d(z)$$

by definition of $D_d(z)$. Now, from Proposition 4.2.1, we see that

$$\sum_{p=1}^{d-g-1} k_{p,1}(C, L_{d+g}) z^p = (d+1) \sum_{p=1}^{d-g-1} \binom{d}{p} (d+1) z^p - (d+g) \sum_{p=1}^{d-g-1} \binom{d-1}{p-1} z^p - \sum_{p=1}^{d-g-1} \binom{d+1}{p+1} z^p$$

and we proceed to analyze the three summands separately. The first one is

$$(d+1)\sum_{p=1}^{d-g-1} \binom{d}{p} (d+1)z^p = (d+1)\left[(1+z)^d - \left(1 + \sum_{p=1}^{d-g-1} \binom{d}{p} z^p\right) \right] = (d+1)(1+z)^d + A_d(z)$$

the second one is

$$(d+g)\sum_{p=1}^{d-g-1} \binom{d-1}{p-1} z^p = (d+g)\sum_{p=0}^{d-g-2} \binom{d-1}{p} z^{p+1} = (d+g)z[(1+z)^d - B_d(z)]$$

the third one is

$$\sum_{p=1}^{d-g-1} \binom{d+1}{p+1} z^p = \sum_{p=2}^{d-g} \binom{d+1}{p} z^{p-1} = \frac{(1+z)^{d+1}}{z} - C_d(z)$$

and we conclude.
2. We begin by computing

$$H_d(1) = \frac{d-2-g}{2}2^d$$

and then we observe that $A_d(1)$, $B_d(1)$, $C_d(1)$ and $D_d(1)$ are at most polynomial in d: this follows from the fact that they always have the same number of terms, indipendently of d and (for D_d) from the estimate of Proposition 4.2.1. Then, as $d \to +\infty$ it follows that $F_d(1) \sim H_d(1) \sim \frac{d}{2}2^d$.

3. To get the mean $\mathbb{E}[Y_d]$ we have to estimate the ratio $\frac{F'_d(1)}{F_d(1)}$. However, we see that $A'_d(1), B'_d(1), C'_d(1)$ and $D'_d(1)$ are at most polynomial in d for the same reason as before, whereas $H_d(1) \sim d2^{d-1}$. Hence, as far as only asymptotics is concerned, we can replace F_d with H_d , that is $\frac{F'_{d+g}(1)}{F_{d+g}(1)} \sim \frac{H'_d(1)}{H_d(1)}$ as $d \to +\infty$. Now, it is easy to compute that

$$H'_{d}(z) = d(d+1)(1+z)^{d-1} - (d+g)(1+z)^{d-1} - (d-1)(d+g)z(1+z)^{d-2} - (d+1)\frac{(1+z)^{d}}{z} + \frac{(1+z)^{d+2}}{z^{2}} + \frac$$

and then we see that

$$H'_d(1) = \frac{d^2 - (3+g)d + (4+g)}{4}2^d$$

and consequently, as $d \to +\infty$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}[Y_d] \sim \frac{H'_d(1)}{H_d(1)} = \frac{d-1}{2} + \frac{1}{d-2-g}$$

4. We have to estimate

$$\operatorname{Var}[Y_d] = \frac{F_d''(1)}{F_d(1)} + \frac{F_d'(1)}{F_d(1)} - \left(\frac{F_d'(1)}{F_d(1)}\right)^2$$

but reasoning as in the previous point, we can substitute F_d with H_d , and after some computations we get the desired result.

Proof of Theorem 4.2.1. Since $Y_d = X_{d+g}$, we can just work with the Y_d . The estimates for the mean and the variance follow from the previous lemma. Now, we have to prove that

$$\frac{Y_d - \mathbb{E}[Y_d]}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}[Y_d]}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$$

and to this end it is sufficient to prove that

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} e^{-\frac{\mathbb{E}[Y_d]t}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}[Y_d]}}} \frac{F_d(e^{\frac{1}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}[Y_d]}}})}{F_d(1)} = e^{\frac{t^2}{2}}$$

for every fixed $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Thanks to the estimates in the previous lemma, this limit is the same as

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^d} F_d\left(e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)$$

We claim that

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^d} A_d\left(e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right) = 0$$

and indeed

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^d} A_d\left(e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right) = -\lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{2^d} \frac{d+1}{d} \left(1 + \sum_{p=d-g}^d \binom{d}{p} e^{\frac{pt}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)$$
$$= \lim_{d \to +\infty} \left(\frac{e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{2^d} + \frac{e^{\frac{(d-g)t}{\sqrt{d}} - \sqrt{d}t}}{2^d} \sum_{p=0}^g \binom{d}{p} e^{\frac{pt}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)$$
$$= \lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{e^{\frac{(d-g)t}{\sqrt{d}} - \sqrt{d}t}}{2^d} P(d)$$

where P(d) is a polynomial in d. And then one can easily see that this limit is zero. In the same way, we can show that

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^d} B_d\left(e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right) = \lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^d} C_d\left(e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right) = \lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^d} D_d\left(e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right) = 0$$

and then what remains to be proved is that

$$\lim_{d\to+\infty}\frac{2e^{-\sqrt{dt}}}{d2^d}H_d\left(e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)=e^{\frac{t^2}{2}}$$

but it is easy to show that

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{d2^d} H_d\left(e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right) = \lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{2(d-g-2)}{2d} \frac{e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{2^d} \left(1+e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^d = \lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{e^{-\sqrt{d}t}}{2^d} \left(1+e^{\frac{t}{\sqrt{d}}}\right)^d$$

and we have already seen in the proof of Proposition 4.1.1 that this last limit is precisely $e^{\frac{t^2}{2}}$.

Ein, Erman and Lazarsfeld [EEL13] have conjectured that this asymptotic normality remains true for higher dimensions as well.

Conjecture 1. Let X be a smooth connected projective variety of dimension n. Let A be an ample line bundle on X ans for every $d \ge 0$ set $L_d = A^{\otimes d}$. Then fix an index $1 \le q \le n$ and consider for every d a random variable Y_d with distribution

$$\mathbb{P}(Y_d = p) = \frac{k_{p,q}(X, L_d)}{\sum_{h=0}^{+\infty} k_{h,q}(X, L_d)} \quad \text{for all } p \ge 0$$

Then, as $d \to +\infty$

$$\frac{Y_d - \mathbb{E}[Y_d]}{\sqrt{Var\left[Y_d\right]}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$$

in distribution.

We remark that the techniques that we have used for curves were numerical: we were able to prove our results because we had an explicit knowledge of the Betti numbers. In higher dimensions, we do not have this knowledge, and the problem appears to be much more difficult. In the next two chapters, we are going to expose some techniques that could be used to attack it in the case of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$.

Chapter 5

Cohomology of homogeneous vector bundles

In this chapter we are going to present a method to compute the cohomology of homogeneous vector bundles on homogeneous varieties, following [OR06]. The running example for this chapter will be that of the projective space $\mathbb{P}(V)$.

5.1 Notations and preliminaries

Throughout this chapter we fix a semisimple, connected linear algebraic group *G*, a maximal torus T < G and a Borel subgroup B < G such that T < B.

We denote by $X^*(T)$ the group of characters of T, by $W = N_G(T)/Z_G(T)$ the Weyl group of T, by $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T) = X^*(T) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ the real vector space spanned by the characters and we fix on $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T)$ a *W*-invariant positive-definite scalar product (\cdot, \cdot) .

Example 5.1.1 (The special linear group - I). Let *n* be a positive integer and consider the groups $\tilde{G} = GL(n+1)$ and G = SL(n+1). We choose the maximal tori $\tilde{T} < \tilde{G}$ and T < G given by diagonal matrices

$$\widetilde{T} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} t_0 & & \\ & t_1 & \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & & t_n \end{pmatrix} \middle| t_i \in \mathbf{k}^* \right\} \qquad T = \widetilde{T} \cap G = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} t_0 & & & \\ & t_1 & & \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & & t_n \end{pmatrix} \middle| t_i \in \mathbf{k}^*, \ t_0 \dots t_n = 1 \right\}$$

and the Borel subgroups $\widetilde{B} < \widetilde{G}$ and B < G given by lower-triangular matrices

$$\widetilde{B} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} t_0 & & \\ * & t_1 & & \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \\ * & * & * & t_n \end{pmatrix} \middle| t_i \in \mathbf{k}^* \right\} \qquad B = \widetilde{B} \cap G = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} t_0 & & & \\ * & t_1 & & \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \\ * & * & * & t_n \end{pmatrix} \middle| t_i \in \mathbf{k}^*, \ t_0 t_1 \dots t_n = 1 \right\}$$

For every i = 0, ..., n we denote by $\tilde{\chi}_i$ and χ_i the characters of \tilde{T} and T respectively given by

$$\widetilde{\chi}_i \colon \widetilde{T} \longrightarrow \mathbb{G}_m \qquad t \mapsto t_i \qquad \qquad \chi_i = \widetilde{\chi}_{i|T} \colon T \longrightarrow \mathbb{G}_m \qquad t \mapsto t_i$$

Then we see easily that $X^*(\widetilde{T}) = \mathbb{Z}\widetilde{\chi_0} \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathbb{Z}\widetilde{\chi_n}$ and that $X^*(T)$ is generated by the χ_i , so that we have a surjective homomorphism

$$X^*(\widetilde{T}) \longrightarrow X^*(T) \qquad \widetilde{\chi}_i \mapsto \chi_i$$

that gives an isomorphism

$$X^*(T) \cong \mathbb{Z}\widetilde{\chi_0} \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathbb{Z}\widetilde{\chi_n} / \langle \widetilde{\chi_0} + \cdots + \widetilde{\chi_n} \rangle$$

In particular, tensoring with $\cdot \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ we see that

$$\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T) = \mathbb{R}\widetilde{\chi_0} \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathbb{R}\widetilde{\chi_n} \qquad \Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T) \cong \mathbb{R}\widetilde{\chi_0} \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathbb{R}\widetilde{\chi_n} / \langle \widetilde{\chi_0} + \cdots + \widetilde{\chi_n} \rangle$$

Now, it is a simple exercise to show that the Weyl group of both \widetilde{T} and T is the symmetric group $W = S_{n+1}$ that acts by permutations of the diagonal elements. In particular, we see that the standard euclidean product on $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(\widetilde{T})$ is *W*-invariant, and since the action of *W* leaves the subspace $\langle \widetilde{\chi}_0 + \cdots + \widetilde{\chi}_n \rangle$ fixed, we get a *W*-equivariant isomorphism $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T) \cong \langle \widetilde{\chi}_0 + \cdots + \widetilde{\chi}_n \rangle^{\perp}$, that induces a *W*-invariant scalar product on $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T)$. In particular, taking as a basis of $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T)$ the elements

$$\alpha_i = \chi_i - \chi_{i-1}$$
 $i = 1, \ldots, n$

we see that under this scalar product we have

$$(\alpha_i, \alpha_j) = \begin{cases} 2, & \text{if } i = j \\ -1, & \text{if } j = i \pm 1, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Continuing with the general case, the torus T acts on the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and induces a decomposition into root spaces

$$\mathfrak{g}=\mathfrak{t}\oplus igoplus_{lpha\in\Phi}\mathfrak{g}_{lpha}$$

where for every character $\alpha \in X^*(T)$ we define

$$\mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} = \{ v \in \mathfrak{g} \mid t \cdot v = \alpha(t)v, \text{ for all } t \in T \}$$

and then $\mathfrak{t} = \mathfrak{g}_0 = Lie(T)$ whereas $\Phi = \{ \alpha \in X^*(T) \mid \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} \neq 0 \}$ is the set of roots of *T*. As *G* is semisimple, the roots span $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T)$.

The choice of a Borel subgroup defines a subset of the roots

$$\Phi^+ = \Phi(B) = \{ \alpha \in \Phi \mid \mathfrak{g}_\alpha \subseteq Lie(B) \}$$

and then we know that $\Phi(B)$ is a positive subset of roots and that

$$Lie(B) = \mathfrak{t} \oplus \bigoplus_{lpha \in \Phi^+} \mathfrak{g}_{lpha} \qquad \mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{t} \oplus \bigoplus_{lpha \in \Phi^+} \mathfrak{g}_{lpha} \oplus \bigoplus_{lpha \in \Phi^+} \mathfrak{g}_{-lpha}$$

The choice of the positive subset Φ^+ defines an unique basis of simple roots $\Delta = (\alpha_i)_{i \in I} \subseteq \Phi^+$, that is a subset of linearly independent roots, such that every positive root is a linear combination with nonnegative coefficients of the α_i .

For every root $\alpha \in \Phi$ we denote by $r_{\alpha} \in W$ the reflection with respect to α , that is the isometry that fixes pointwise the hyperplane orthogonal to α . It can be proved (see for example [Hum81]) that the Weyl group W is generated by the reflections r_{α_i} with respect to the simple roots $\alpha_i \in \Delta$. For every $w \in W$ we define its length $\ell(w)$ as the minimum number of reflection r_{α_i} with respect to simple roots needed to generate w. Equivalently, $\ell(w)$ coincides with the number of positive roots sent into negative roots by w.

We denote by $(\lambda_i)_{i \in I}$ the fundamental weights corresponding to Δ , that is, the elements of $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}$ defined by

$$\frac{2(\lambda_i, \alpha_j)}{(\alpha_i, \alpha_i)} = \delta_{ij} \quad \text{for all } i \in I$$

In particular, if we define the Cartan matrix of *T* as the matrix *C* such that

$$C_{ij} = \frac{2(\alpha_i, \alpha_j)}{(\alpha_j, \alpha_j)}$$

we see that the columns of *C* are the coordinates of the (α_i) with respect to the basis (λ_i) , or that the columns of C^{-1} are the coordinates of the (λ_i) with respect to the basis (α_i) .

The weights of G are the linear combinations with integer coefficients of the fundamental weights and the dominant weights are the linear combinations with nonnegative integer coefficients. The fundamental Weyl chamber of G is defined as

$$D = \left\{ \sum x_i \lambda_i \middle| x_i \ge 0 \right\}$$

and the weights in D are precisely the dominant weights. The group G is simply connected if the character lattice coincides with the weight lattice.

The irreducible representations of *G* correspond to the dominant weights: for each dominant weight λ we denote by Γ^{λ} the corresponding irreducible representation.

Example 5.1.2 (The special linear group - II). We continue with our previous example. The Lie algebra of G = SL(n+1) is given by the matrices with trace zero

$$Lie(G) = \mathfrak{sl}_{n+1} = \{ A \in M(n+1, \mathbf{k}) \mid \operatorname{Tr} A = 0 \} \}$$

and the torus *T* acts over it by conjugation: if $A = (a_{ij}) \in \mathfrak{sl}_{n+1}$ and $t \in T$ then

$$t \cdot A = tAt^{-1} = (t_i t_j^{-1} a_{ij})$$

so that the set of roots of T is

$$\Phi = \{ \chi_i - \chi_j \mid i \neq j \}$$

observe that these roots do span $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T)$, for example because they contain the basis $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$.

Now it is clear that the Lie algebra of *B* is given by the lower-triangular matrices with trace zero, so that

$$\Phi^{+} = \Phi(B) = \{ \chi_{i} - \chi_{j} \mid i > j \}$$

and the subset of simple roots is given precisely by $\Delta = (\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_n)$. The Cartan matrix is given by

$$C = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 & & & \\ -1 & 2 & -1 & & & \\ & -1 & 2 & -1 & & \\ & & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \\ & & & -1 & 2 & -1 \\ & & & & -1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$

so that, for every i = 1, ..., n we have

$$\alpha_i = -\lambda_{i-1} + 2\lambda_i - \lambda_{i+2}$$

with the convention that $\lambda_0 = \lambda_{n+1} = 0$.

If $(\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_n)$ are the fundamental weights and $p_1\lambda_1 + \cdots + p_n\lambda_r$ with $p_i \in \mathbb{N}$ is a dominant weight, then we denote by $\Gamma^{(p_1,...,p_n)}$ the irreducible representation of *G* corresponding to $p_1\lambda_1 + \cdots + p_n\lambda_n$. In the language of Schur functors one can see (for example from [FH91]) that

$$\Gamma^{(p_1,...,p_n)} = S^{\lambda}(V)$$
 where $\lambda = (p_1 + \dots + p_n, p_1 + \dots + p_{n-1}, \dots, p_1)$

and $V = \mathbf{k}^{n+1}$ is the standard representation of *G*.

We can also study the action of the Weyl group: for every root $\alpha \in \Phi$, we denote by $r_{\alpha} \in W$ the reflection with respect to the hyperplane orthogonal to α . Then for every simple root $\alpha_i \in \Delta$ we have

$$r_{\alpha_i}(\lambda_j) = \lambda_j - \frac{2(\alpha_i, \lambda_j)}{(\alpha_i, \alpha_i)} \alpha_i = \lambda_j - \delta_{ij} \alpha_i = \lambda_j - \delta_{ij} (-\lambda_{i-1} + 2\lambda_i - \lambda_{i+1})$$

so that

$$r_{\alpha_i}(\lambda_j) = \begin{cases} \lambda_{j-1} - \lambda_j + \lambda_{j+1}, & \text{if } i = j \\ \lambda_j, & \text{if } i \neq j \end{cases}$$

As a particular example, we consider the case n = 2: the Cartan matrix and its inverse are

$$C = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 \\ -1 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \qquad C^{-1} = \frac{1}{3} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$

so that the fundamental weights are given by

$$\lambda_1 = \frac{2}{3}\alpha_1 + \frac{1}{3}\alpha_2$$
 $\lambda_2 = \frac{1}{3}\alpha_1 + \frac{2}{3}\alpha_2$

and we can represent the weight lattice by



Figure 5.1: Weight lattice of SL(3): the fundamental weights are depicted in green, the root system in blue and the shaded part corresponds to the Weyl chamber D

Recall that a parabolic subgroup P < G is a connected closed subgroup such that the quotient G/P is projective. Equivalently, it is a connected closed subgroup that contains a Borel subgroup.

Fix now an arbitrary subset of simple roots $\Sigma \subseteq \Delta$: then we set

$$\Phi(\Sigma) = \left\{ \alpha \in \Phi^+ \middle| \alpha = \sum_{\alpha_i \in \Delta \setminus \Sigma} n_i \alpha_i \right\}$$

and we define $P(\Sigma)$ as the connected closed subgroup of *G* such that

$$Lie(P(\Sigma)) = \mathfrak{t} \oplus \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Phi(\Sigma)} \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} \oplus \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Phi^+} \mathfrak{g}_{-\alpha}$$

Then $P(\Sigma)$ is a parabolic subgroup: indeed, since $\Phi^+ \subseteq \Phi$ is a positive subsystem of roots, then $-\Phi^+$ is a positive subsystem as well, so that there is a Borel subgroup $B^- < G$ such that

 $Lie(B^-) = \mathfrak{t} \oplus \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Phi^+} \mathfrak{g}_{-\alpha}$, and then it is clear that $B^- < P(\Sigma)$ by construction. Conversely, every parabolic subgroup of *G* is conjugated to a parabolic subgroup of the form $P(\Sigma)$ for a certain $\Sigma \subseteq \Delta$ (cfr. [Ott]).

Now, let $P = P(\Sigma)$ and let $N \triangleleft P$ be the unipotent radical of P, that is the maximal connected unipotent normal subgroup of P. Then its Lie algebra is

$$Lie(N) = \mathfrak{n} = \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Phi^+ \setminus \Phi(\Sigma)} \mathfrak{g}_{-\alpha}$$

so that the quotient Lie(P)/Lie(N) is a subalgebra and then we know that there is a closed reductive subgroup R < P such that

$$Lie(R) = \mathfrak{r} = \mathfrak{t} \oplus \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Phi(\Sigma)} \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} \oplus \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Phi(\Sigma)} \mathfrak{g}_{-\alpha} \qquad P = N \rtimes R$$

This is called a Levi decomposition of *P* (for a parabolic subgroup there is always one, even in positive characteristic [Hum81]).

Now, observe that the group P is not reductive in general, however thanks to the Levi decomposition we can say which representations of P are completely reducible, that is, those that can be split into irreducible ones.

Theorem 5.1.1 (Ise's theorem). A representation $\rho: P \longrightarrow GL(V)$ is completely reducible if and only if the induced representation $\rho_{|N}: N \longrightarrow GL(V)$ is trivial.

Proof. It is clear that if a representation is trivial on N then it is completely reducible, as R is reductive. To prove the converse, we may suppose that the representation is irreducible: if N acts nontrivially on V then we see that V^N is a subrepresentation of P (as N is normal in G), which is neither the whole V nor zero (as N is unipotent), and this is absurd.

Remark 5.1.1. In particular, from Theorem 5.1.1 it follows that the irreducible representations of *P* correspond exactly to the irreducible representations of *R*.

Observe that *T* is a maximal torus for *R* as well and that the root system of *R* corresponds precisely to $\Phi(\Sigma)$, and a set of simple roots is given by $\Delta \setminus \Sigma$. The irreducible representations of *R* correspond precisely to the weights of *T* of the form

$$\lambda = \sum n_i \lambda_i$$
 $n_i \in \mathbb{Z}$, $n_i \ge 0$ if $\alpha_i \in \Delta \setminus \Sigma$

the fundamental Weyl chamber of R is

$$D' = \left\{ \sum x_i \lambda_i \middle| x_i \ge 0 \text{ if } \alpha_i \in \Delta \setminus \Sigma \right\}$$

and the dominant weights of R are precisely those in D'. We also define

$$W' = \{ w \in W \mid wD \subseteq D' \}$$

Example 5.1.3 (The projective space - I). Consider in the group G = SL(n + 1) the subgroup

$$P = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{-1} \mid x_1 \cdots x_n}{0} \\ \vdots \\ 0 \mid A \end{pmatrix} \middle| A \in GL(n), \ d = \det A, \ x_i \in \mathbf{k} \right\}$$

then, in our previous notations we see that this is the parabolic subgroup $P = P(\{\alpha_1\})$ and indeed $G/P \cong \mathbb{P}^n$ is projective.

The unipotent radical of $N \triangleleft P$ and the Levi complement R < P are given by

$$N = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & x_1 \cdots x_n \\ 0 & \\ \vdots & \\ 0 & \\ \end{bmatrix} \middle| x_i \in \mathbf{k} \right\} \qquad R = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} d^{-1} & 0 \cdots 0 \\ 0 & \\ \vdots & \\ 0 & \\ \end{bmatrix} \middle| A \in GL(n), \ d = \det A \right\} \cong GL(n)$$

and the dominant weights for *R* are those of the form $p_1\lambda_1 + \cdots + p_n\lambda_n$ with $p_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $p_i \ge 0$ for all $i \ge 2$. In the language of Schur functors, the irreducible representation of *R* corresponding to $p_1\lambda_1 + \cdots + p_n\lambda_n$ is

$$S^{\mu}(U) \otimes \det^{p_1}(U)$$

where $U = V/\langle e_0 \rangle$, $\mu = (p_2 + \cdots + p_n, p_2 + \cdots + p_{n-1}, p_2)$ and det(U) is the determinantal representation.

For instance, if n = 2 we have



Figure 5.2: The lightly shaded part D' correspond to the fundamental Weyl chamber of R = GL(2). The irreducible representation corresponding to the weight $m\lambda_1 + n\lambda_2 \in D'$ is $S^nU \otimes \det^m(U)$

5.2 Vector bundles and representations

We are interested in studying vector bundles on the smooth projective variety X = G/P. In all what follows, we will denote by $\pi: G \longrightarrow X$ the natural projection and by $z \in X$ the point fixed by P, corresponding to the lateral class $1_G P$.

5.2.1 A distinguished open cover of *G*/*P*

From what we have seen above, we have the decomposition

$$\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{p} \oplus \bigoplus_{lpha \in \Phi^+ \setminus \Phi(\Sigma)} \mathfrak{g}_{lpha}$$

and we define the unipotent connected closed subgroup $U_P < G$ by the property

$$Lie(U_P) = \bigoplus_{lpha \in \Phi^+ \setminus \Phi(\Sigma)} \mathfrak{g}_{lpha}$$

Lemma 5.2.1. We have that

- 1. $U_P \cap P = \{ 1_G \}.$
- 2. $U_P \cdot P$ is open in G.
- 3. $U_P \cdot z$ is open in X.
- *Proof.* 1. First we observe that $Lie(U_P \cap P) = Lie(U_P) \cap Lie(P) = 0$ so that $U_P \cap P$ must have dimension 0. Since every subgroup of an unipotent subgroup is connected, this implies the thesis.
 - 2. The group $U_P \times P$ acts on *G* by

$$(U_P \times P) \times G \longrightarrow G$$
 $((u, p), g) \mapsto ugp^{-1}$

and $U_P \cdot P$ is precisely the orbit of 1_G under this action. In particular, we know that $U_P \cdot P$ is open in its closure, but as $\dim(U_P \cdot P) = \dim U_P + \dim P = \dim G$, we see that $\overline{U_P \cdot P} = G$ and we conclude.

3. This follows as in the previous point, considering the natural action of U_P on X and the orbit of z.

Now, for every $g \in G$ we can consider the open subset $A_g = gU_P \cdot z$. It is clear that the A_g form an open cover of X and, moreover, we have isomorphisms

$$U_P \xrightarrow{\sim} A_g \qquad u \mapsto guP$$

so that this is an affine open cover of X. Moreover, it is clear that we have isomorphisms

$$\pi^{-1}(A_g) = gU_P P \longrightarrow U_P \times P \qquad gup \mapsto (u, p)$$

5.2.2 Homogeneous vector bundles and representations

First we define homogeneous vector bundles on *X*.

Definition 5.2.1 (Homogeneous vector bundles). Let X = G/P as before. An **homogeneous** vector bundle on *X* is a vector bundle $E \longrightarrow X$ together with a regular action $\sigma: G \times E \longrightarrow E$ of *G* such that the following diagram commutes



and the maps

$$\sigma(g,\cdot)\colon E_x\longrightarrow E_{g(x)}$$

are linear for every $g \in G$ and $x \in X$.

Remark 5.2.1. Obviously, a morphism between two homogeneous vector bundles $\sigma_1: G \times E_1 \longrightarrow E_1$ and $\sigma_2: G \times E_2 \longrightarrow E_2$ on *X* is a morphism of vector bundles $f: E_1 \longrightarrow E_2$ such that the following diagram commutes

$$\begin{array}{c} G \times E_1 \xrightarrow{\sigma_1} E_1 \\ \operatorname{id}_G \times f & \downarrow \\ G \times E_2 \xrightarrow{\sigma_2} E_2 \end{array}$$

It is easy to show that homogeneous vector bundles on *X* form a category that we denote by $HomVec_X$.

Remark 5.2.2. let *E* be an homogeneous vector bundle on *X* and let $z \in X$ denote the class of *P*. Then the fiber E_z is naturally a representation of *P*. It is easy to see that this gives a functor

$$\mathbf{HomVec}_X \longrightarrow \mathbf{Mod}_P \qquad E \mapsto E_z$$

we want to show now that this functor is an equivalence of categories.

Let $\rho: P \longrightarrow GL(V)$ be a regular representation of *P*, we want to define an homogeneous vector bundle E_{ρ} on *X* such that $E_{\rho,z} \cong V$.

To present the idea, let us work just with sets: we have a natural action of *P* over $G \times V$ given by

$$P \times (G \times V) \longrightarrow G \times V$$
 $(p, (g, v)) \mapsto (gp^{-1}, p \cdot v)$

and we denote $G \times_P V \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (G \times V) / P$. Notice that we have a natural map

$$p\colon G\times_P V\longrightarrow X \qquad [g,v]\mapsto gP$$

and a natural action

$$G \times (G \times_P V) \longrightarrow G \times_P V \qquad (g, [h, v]) \mapsto [gh, v]$$

such that the following diagram commutes



and moreover we see that the fiber $p^{-1}(z) = \{ [1, v] \mid v \in V \}$ is naturally isomorphic to *V* as a *P*-module.

To actually build $G \times_P V$, consider the open affine cover of X given by the $(A_g)_{g \in G}$ and the isomorphisms

$$U_P \longrightarrow A_g \qquad u \mapsto guP$$

then over U_P consider the vector bundle given by $U_P \times V \longrightarrow U_P$. It is easy to show that these maps can be glued together over the open affine subsets A_g to form a vector bundle $E_\rho \longrightarrow X$ on X that corresponds to $G \times_P V$ at the level of closed points. We denote the whole of E_ρ again by $G \times_P V$, as there is no risk of confusion.

In this way, we have defined a functor

$$\mathbf{Mod}_P \longrightarrow \mathbf{HomVec}_X \qquad V \mapsto G \times_P V$$

Proposition 5.2.1. The two functors

$$HomVec_X \longrightarrow Mod_P \qquad E \mapsto E_z$$

and

$$Mod_P \longrightarrow HomVec_X \qquad V \mapsto G \times_P V$$

define an equivalence of categories between P-modules and homogeneous vector bundles over G/P.

Proof. We have already showed before that if *V* is a *P*-module, then $(G \times_P V)_z$ is naturally isomorphic to *V* as a *P*-module. Conversely, take an homogeneous vector bundle *E* over X = G/P: then it is easy to show that we have a morphism of vector bundles

$$G \times_P E_z \longrightarrow E \qquad [g,v] \mapsto g \cdot v$$

and this is bijective (at the level of closed points) between smooth varieties of the same dimension. Then, by Zariski's Main Theorem, it is an isomorphism. It is clear that this choice of an isomorphism is natural, and this concludes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

Example 5.2.1 (Tangent bundle and cotangent bundle). Let T_X be the tangent bundle of X. Then it is easy to see that we have an isomorphism of P-modules $T_{X,z} \cong \mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{p}$, so that T_X corresponds to the representation

$$\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{p} = \bigoplus_{lpha \in \Phi^+ \setminus \Phi(\Sigma)} \mathfrak{g}_{lpha}$$

whereas Ω^1_X corresponds to the representation

$$\mathfrak{n} = igoplus_{lpha \in \Phi^+ ackslash \Phi(\Sigma)} \mathfrak{g}_{-lpha}$$

Example 5.2.2 (The projective space - II). Let us consider the case of $X = \mathbb{P}^n = SL(n+1)/P(\alpha_1)$.

For every $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ we see that the line bundle $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^r}(a)$ corresponds to the representation det^{*a*} of *R*. Instead, the standard representation *U* of *R* corresponds to quotient bundle *Q* defined by the exact sequence

 $0\longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^r}(-1)\longrightarrow V\otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^r}\longrightarrow Q\longrightarrow 0$

(observe that we are now seeing \mathbb{P}^r as the set of lines in \mathbf{k}^{r+1} , this is for simplicity as otherwise we should put a dual in all the representations).

To determine the cotangent bundle, we observe that

$$\Phi^+ \setminus \Phi(\alpha_1) = \{ \alpha_1, \alpha_1 + \alpha_2, \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3, \dots, \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_n \}$$

so that the weights ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n of the cotangent bundle $\Omega^1_{\mathbb{P}^n}$ are

$$\xi_i = -(\alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_i) = -\lambda_1 - \lambda_i + \lambda_{i+1}$$

In particular, we see that the dominant weight is $\xi_1 = -2\lambda_1 + \lambda_2$, so that the cotangent bundle correspond to the irreducible representation $\wedge^{n-1}U \otimes \det(U)^{-2} \cong (U)^{\vee} \otimes \det(U)^{-1}$. From what we have said before, it follows that $\Omega_{\mathbb{P}^r}^1 \cong \wedge^{n-1}Q(-2)$.

We also see that all the bundles $\Omega'_{\mathbb{P}^r}$ are irreducible, as they correspond to irreducible representations of *R*.

5.3 Hermitian symmetric varieties and Higgs bundles

We want to study homogeneous bundles beyond the irreducible ones, that is the same as studying arbitrary representations of *P*.

We start by introducing an useful notation:

5.3.1 The gr functor

Definition 5.3.1 (The gr functor). We define the functor

 $\operatorname{gr} \colon \operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}_P \longrightarrow \operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}_R \qquad V \mapsto \operatorname{gr} V$

that simply sends a representation of *P* to its restriction as a representation of *R*.

Remark 5.3.1. Thanks to Proposition 5.2.1, we can look at this functor also as a functor from thecategory of homogeneous vector bundles on *X* to the category of completely reducible homogeneous vector bundles on *X*. Moreover, the functor restricts to the identity on the irreducible homogeneous bundles.

Remark 5.3.2. From Theorem 5.1.1 it is clear that gr gives a correspondence between completely reducible representations of P and representations of R. In particular, this restrict to a correspondence between irreducible representations of P and irreducible representations of R.

Remark 5.3.3. It is clear that *gr* is an exact functor. Moreover it is easy to check that we have the following properties

- $\operatorname{gr}(E^{\vee}) = \operatorname{gr}(E)^{\vee}$
- $\operatorname{gr}(E_1 \oplus E_2) = \operatorname{gr}(E_1) \oplus \operatorname{gr}(E_2)$
- $\operatorname{gr}(E_1 \otimes E_2) = \operatorname{gr}(E_1) \otimes \operatorname{gr}(E_2)$
- $\operatorname{gr}(\wedge^p E) = \wedge^p \operatorname{gr}(E)$
- $\operatorname{gr}(S^p E) = S^p(\operatorname{gr}(E))$

Remark 5.3.4. We can compute *gr* also by means of filtrations: for every *P*-module *E* there is a filtration

$$0 = E_0 \subseteq E_1 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq E_{p-1} \subseteq E_p = E$$

of subrepresentations such that E_i/E_{i-1} are irreducible *P*-modules for every i = 1, ..., p. Then it is clear that

$$\operatorname{gr}(E) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{p} E_i / E_{i-1}$$

Moreover, this shows that the right hand side does not depend on the chosen filtration.

5.3.2 Extending representations

Recall that we have a fixed Levi decomposition $P = N \rtimes R$, so that *R* acts on *N* by conjugation. Now observe that for every representation

$$\rho: P \longrightarrow GL(V)$$

of *P*, we have the two induced representations

$$\rho_{|N}: N \longrightarrow GL(V) \qquad \operatorname{gr}(\rho): R \longrightarrow GL(V)$$

and it is clear that the map $\rho_{|N}: N \longrightarrow GL(V)$ is *R*-equivariant, where *R* acts by conjugation on both sides. We can recover the representation ρ from the two representations $\rho_{|N}$ and $gr(\rho)$, and in fact this gives a complete characterization of all the representations of *P*.

To state this precisely, we define the category $\mathbf{Ext}_N\mathbf{Mod}_R$ as the one whose objects are couples (V, α) , where V is an R-module and $\alpha \colon N \longrightarrow GL(V)$ is a representation of N that is R-equivariant (with respect to the conjugation on both sides). The definition of a morphism in this category is clear, and it is also clear that the restriction of a representation of P to the representations of R and N defines a functor. It is easy to see that this is actually an equivalence of categories:

Lemma 5.3.1. The functor

$$Mod_P \longrightarrow Ext_N Mod_R \qquad \rho \mapsto (gr(\rho), \rho_{|N})$$

is an equivalence of categories.

Proof. Take an element (V, α) in $Ext_N Mod_R$, for simplicity we denote by $\beta \colon R \longrightarrow GL(V)$ the representation of *R*. We can define a representation of *P* on *V* as

$$\rho \colon P = (N \rtimes R) \longrightarrow GL(V) \qquad nr \mapsto \alpha(n)\beta(r)$$

To show that this is actually an action observe that for every $r_1, r_2 \in R, n_1, n_2 \in N$ we have that

$$\rho(n_1 r_1 n_2 r_2) = \rho(n_1 r_1 n_2 r_1^{-1} r_1 r_2) = \alpha(n_1 r_1 n_2 r_1^{-1}) \beta(r_1 r_2) = \alpha(n_1) \alpha(r_1 n_2 r_1^{-1}) \beta(r_1) \beta(r_2)$$

= $\alpha(n_1) \beta(r_1) \alpha(n_2) \beta(r_1)^{-1} \beta(r_1) \beta(r_2) = \alpha(n_1) \beta(r_1) \alpha(n_2) \beta(r_2) = \rho(n_1 r_1) \rho(r_2 n_2)$

It is now very easy to show that in this way we have defined a functor

$$\mathbf{Ext}_N\mathbf{Mod}_R\longrightarrow\mathbf{Mod}_P$$

that is the inverse of the one above.

Since *N* is simply connected, to give an *R*-equivariant morphism of groups $\beta \colon N \longrightarrow GL(V)$ is the same as giving an *R*-equivariant morphism of Lie algebras $\theta \colon \mathfrak{n} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{gl}(V)$. More precisely, we define another category $\operatorname{Ext}_{\mathfrak{n}}\operatorname{Mod}_R$ whose objects are couples (V, θ) , where *V* is an *R*-module and $\theta \colon \mathfrak{n} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{gl}(V)$ is an *R*-equivariant morphism of Lie algebras. Then we have

Lemma 5.3.2. The categories $HomVec_X, Mod_P, Ext_rMod_R, Ext_nMod_R$ are all equivalent.

5.3.3 Higgs bundles on Hermitian symmetric varieties

From now on, we will restrict our attention to a particular class of homogeneous varieties.

Definition 5.3.2 (Hermitian symmetric variety). The homogeneous variety X = G/P is said to be an **Hermitian symmetric variety** if [n, n] = 0.

Remark 5.3.5. By [Hum81] the condition [n, n] = 0 is equivalent to *N* being abelian, that is, the adjoint action of *G* on *N* is trivial when restricted to *N*.

In view of Theorem 5.1.1 and Example 5.2.1, another equivalent reformulation is that X = G/P is Hermitian symmetric if and only if Ω_X^1 is completely reducible as an homogeneous bundle.

Definition 5.3.3 (Irreducible hermitian symmetric variety). An Hermitian symmetric variety is said to be **irreducible** if Ω_X^1 is an irreducible homogeneous bundle, that is, if n is irreducible as a *P*-module.

Remark 5.3.6. It has been shown by Cartan that any Hermitian symmetric variety is the product of irreducible ones and moreover the irreducible ones are Grassmannians, quadrics, spinor varieties, maximal Lagrangian Grassmannians and two exceptional varieties of dimension 16 and 27. For references consult [Kos61].

The advantage of Hermitian symmetric varieties is that the equivalence of categories of Lemma 5.3.2 can be greatly simplified. Indeed suppose that we are given an R-module V and an R-equivariant linear map

$$\theta \colon \mathfrak{n} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{gl}(V)$$

Since [n, n] = 0, for this to be a morphism of Lie algebras it is sufficient that $[\theta(n_1), \theta(n_2)] = 0$ for all $n_1, n_2 \in n$. Equivalently, this can be rephrased by saying that

$$\theta \wedge \theta = 0$$
 in Hom $(\mathfrak{n} \wedge \mathfrak{n}, \mathfrak{gl}(V))^P$

Now, we can write θ also as a *P*-equivariant linear map

$$\theta \colon \mathfrak{n} \otimes V \longrightarrow V$$

or, working with homogeneous bundles, as an equivariant morphism of vector bundles

$$\theta \colon \Omega^1_X \otimes V \longrightarrow V \quad \text{or} \quad \theta \colon V \longrightarrow T_X \otimes V$$

hence, we give the following definition

Definition 5.3.4 (Higgs bundles). The category of Higgs bundles on the Hermitian symmetric variety *X* is the category **Higgs**_{*X*} whose objects are couples (*V*, θ), where *V* is an *R*-module and $\theta: \Omega_X^1 \otimes V \longrightarrow V$ is a morphism of homogeneous vector bundles such that $\theta \wedge \theta = 0$.

From the above discussion, we have the following result:

Proposition 5.3.1. Let X be an Hermitian symmetric variety. Then the categories $HomVect_X, Mod_P$ and $Higgs_X$ are equivalent.

5.4 Bott-Borel-Weil Theorem

We have seen above that homogeneous vector bundles on *X* are equivalent to *P*-modules. In particular, by Theorem 5.1.1, the irreducible homogeneous bundles on *X* correspond to irreducible *R*-modules.

The theorem of Bott-Borel-Weil gives a way to compute the cohomology $H^{j}(X, E)$ of an irreducible vector bundle by means of this identification.

We denote by $g = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i$ the sum of all the fundamental weights.

Theorem 5.4.1 (Bott). Let $\lambda \in D'$ be a dominant weight for R. Then there is an unique element $w \in W$ such that $w(\lambda + g) \in D$ (in particular $w^{-1} \in W'$). Set $v = w(\lambda + g) - g$, then

1. If $v \in D$ then

$$H^{j}(X, E_{\lambda}) = \begin{cases} \Gamma^{\nu} & \text{if } j = \ell(w) \\ 0 & \text{if } j \neq \ell(w) \end{cases}$$

2. If $v \notin D$, then

 $H^{j}(X, E_{\lambda}) = 0$ for all j

Proof. See [Ott].

As a corollary of this theorem we recover the previous theorem due to Borel and Weil **Theorem 5.4.2** (Borel-Weil). Let $\lambda \in D$ be a dominant weight for *P*. Then

$$H^{j}(X, E_{\lambda}) = \begin{cases} \Gamma^{\lambda} & \text{if } j = 0\\ 0 & \text{if } j \neq 0 \end{cases}$$

To understand better what is happening we set some notation: for every root $\alpha \in \Phi$ we denote by H_{α} the hyperplane in $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T)$ orthogonal to α and by r_{α} the reflection with respect to H_{α} . We also denote by $Y_{\alpha} = H_{\alpha} - g$ the affine hyperplane orthogonal to α passing thorugh -g and by s_{α} the reflection with respect to Y_{α} . It is clear that, if $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_h \in \Phi$ are roots then

$$(s_{\alpha_1}\circ\cdots\circ s_{\alpha_h})(x)=(r_{\alpha_1}\circ\cdots\circ r_{\alpha_h})(x+g)-g$$

and, as every element $w \in W$ is given by composition of reflections r_{α} , we see that every transformation $x \mapsto w(x+g) - g$ is given by composition of reflections s_{α} .

Remark 5.4.1. Let us keep the same notation as in Bott Theorem: then we notice that, as $w(\lambda + g) \in D$ then $v = w(\lambda + g) - g \notin D$ if and only if $w(\lambda + g) - g \in \partial D - g$. Hence, the weights $\lambda \in D'$ such that $H^j(X, E_\lambda) = 0$ for all j correspond exactly to

$$D' \cap \bigcup_{w \in W'} w(\partial D + g) - g = D' \cap \bigcup_{\alpha \in \Phi} Y_{\alpha}$$

Hovewer, we notice that for every $\alpha \in \Phi(\Sigma)$, we have that $D' \cap Y_{\alpha} = \emptyset$: indeed, any such α can be written in the form $\alpha = \sum_{\alpha_j \in \Sigma} n_j \alpha_j$ for certain $n_j \ge 0$ and then, if $x = \sum x_i \lambda_i \in D'$ we know by definition that $x_i \ge 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \Sigma$, so that

$$(x+g,\alpha) = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (x_i+1)\lambda_i, \sum_{\alpha_j \in \Sigma} n_j\alpha_j\right) = \sum_{\alpha_j \in \Sigma} (x_j+1)n_j > 0$$

as at least one of the n_i is strictly positive.

This shows that

$$\{\lambda \in D' \mid H^{\bullet}(X, E_{\lambda}) \neq 0\} = D' \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in \Phi^{+} \setminus \Phi(\Sigma)} Y_{\alpha} = D' \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} Y_{\xi_{i}}$$

and motivates the following definition

Definition 5.4.1 (Bott Chambers). The connected components of $D' \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} Y_{\xi_i}$ are called the **extended Bott chambers** of *X*. Every extended Bott chamber contains an unique subset of the form w(D+g) - g for a certain $w \in W'$: these subsets are called the **Bott chambers** of *X*. We say that two Bott chambers are **adjacent** if their extended Bott chambers have a common hyperplane in their boundary.

Remark 5.4.2. For every Bott chamber *B* we define its length $\ell(B)$ as the length $\ell(w)$ of the element $w \in W'$ such that B = w(D + g) - g. Then Bott's theorem tells us that the irreducible bundles E_{λ} such that $H^j(X, E_{\lambda}) \neq 0$ are precisely those contained in the Bott chambers *B* such that $\ell(B) = j$.

5.4.1 Bott Theorem on projective space

As an example, we want to apply Bott's theorem to the case of projective space $\mathbb{P}^n = SL(n + 1)/P(\alpha_1)$. First we recall a result of Kostant

Theorem 5.4.3. *Suppose that* $\mathbf{k} = \mathbb{C}$ *. Then*

$$\#\{w \in W' \mid \ell(w) = j\} = \dim H^{2j}(X, \mathbb{C})$$

and in particular

$$#W' = \chi(X, \mathbb{C})$$

Proof. See [Kos61].

In particular, for projective spaces we obtain that

Corollary 5.4.1. Let **k** be any algebraically closed field of characteristic 0 and consider $\mathbb{P}^r = SL(n + 1)/P(\alpha_1)$. Then for every j = 0, 1, ..., n we have

$$\#\{w \in W' \mid \ell(w) = j\} = 1$$

and in particular

$$#W' = n + 1$$

Proof. Since the data # { $w \in W' | \ell(w) = j$ } and #W' are purely combinatorial, they do not depend on the field **k**, so that we can suppose **k** = \mathbb{C} . Then the result follows immediately from Theorem 5.4.3.

Thanks to this result we can determine the set W' explicitly

Lemma 5.4.1. *For the projective space* $\mathbb{P}^n = SL(n+1)/P(\alpha_1)$ *we have*

$$W' = \{ id, r_{\alpha_1}, r_{\alpha_1}r_{\alpha_2}, \ldots, r_{\alpha_1} \ldots r_{\alpha_n} \}$$

and $\ell(r_{\alpha_1} \dots r_{\alpha_i}) = i$.

Proof. First we prove that for every i = 1, ..., n we have

$$(r_{\alpha_1}\ldots r_{\alpha_i})\left(\sum_{j=1}^n p_j\lambda_j\right) = \left(-\sum_{j=1}^i p_j\right)\lambda_1 + \sum_{j=1}^i p_j\lambda_{j+1} + \sum_{j=i+1}^n p_j\lambda_j$$

We proceed by induction on *i*: if i = 1 this is clear from Example 5.1.2, so that we suppose i > 1 and then using again Example 5.1.2 and the inductive hypothesis we get

$$(r_{\alpha_{1}} \dots r_{\alpha_{i}}) \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j} \lambda_{j} \right) = (r_{\alpha_{1}} \dots r_{\alpha_{i-1}}) \left(\sum_{j=1}^{i-2} p_{j} \lambda_{j} + (p_{i-1} + p_{i}) \lambda_{i-1} - p_{i} \lambda_{i} + (p_{i} + p_{i+1}) \lambda_{i+1} + \sum_{j=i+2}^{n} p_{j} \lambda_{j} \right)$$

$$= \left(-\sum_{j=1}^{i-2} p_{j} - (p_{i-1} + p_{i}) \right) \lambda_{1} + \sum_{j=1}^{i-2} p_{j} \lambda_{j+1} + (p_{i-1} + p_{i}) \lambda_{i} - p_{i} \lambda_{i} + (p_{i} + p_{i+1}) \lambda_{i+1} + \sum_{j=i+2}^{n} p_{j} \lambda_{j}$$

$$= \left(-\sum_{j=1}^{i} p_{j} \right) \lambda_{1} + \sum_{j=1}^{i} p_{j} \lambda_{j+1} + \sum_{j=i+1}^{n} p_{j} \lambda_{j}$$

This shows that the elements $r_{\alpha_1}, \ldots, r_{\alpha_n}$ are all distinct and contained in W'. As we know from Corollary 5.4.1 that #W' = n + 1, we see that $W' = \{ id, r_{\alpha_1}, \ldots, r_{\alpha_1} \ldots r_{\alpha_n} \}$. For the statement about length, we proceed by induction on *i*: it is clear that $\ell(r_{\alpha_1}) = 1$, and if i > 1 then by definition we know that $\ell(r_{\alpha_1} \ldots r_{\alpha_i}) \leq i$. Now, from Corollary 5.4.1, we know that $\#\{w \in W' \mid \ell(w) = j\} = 1$ for every $1 \leq j \leq n$ and by inductive hypothesis $\ell(r_{\alpha_1} \ldots r_{\alpha_j}) = j$ for all $1 \leq j \leq i$. Then by pigeonhole it must be that $\ell(r_{\alpha_1} \ldots r_{\alpha_j}) = i$.

Lemma 5.4.2. Let ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n be the weights of the cotangent bundle $\Omega^1_{\mathbb{P}^n}$. Then for every $i = 1, \ldots, n$ it holds that

- 1. $\xi_i = -(\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_i) = -\lambda_1 \lambda_i + \lambda_{i-1}$. 2. $\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_{i+1} = (r_{\alpha_1} \dots r_{\alpha_i})(\alpha_{i+1})$
- 3. $r_{\xi_{i+1}} = (r_{\alpha_1} \dots r_{\alpha_i}) r_{\alpha_{i+1}} (r_{\alpha_1} \dots r_{\alpha_i})^{-1}$.
- 4. $r_{\alpha_i} \ldots r_{\alpha_1} = r_{\xi_1} \ldots r_{\xi_i}$.

Proof. 1. We have already done this computation in Example 5.2.2.

2. We know from Example 5.1.2 that $\alpha_{i+1} = -\lambda_i + 2\lambda_{i+1} - \lambda_{i+2}$ and then from the proof of Lemma 5.4.1 we see that

$$(r_{\alpha_1}\ldots r_{\alpha_i})(\alpha_{i+1}) = (r_{\alpha_1}\ldots r_{\alpha_i})(-\lambda_i + 2\lambda_{i+1} - \lambda_{i+2}) = \lambda_1 + \lambda_{i+1} - \lambda_{i+2} = -\xi_{i+1}$$

- 3. This follows from the fact that $r_{\xi_{i+1}} = r_{(r_{\alpha_1}...r_{\alpha_i})(\alpha_{i+1})}$, thanks to point (2).
- 4. This follows from point (3).

Then we can express Bott's theorem as follows:

Proposition 5.4.1. Consider $\mathbb{P}^n = SL(n+1)/P(\alpha_1)$. Then for every i = 0, ..., n there is an unique Bott chamber B_i of length *i*, and it is given by

$$B_{i} = (r_{\alpha_{1}} \dots r_{\alpha_{i}})(D+g) - g = (r_{\xi_{i}} \dots r_{\xi_{1}})(D+g) - g = (s_{\xi_{i}} \dots s_{\xi_{1}})(D)$$

Proof. It follows immediately from Bott's Theorem 5.4.1, Lemma 5.4.1 and Lemma 5.4.2.

Remark 5.4.3. In particular, the above result tells us that the vertex of the Bott chamber B_i is given by

$$\mu_i = (r_{\alpha_1} \dots r_{\alpha_i})(g) - g = (r_{\xi_i} \dots r_{\xi_1})(g) - g = \xi_1 + \dots + \xi_i$$

and, from Example 5.2.2 we see that this is precisely the dominant weight of the irreducible homogeneous bundle $\Omega_{\mathbb{P}^n}^i$.

Proposition 5.4.2. Let $0 \leq i \leq n-1$ let $\lambda \in D'$ and let $\mu = s_{\xi_{i+1}}(\lambda)$. Then $H^i(\mathbb{P}^n, E_{\lambda}) \cong H^{i+1}(\mathbb{P}^n, E_{\mu})$. If moreover $H^i(\mathbb{P}^n, E_{\lambda}) \neq 0$ then μ is the unique element in $\lambda' \in D'$ such that $H^i(\mathbb{P}^n, E_{\lambda}) \cong H^{i+1}(\mathbb{P}^n, E_{\lambda'})$.

Observe that λ *and* μ *differ by a multiple of* ξ_{i+1} *.*

Proof. Suppose first that $H^i(\mathbb{P}^n, E_\lambda) \neq 0$. Then we know from Bott's theorem that $\lambda = s_{\xi_i} \dots s_{\xi_1}(\nu)$ for a certain $\nu \in D$ and that $H^i(\mathbb{P}^n, E_\lambda) \cong \Gamma^{\nu}$, and again from Bott's theorem we know that the unique element $\lambda' \in D'$ such that $H^{i+1}(\mathbb{P}^n, E_{\lambda'}) \cong \Gamma^{\nu u}$ is $s_{\xi_{i+1}}s_{\xi_i} \dots s_{\xi_1}(\nu) = s_{\xi_{i+1}}(\lambda) = \mu$. If $H^i(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathbb{E}_\lambda) = 0$, the statement follows from Bott's theorem. \Box

Example 5.4.1 (Bott's Theorem on the projective plane). Now we focus on the projective plane \mathbb{P}^2 . In this case we see that

$$D = \{ a_1 \lambda_1 + a_2 \lambda_2 \mid a_i \ge 0 \}$$

and, for every $\alpha = a_1\lambda_1 + a_2\lambda_2 \in D$, the corresponding irreducible representation of G = SL(3) is

$$\Gamma^{\alpha} = \Gamma^{(a_1, a_2)} = S^{(a_1 + a_2, a_1)}(V)$$

Instead, we have

$$D' = \{ b_1 \lambda_1 + b_2 \lambda_2 \mid b_2 \ge 0 \}$$

and for every $\beta = b_1\lambda_1 + b_2\lambda_2 \in D'$ the corresponding irreducible homogeneous vector bundle on \mathbb{P}^2 is

$$E_{\beta} = S^{b_2}Q(b_1)$$

where *Q* is the quotient bundle on \mathbb{P}^2 defined by the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(-1) \longrightarrow V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \longrightarrow Q \longrightarrow 0$$

Then Bott's Theorem can be stated as follows: let $n \ge 0$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z}$, then

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, S^{n}Q(m)) = \begin{cases} S^{(n+m,m)}(V), & \text{if } n \ge 0, m \ge 0\\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
$$H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, S^{n}Q(m)) = \begin{cases} S^{(n-1,-m-2)}(V), & \text{if } n \ge 1, -n-1 \le m \le -2\\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
$$H^{2}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, S^{n}Q(m)) = \begin{cases} S^{(-m-3,n)}(V), & \text{if } n \ge 0, m \le -n-3\\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

However the content of the theorem can be more effectively expressed by Figure 5.3.

5.4.2 Bott Theorem on Hermitian symmetric varieties

Now we want to state some consequences of Bott's Theorem on irreducible Hermitian symmetric varieties, but we restrict further to the case of irreducible Hermitian symmetric variety of type ADE: these are the irreducible Hermitian symmetric varieties G/P such that the Dynkin diagram of G is of type ADE. It can be seen that these varieties are Grassmannians, quadrics of even dimension, spinor varieties and the two exceptional cases.

If X is irreducible of type ADE, then $Pic(X) = \mathbb{Z}$ (see [OR06]), so that we can define the slope of a vector bundle *E* on *X* as the rational number

$$\mu(E) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{c_1(E)}{\mathrm{rk}(E)} \in \mathbb{Q}$$

Proposition 5.4.3. Let X = G/P be an Hermitian symmetric variety. Then for every $j \ge 0$ the irreducible bundles E_{λ} such that $H^{j}(X, E_{\lambda})^{G} \ne 0$ are precisely the direct summands of Ω_{X}^{j} . Moreover, for every such E_{λ} we have that $H^{j}(X, E_{\lambda})^{G} \cong \mathbf{k}$.

Proof. We are going to prove this theorem in the case of projective space $X = \mathbb{P}^n$. For the general case see [OR06] or [Kos61]. We know from before that for every $j \ge 0$ the bundle $\Omega_{\mathbb{P}^r}^j$ is irreducible and that it is the vertex of the Bott chamber B_j . Then from Bott's theorem it follows that

$$H^{j}(\mathbb{P}^{r}, \Omega^{j}_{\mathbb{P}^{r}}) \cong H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{r}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{r}}) = \mathbf{k}$$

Conversely, let E_{λ} be an irreducible homogeneous bundle: then by Bott's theorem $H^{j}(X, E_{\lambda})$ is an irreducible *G*-module, so that $H^{j}(\mathbb{P}^{n}, E_{\lambda})^{G} \neq 0$ if and only if $H^{j}(\mathbb{P}^{n}, \mathbb{E}_{\lambda}) = \mathbf{k}$. This means that E_{λ} is the vertex of the Bott chamber B_{j} , that is $E_{\lambda} = \Omega_{\mathbb{P}^{r}}^{j}$.



Figure 5.3: The darker shaded parts are the Bott chambers corresponding to irreducible homogeneous bundles with nonzero H^0 , H^1 and H^2 . The Bott chamber with nonzero H^0 corresponds to the Weyl chamber *D*. The hyperplanes corresponding to bundles with zero cohomology are represented in blue.

Corollary 5.4.2. Let *E* be a completely reducible homogeneous vector bundle on an irreducible Hermitian symmetric variety X. Then $H^j(X, E)^G \cong Hom(\Omega_x^j, E)^G$.

Proof. We can suppose that $E = E_{\lambda}$ is irreducible and now the thesis follows immediately from Proposition 5.4.3.

Proposition 5.4.4. *Let X be an Hermitian symmetric variety and let* $\lambda, \nu \in D'$ *.*

- 1. $Hom(\Omega_X^i \otimes E_\lambda, E_\nu)^G \cong Ext^i(E_\lambda, E_\nu)^G$. If i = 1 then both spaces have dimension 0 or 1.
- 2. If X is irreducible, and $Ext^i(E_\lambda, E_\nu)^G \neq 0$, then $\mu(E_\nu) = \mu(E_\lambda) + i\mu(\Omega_X^1)$.

Proof. Let $E = E_{\nu} \otimes E_{\lambda}^{\vee}$. Then *E* is completely reducible and by the previous corollary we have that $\operatorname{Hom}(\Omega_X^i \otimes E_{\lambda}, E_{\nu})^G \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\Omega_X^i, E)^G \cong H^j(X, E)^G \cong \operatorname{Ext}^j(\Omega_X, E)^G \cong \operatorname{Ext}^j(E_{\lambda}, E_{\nu})^G$.

Now, if i = 1 then we know that Ω_X^1 is irreducible. Let ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_m be the weights, counted with multiplicity, corresponding to the bundle Ω_X^1 , that is, to the representation \mathfrak{n} . We notice that the ξ_i are all distinct, since $\mathfrak{n} \subseteq \mathfrak{g}$ and all root spaces of a semisimple Lie group have dimension 1 (cfr. [Hum81]). Then we know from the generalized Littlewood-Richardson rule (Theorem 1.1.4) that

$$E_{\lambda} \otimes \Omega^1_X = \bigoplus_{j \in J} E_{\lambda + \xi_j}$$

for a certain subset $J \subseteq \{1, ..., m\}$. Since the weights $\lambda + \xi_i$ are all distinct, this concludes the proof of the first point.

For the second point, observe that $\text{Ext}^{i}(E_{\lambda}, E_{\nu})^{G} \neq 0$ if and only if $E_{\nu} = E_{\lambda + \xi_{r}}$ for a certain $r \in J$. Now, by a theorem of Ramanan (see [Ram66] or [Ott]) every irreducible homogenous

bundle is stable, and since the tensor product of stable bundles is polystable (cfr. [HL96]) we see that $\mu(E_{\nu}) = \mu(\Omega_X^j \otimes E_{\lambda}) = \mu(E_{\lambda}) + j\mu(\Omega_X^1)$.

Corollary 5.4.3. Let $0 \le i < n$ and let $\lambda \in D'$. Then there are μ and s_{ξ_j} such that $\lambda' = s_{\xi_j}(\lambda)$ and $H^i(X, E_{\lambda}) = H^{i+1}(X, E_{\mu})$ or $H^i(X, E_{\lambda}) = H^{i-1}(X, E_{\mu})$. In particular lambda and μ differ by a multiple of ξ_j . There is exactly one such μ in every Bott chamber adjacent to the Bott chamber of E_{λ} .

Proof. Let λ_0 be the vertex of the Bott chamber that contains λ . Then take the ξ_j such that $s_{\xi_j}(\lambda_0)$ is the maximal weight of a direct summand of Ω_X^{i+1} .

5.5 Quivers and relations

Now we are going to describe an useful tool for the study of an homogeneous vector bundle.

5.5.1 Basic definitions

We give some basic definitions for quivers.

Definition 5.5.1 (Quiver). A **quiver** is an oriented graph Q. We denote by Q_0 the set of vertices, by Q_1 the set of arrows and by $t: Q_1 \longrightarrow Q_0$ and $h: Q_1 \longrightarrow Q_0$ the maps that to each arrow associate the head and the tail.

Suppose that there is a function $s: \mathcal{Q}_0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}$ such that, if there is an arrow from v to w then s(w) = s(v) + 1. Then we say that \mathcal{Q} is **leveled** by s.

Definition 5.5.2 (Paths). A **path** in a quiver Q is a sequence $a_1 \cdots a_r$ of arrows where the head of each arrow is the tail of the next one. If $p = a_1 \cdots a_r$ is a path we denote by $h(p) = h(a_r)$ its head and by $t(p) = t(a_1)$ its tail. The **length** of a path is the number of arrows that compose it.

Definition 5.5.3 (Path Algebra). For any pair $(a, b) \in \mathcal{Q}_0^2$ we denote by

$$Q_{(a,b)} = \{ p \text{ path } | t(p) = a, h(p) = b \}$$

and we define the graded vector space

$$\mathbf{k}[\mathcal{Q}] = \bigoplus_{(a,b)\in\mathcal{Q}_0^2} \mathcal{Q}_{(a,b)}$$

If p, q are two paths then we define their product $p \cdot q$ as their concatenation, if h(p) = t(q) and 0 otherwise. This operation can be extended to $\mathbf{k}[Q]$ that becomes an associative graded algebra, called the path algebra.

Definition 5.5.4 (Relations). A **relation** in $\mathbf{k}[Q]$ is an homogenous element of $\mathbf{k}[Q]$, i.e. a linear combination

$$\lambda_1 p_1 + \cdots + \lambda_r p_r$$

where $\lambda_i \in \mathbf{k}$ and p_i are paths with same head and same tail.

Definition 5.5.5 (Quiver representation). A **representation of a quiver** Q is the datum of a family of finite-dimensional vector space $(V_v)_{v \in Q_0}$ and linear maps $\phi_a \colon V_{t(a)} \longrightarrow V_{h(a)}$ for every $a \in Q_1$. A representation of a quiver Q is said to be of finite type if $V_v = 0$ for all $v \in Q_0$ apart for a finite number at most.

Definition 5.5.6 (Representations of quivers with relations). Let $\mathcal{R} \subseteq \mathbf{k}[\mathcal{Q}]$ be an homogeneous ideal. A **representation of** \mathcal{Q} with relations \mathcal{R} is a representation $(V_v, \phi_a)_{v \in \mathcal{Q}_0, a \in \mathcal{Q}_1}$ of \mathcal{Q} such that

$$\lambda_1\phi_{p_1}+\cdots+\lambda_s\phi_{p_s}=0$$

for every relation $\lambda_1 p_1 + \cdots + \lambda_s p_a \in \mathcal{R}$.

Remark 5.5.1. If we have a representation (V_x, ϕ_a) of a quiver Q, and $p = a_1 \cdots a_r$ is a path in Q we use the notation $\phi_p \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \phi_{a_r} \circ \cdots \circ \phi_{a_1}$.

Definition 5.5.7 (Morphism of representations). Let $(V_v, \phi_a)_{v \in Q_0, a \in Q_1}$ and $(W_v, \psi_a)_{v \in Q_0, a \in Q_1}$ be two representations (with relations \mathcal{R}) of a quiver \mathcal{Q} . Then a **morphism of representations** $f: (V, \phi) \longrightarrow (W, \psi)$ is the datum of linear maps $f_v: V_v \longrightarrow W_v$ for every $v \in Q_0$ such that the following diagram

$$V_{t(a)} \xrightarrow{\phi_a} V_{h(a)}$$

$$f_{t(a)} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow f_{h(a)}$$

$$W_{t(a)} \xrightarrow{\psi_a} W_{h(a)}$$

is commutative for every $a \in Q_1$.

We denote the category of representations of a quiver Q with relations \mathcal{R} as $\operatorname{Rep}_{(Q,\mathcal{R})}$.

Remark 5.5.2. There is an equivalence of categories between $\operatorname{Rep}_{(\mathcal{Q},\mathcal{R})}$ and $\operatorname{Mod}_{k[\mathcal{Q}]/\mathcal{R}}$.

5.5.2 The quiver associated to an homogeneous variety

Consider the Hermitian symmetric variety X = G/P. In order to describe homogeneous bundles on *X*, we are going to associate to *X* a quiver.

Definition 5.5.8 (Quiver associated to an homogeneous variety). To every homogeneous variety X = G/P we associate the quiver Q_X that has as vertices the irreducible homogeneous vector bundles E_{λ} and such that there is an arrow $E_{\lambda} \longrightarrow E_{\mu}$ between two irreducible bundles if and only if $\text{Ext}^1(E_{\lambda}, E_{\mu})^G \neq 0$.

Remark 5.5.3. Let ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_m be the weights of the homogeneous bundle Ω_X^1 . Then Proposition 5.4.4 shows that there is an arrow in Q_X from E_λ to E_ν if and only if $\nu = \lambda + \xi_i$ for a certain $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$. In particular we see that the quiver is leveled.

Corollary 5.5.1. The quiver Q_X is leveled by the function

$$\widetilde{\mu}(E_{\lambda}) = \frac{\mu(E_{\lambda})}{\mu(\Omega_X^1)}$$

Proof. Follows immediately from Proposition 5.4.4.

Now, let *E* be an homogeneous bundle on *X* : then we can write

$$\operatorname{gr} E = \bigoplus_{\lambda} E_{\lambda} \otimes V_{\lambda}$$

where the sum is over all dominant weights $\lambda \in D'$ and the vector spaces $V_{\lambda} = \text{Hom}(\text{gr } E, E_{\lambda})^G$ count the multiplicity of E_{λ} in gr E.

Then we associate to *E* a representation of Q in this way:

- To every point $\lambda \in Q_{X,0}$ we associate the vector space V_{λ} .
- For every $\lambda \in Q_{X,0}$ choose a maximal vector $v_{\lambda} \in \Gamma^{\lambda}$ and for any ξ_i an element $n_i \in \mathfrak{g}_{\xi_i}$. Now, we know that if $\operatorname{Ext}(E_{\lambda}, E_{\nu})^G \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\Omega^1_X \otimes E_{\lambda}, E_{\nu})^G \neq 0$, then $\nu - \lambda = \xi_i$ for a certain *i*. In this case we fix an element $m_{\lambda,\nu} \in \operatorname{Hom}(\Omega^1_X \otimes E_{\lambda}, E_{\nu})^G$ such that

$$\xi_i \otimes m_{\lambda,\nu} : v_\lambda \mapsto v_\nu$$

Notice that $m_{\lambda,\nu}$ is actually a generator, since we know that $Hom(\Omega^1_X \otimes E_\lambda, E_\nu)^G \cong \mathbf{k}$.

Now, observe that

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\operatorname{gr} E, \operatorname{gr} E)^{G} = \bigoplus_{(\lambda,\nu)} \operatorname{Hom}(V_{\lambda}, V_{\nu}) \otimes \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(E_{\lambda}, E_{\nu})^{G}$$

so that, to give an element in every $\text{Hom}(V_{\lambda}, V_{\nu})$ it is sufficient to give an element $[E] \in \text{Ext}^1(\text{gr } E, \text{gr } E)^G$.

To this end, observe that from Proposition 5.4.4, we have an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\operatorname{gr} E, \operatorname{gr} E)^{G} \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\Omega^{1}_{X} \otimes \operatorname{gr} E, \operatorname{gr} E)^{G}$$

and, thanks to Theorem 5.3.1, we see that to the homogeneous vector bundle E corresponds naturally the equivariant morphism

$$\theta: \Omega^1_X \otimes \operatorname{gr} E \longrightarrow \operatorname{gr} E$$

It is easy to verify that in this way we have defined a functor

$$\operatorname{HomVec}_X \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathcal{Q}_X}$$

Now, we need to recall briefly the Yoneda product, according to [Eis95]: for any *E*, *F*, *K* homogeneous vector bundles on *X* we have an equivariant morphism

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{i}(E,F) \otimes \operatorname{Ext}^{j}(F,K) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}^{i+j}(E,K)$$

and moreover this product is associative. In particular, for any homogeneous vector bundle *E* we get a bilinear map

 $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(E, E) \otimes \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(E, E) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}^{2}(E, E)$

whose symmetric part induces a quadratic morphism

$$\operatorname{Ext}^1(E, E) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}^2(E, E)$$

In particular, singe the Yoneda product is equivariant, we get an induced morphism

 $m: \operatorname{Ext}^1(E, E)^G \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}^2(E, E)$

that we call the equivariant Yoneda morphism.

Proposition 5.5.1. *Let* X = G/P *be an Hermitian symmetric variety.*

1. For any homogeneous bundle E, we have m([E]) = 0, where m is the equivariant Yoneda morphism

$$m: Ext^1(gr \ E, gr \ E)^G \longrightarrow Ext^2(gr \ E, gr \ E)^G$$

2. Conversely, for any R-module F and for every $e \in Ext^1(E, E)^G$ such that m(e) = 0 there exists an homogeneous vector bundle E on X such that gr E = F and e = [E].

Idea of proof. It can be shown that under the isomorphism $\operatorname{Ext}^{i}(\operatorname{gr} E, \operatorname{gr} E)^{G} \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\Omega^{i}_{X} \otimes \operatorname{gr} E, \operatorname{gr} E)$ of Proposition 5.4.4, the Yoneda product corresponds to the map

$$m: \operatorname{Hom}(\Omega^1_X \otimes \operatorname{gr} E, \operatorname{gr} E) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(\Omega^2_X \otimes \operatorname{gr} E, \operatorname{gr} E) \qquad \theta \mapsto \theta \wedge \theta$$

so that the conclusion follows immediately from Theorem 5.3.1.

Remark 5.5.4. The above result tells us which relations we should put on the quiver in order to get an equivalence of categories: we can write any $e \in \text{Ext}^1(\text{gr } E, \text{gr } E)^G$ as

$$e=\sum_{(\lambda,\nu)}g_{\lambda,\nu}\otimes m_{\lambda,\nu}$$

for certain $g_{\lambda,\nu} \in \text{Hom}(V_{\lambda}, V_{\nu})$. Then the condition m(e) = 0 becomes

$$\sum_{\lambda,
u}(\sum_{\gamma}(g_{\gamma
u}g_{\lambda,\gamma})(m_{\gamma
u}\wedge m_{\lambda\gamma}))=0$$

Hence, we define the ideal of the relations \mathcal{R}_X as the ideal in $\mathbf{k}[\mathcal{Q}_X]$ generated by the quadratic equations

$$\sum_{\gamma} (g_{\gamma\nu}g_{\lambda,\gamma})(m_{\gamma\nu}\wedge m_{\lambda\gamma})$$

for any λ , ν .

Theorem 5.5.1. There is an equivalence of categories between $HomVec_X, Higgs_X, Rep_{(Q_X, \mathcal{R}_X)}$.

Proof. Follows from Theorem 5.3.1 and from the above discussion.

Example 5.5.1 (The projective plane). On the projective plane $\mathbb{P}^2 = SL(3)/P(\alpha_1)$ the corresponding quiver is given by Figure 5.4.



Figure 5.4: For simplicity, there is only one connected component of the quiver represented Moreover, the relations on this quiver are those given by the commutativity of all squares



since we will not need this we will not give the proof, but the interested reader can find it in [OR06].

5.6 Cohomology of homogeneous vector bundles

In all what follows X = G/P will be an irreducible Hermitian symmetric variety of type ADE and of dimension *n*. We have seen that Bott's theorem gives a complete description of the cohomology of a completely reducible homogeneous bundle on *X*, now we are going to present a method, due to Ottaviani and Rubei to compute the cohomology of any vector bundle from its quiver representation. The exposition follows faithfully the article [OR06].

First we need a result in homological algebra: let *E* be a vector bundle on *X*, not necessarily homogeneous, and consider a filtration

$$0=E_0\subseteq E_1\cdots\subseteq E_r=E$$

Then we have the exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow E_p \longrightarrow E_{p+1} \longrightarrow E_{p+1}/E_p \longrightarrow 0$$
$$0 \longrightarrow E_{p+1}/E_p \longrightarrow E/E_p \longrightarrow E_p/E_{p+1} \longrightarrow 0$$

and from the corresponding exact sequences in cohomology we define

$$Z_j^p \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{Ker} (H^j(X, E_{p+1}/E_p) \longrightarrow H^{j+1}(X, E_p)),$$
$$B_j^p \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{Im} (H^{j-1}(X, E/E_{p+1}) \longrightarrow H^j(X, E_{p+1}/E_p))$$

Theorem 5.6.1. With notations as before, we have $B_i^p \subseteq Z_i^p$ and

$$H^{j}(X,E) \cong \bigoplus_{p=0}^{r-1} Z_{j}^{p} / B_{j}^{p}$$

Proof. See [OR06].

Now, we go back to homogeneous vector bundles on *X*. We denote by ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n the weights of the cotangent bundle Ω_X^1 .

Proposition 5.6.1. Let E_{λ} and E_{μ} be in two adjacent Bott chambers such that $H^{i}(X, E_{\lambda}) \cong H^{i+1}(X, E_{\mu})$. Then $\mu - \lambda = k\xi_{j}$ for some $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and a certain root ξ_{j} of Ω^{1}_{X} and we have

$$\dim_{\mathbf{k}} Hom \ (E_{\lambda} \otimes S^{k}(\Omega^{1}_{X}), E_{\mu})^{G} = 1$$

Proof. The fact that $\mu - \lambda = k\xi_j$ follows from Corollary 5.4.3. From the generalized Littlewood-Richardson rule (Theorem 1.1.4) we see that

$$E_{\lambda} \otimes S^k(\Omega^1_X) = \bigoplus_{\nu \in J} E_{\lambda+\nu}$$

where

$$J \subseteq \{ a_{i_1}\xi_{i_1} + \dots + a_{i_h}\xi_{i_h} \mid a_{i_j} \ge 0, a_{i_1} + \dots + a_{i_h} = k \}$$

and to conclude we observe that if $a_{i_q} \neq 0$ for a certain $i_q \neq j$ then

$$|a_{i_1}\xi_{i_1}+\cdots+a_{i_h}\xi_{i_h}|<|k\xi_j|$$

as all the roots ξ_i have the same length, since *X* is of type ADE.

Proposition 5.6.2. For every weight ξ_i of Ω^1_X we have

$$Ext^{2}(E_{\lambda}, E_{\lambda+2\xi_{j}})^{G} = Hom(E_{\lambda} \otimes \Omega^{2}_{X}, E_{\lambda+2\xi_{j}})^{G} = 0$$

Proof. The first equality follows from Proposition 5.4.4. For the second one, using the generalized Littlewood-Richardson rule (Theorem. 1.1.4) we see that

$$E_{\lambda} \otimes \Omega_X^2 = \bigoplus_{(i,j) \in J} E_{\lambda + \xi_i + \xi_j}$$

where $J \subseteq \{(h,k) \mid 1 \le h \le k \le n\}$. Then it is enough to prove that $\xi_h + \xi_k \ne 2\xi_j$ for every $h \ne k$, but since *X* is of type ADE all the roots have the same length so that $|\xi_h + \xi_k| < |2\xi_j|$ if $h \ne k$. \Box

Keeping the same notations as in Propositions 5.6.1 and 5.6.2 we see that to build the quiver representation associated to *E* we have chosen distinguished elements in Hom $(E_{\lambda+p\xi_j} \otimes \Omega^1_X, E_{\lambda+(p+1)\xi_j})^G$ and these give a distinguished element in Hom $(E_{\lambda} \otimes S^k(\Omega^1_X), E_{\mu})^G$, that is one dimensional by Proposition 5.6.1. Thanks to these elements, we can define extensions

$$0 \longrightarrow E_{\lambda + (p+1)\xi_i} \longrightarrow Z_p \longrightarrow E_{\lambda + p\xi_i} \longrightarrow 0$$

and using Proposition 5.5.1, we see that these extension fit together, as the Ext² vanish by Proposition 5.6.2. This way, we have obtained a bundle P' such that gr $P = \sum_{p=0}^{k-1} E_{\lambda+p\xi_j}$ and two exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow Z' \longrightarrow P' \longrightarrow E_{\lambda} \longrightarrow 0$$
$$0 \longrightarrow E_{\mu} \longrightarrow Z' \longrightarrow Z/E_{\mu} \longrightarrow 0$$

Now, let λ' and μ' be the vertices of the Bott chambers containing λ and μ respectively and let *A* be the unique indecomposable bundle in the extension

$$0 \longrightarrow E_{\mu'} \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow E_{\lambda'} \longrightarrow 0$$

Lemma 5.6.1. With the above notations we have

$$H^{\iota}(X, A) = 0$$
 for every i

Proof. See [OR06] and [Hil82].

Now, let $U = H^i(X, E_\lambda) = H^{i+1}(X, E_\mu)$. Then

Lemma 5.6.2. The only direct summand of $gr(E_{\mu'} \otimes U)$ such that $H^{\bullet}(X, \cdot) \cong U$ is E_{μ} .

Proof. See [OR06].

For what follows, it will be useful to set up a piece of notation: if *V* is a representation of *G*, we denote by V^U the direct sum of all the subrepresentations of *V* isomorphic to *U*.

We also need a preliminary result.

Definition 5.6.1 (A_m -quiver). Let *m* be a positive integer. The A_m quiver is the quiver

with *m* vertices.

Then we have the following result

Theorem 5.6.2. Every representation of the A_m -quiver can be decomposed into indecomposable representations. Every indecomposable representation is of type

 $0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow V_1 \xrightarrow{f_1} V_2 \longrightarrow \ldots V_{r-1} \xrightarrow{f_{r-1}} V_r \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow 0$

where the V_i have dimension 1 and the maps f_i are isomorphisms for every i = 1, ..., r - 1.

Proof. See [GR92].

Theorem 5.6.3. With the same notations as before

$$H^{j}(X, P') = 0$$
 for all j

Proof. Let *K* be the subbundle in $A \otimes U$ generated by all the direct summands isomorphic to E_{λ} . Then there is an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow K \longrightarrow A \otimes U \longrightarrow Q \longrightarrow 0$$

and by Lemma 5.6.2 it follows that $H^{j}(X, K)^{U}$ and $H^{j}(X, Q)^{U}$ are nonzero at most for j = i or j = i + 1.

We want to show that gr *K* contains all the direct summands of gr $(A \otimes U)$ isomorphic to E_{μ} . Otherwise, we would have $H^{i+1}(X,Q)^U \neq 0$ and then Lemma 5.6.1 would give that $H^{i+2}(X,K)^U \neq 0$, that is a contradiction. Thus, we see that $H^j(X,Q)^U = 0$ for all *j* and consequently $H^j(X,K)^U \cong 0$ for every *j*.

Then, let *S*' be the quotient of *K* obtained restricting the quiver representation of *E* to the path that connect the vertices E_{λ} and E_{μ} . Decomposing *S*' into irreducible representations (cfr. Theorem 5.6.2) we see that *S*' is isomorphic to the direct sum of various copies of *P*'.

Now, we have the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow K' \longrightarrow K \longrightarrow S' \longrightarrow 0$$

and since $H^j(X, \text{gr } K')^U = 0$ for every *j*, it follows that $H^j(X, K')^U = 0$ for every *j* as well, so that $H^j(X, S') = 0$ for all *j*.

Now, applying Theorem 5.6.3 to the exact sequence in cohomology associated to the short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow Z' \longrightarrow P' \longrightarrow E_{\lambda} \longrightarrow 0$$

we get an isomorphism

$$H^i(X, E_{\lambda}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{i+1}(X, Z')^U$$

and from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow E_{\mu} \longrightarrow Z' \longrightarrow Z'/E_{\mu} \longrightarrow 0$$

we get another isomorphism

$$H^{i+1}(X, E_{\mu}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{i+1}(X, Z')$$

so that we get a distinguished isomorphism

$$j_{\lambda\mu}: H^i(X, E_\lambda) \longrightarrow H^{i+1}(X, E_\mu)$$

Now, denote by *P* the homogeneous bundle corresponding to the A_m -quiver from E_{λ} to E_{μ} , with the same representation maps as for *E*.

Lemma 5.6.3. With the above notations, the boundary map

$$U \otimes V_{\lambda} = H^{i}(X, P/V_{\mu} \otimes E_{\mu})^{U} \longrightarrow H^{i}(X, V_{\mu} \otimes E_{\mu}) = U \otimes V_{\mu}$$

is the tensor product of the distinguished isomorphism $j_{\lambda\mu}$ *and the composition of the maps in the quiver representation.*

Proof. Suppose first that *P* is irreducible. We can assume that dim $V_{\lambda+p\xi_j} = 1$ for $0 \le p \le k$ and that $\lambda + k\xi_j = \mu$. We observe that *P* defines nonzero elements in the one-dimensional spaces

$$\operatorname{Hom}(V_{\lambda+p\xi_{j}}\otimes E_{\lambda+p\xi_{j}}\otimes \Omega^{1}_{X}, V_{\lambda+(p+1)\xi_{j}}\otimes E_{\lambda+(p+1)\xi_{j}})^{G} \\ = \operatorname{Hom}(V_{\lambda+p\xi_{j}}, V_{\lambda+(p+1)\xi_{j}})\otimes \operatorname{Hom}(E_{\lambda+p\xi_{j}}\otimes \Omega^{1}_{X}, E_{\lambda+(p+1)\xi_{j}})^{G}$$

We have a natural isomorphism

$$\bigotimes_{i=0}^{k-1} \operatorname{Hom}(V_{\lambda+p\xi_{j}} \otimes E_{\lambda+\xi_{j}} \otimes \Omega_{X}^{1}, V_{\lambda+(p+1)\xi_{j}} \otimes E_{\lambda+(p+1)\xi_{j}})^{G} \cong \operatorname{Hom}(V_{\lambda} \otimes E_{\lambda} \otimes S^{k}(\Omega_{X}^{1}), V_{\mu} \otimes E_{\mu})^{G}$$
$$= \operatorname{Hom}(V_{\lambda}, V_{\mu}) \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(E_{\lambda} \otimes S^{k}(\Omega_{X}^{1}), E_{\mu})^{G}$$

where in Hom(V_{λ}, V_{μ}) we perform the composition of the quiver maps. From the above remarks and this isomorphism we get an element in Hom(V_{λ}, V_{μ}) \otimes Hom($E_{\lambda} \otimes S^{k}(\Omega_{X}^{1}), E_{\mu}$)^{*G*} from which we can reconstruct *P*.

Now from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow Z \longrightarrow P \longrightarrow V_{\lambda} \otimes E_{\lambda} \longrightarrow 0$$

we get the boundary map

$$H^i(X, E_\lambda \otimes V_\lambda) \longrightarrow H^{i+1}(X, Z)^U$$

and from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow V_{\mu} \otimes E_{\mu} \longrightarrow Z \longrightarrow P' \longrightarrow 0$$

and Theorem 5.6.3 we get an isomorphism

$$H^{i+1}(X, E_{\mu} \otimes V_{\mu}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{i+1}(X, Z)$$

and we obtain a map

$$c_{\lambda\mu} \colon H^i(X, E_\lambda \otimes V_\lambda) \longrightarrow H^{i+1}(X, E_\mu \otimes V_\mu)$$

that by construction is the tensor product of the isomorphism $j_{\lambda\mu}$ and the maps in the quiver representation.

Now, for the general case, it is enough to split *P* into the direct sum of irreducible representations, using Theorem 5.6.2.

Definition 5.6.2. We define the maps $c_i: H^i(X, \operatorname{gr} E) \longrightarrow H^{i+1}(X, \operatorname{gr} E)$ as

$$c_i = \sum c_{\lambda\mu}$$

where the sum is over all couples (λ, μ) in adjacent Bott chambers such that $H^i(X, E_{\lambda}) \cong H^{i+1}(X, E_{\mu})$ and the maps $c_{\lambda\mu}$ are defined as in the proof of Lemma 5.6.3.

Now we are going to show that in this way we have defined a complex

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(X, \operatorname{gr} E) \xrightarrow{c_0} H^1(X, \operatorname{gr} E) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow H^{n-1}(X, \operatorname{gr} E) \xrightarrow{c_{n-1}} H^n(X, \operatorname{gr} E) \longrightarrow 0$$

whose cohomology gives the cohomology of *E*. To begin with, we observe that the construction of the complex $H^{\bullet}(X, \text{gr } E)$ is functorial in *E*.

We need an auxiliary construction

Definition 5.6.3 (Bundle generated by arrows). Let *E* be an homogeneous bundle on *X* with gr $E = \bigoplus V_{\lambda} \otimes E_{\lambda}$. Then $V = \bigoplus V_{\lambda}$ is a $\mathbf{k}[Q_{\mathcal{X}}]$ -module. Consider a weight $\lambda' \in D'$, then we define the subbundle of *E* generated by all the arrows starting from λ as the bundle corresponding to the sub $\mathbf{k}[Q_X]$ -module generated by $V_{\lambda} \subseteq V$.

Now we can prove the theorem:

Theorem 5.6.4. The sequence $(H^{\bullet}(X, gr E), c_{\bullet})$ is a complex with cohomology

$$\frac{Ker c_i}{Im c_{i-1}} \cong H^i(X, E)$$

Proof. Let *U* be an irreducible *G*-module. It is enough to prove that

$$H^{i}(X, E)^{U} = \frac{\operatorname{Ker} \left(H^{i}(X, \operatorname{gr} E)^{U} \xrightarrow{c_{i}} H^{i+1}(X, \operatorname{gr} E)^{U}\right)}{\operatorname{Im} \left(H^{i-1}(X, \operatorname{gr} E)^{U} \xrightarrow{c_{i}} H^{i}(X, \operatorname{gr} E)^{U}\right)}$$

In order to do this we consider the following filtration of *E*:

- E_1 is defined taking all the arrows starting from any direct summand $F \subseteq \text{gr } E$ such that $H^n(X, F)^U \neq 0$.
- E_2 is defined taking all the arrows starting from any direct summand $F \subseteq$ gr E such that $H^{n-1}(X,F)^U \oplus H^n(X,F)^U \neq 0$.
- In general, E_i is defined by taking all the arrows starting from any direct summand $F \subseteq \operatorname{gr} E$ such that $\bigoplus_{k=0}^{i-1} H^{n-i}(X, F)^U \neq 0$.

Then we have that

$$H^{j}(X, \operatorname{gr} E_{i+1}/E_{i})^{U} = \begin{cases} H^{n-1}(X, \operatorname{gr} E)^{U}, & \text{if } j = n-i \\ 0 & \text{if } i \neq n-i \end{cases}$$

so that, from the spectral sequence associated to the filtration, we see have

$$H^{j}(X, E_{i+1}/E_{i})^{U} = \begin{cases} H^{n-1}(X, \operatorname{gr} E)^{U}, & \text{if } j = n-i \\ 0 & \text{if } i \neq n-i \end{cases}$$

We have the commutative diagram

$$H^{i-1}(X, E_{n-i+2}/E_{n-i+1})^{U}$$

$$H^{i-1}(X, \operatorname{gr} E/E_{n-i+1})^{U}$$

$$\downarrow f$$

$$H^{i}(X, E/E_{n-i+1})^{U} \longrightarrow H^{i}(X, E_{n-i+1}/E_{n-i})^{U} \longrightarrow H^{i+1}(X, E_{n-i})^{U}$$

$$\downarrow g$$

$$H^{i+1}(X, \operatorname{gr} E_{n-i})^{U}$$

$$\parallel$$

$$H^{i+1}(X, E_{n-i}/E_{n-i-1})^{U}$$

where *f* is given by the spectral sequence and it is surjective, as $H^i(X, \text{gr } E/E_{n-i+1})^U = 0$, and the map *g* is injective as $H^i(X, \text{gr } E_{n-i})^U = 0$. Furthermore, we observe that the central term is

$$H^{i}(X, E_{n-i+1}/E_{n-i})^{U} = H^{i}(X, \operatorname{gr} E)^{U}$$

Now, from Theorem 5.6.1 and the above diagram it follows that

$$H^{i}(X,E)^{U} \cong Z_{i}^{n-i}/B_{i}^{n-i} = \frac{\operatorname{Ker} (H^{i}(X, E_{n-i+1}/E_{n-i})^{U} \longrightarrow H^{i+1}(X, E_{n-i}/E_{n-i-1})^{U})}{\operatorname{Im} (H^{i}(X, E_{n-i+2}/E_{n-i+1})^{U} \longrightarrow H^{i}(X, E_{n-i+1}/E_{n-i})^{U})}$$

We just need to show that the boundary map

H

$$H^{i}(X, E_{n-i+2}/E_{n-i+1})^{U} \longrightarrow H^{i}(X, E_{n-i+1}/E_{n-i})^{U}$$

induced by the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow E_{n-i+1}/E_{n-i} \longrightarrow E_{n-i+2}/E_{n-i} \longrightarrow E_{n-i+2}/E_{n-i+1} \longrightarrow 0$$

is indeed the composition of the quiver maps tensored with the distringuished isomorphism $j_{\lambda\mu}$. By Lemma 5.6.3, we know that this is true if the quiver representation has support on a A_m -quiver and we want to reduce ourselves to this case. take two subbundles $V_{\lambda} \otimes E_{\lambda} \subseteq \text{gr } E_{n-i+2}/E_{n-i+1}$ and $V_{\mu} \otimes \text{gr } E_{\mu} \subseteq E_{n-i+1}/E_{n-i}$ such that $U \cong H^{i-1}(X, E_{\lambda}) \cong H^i(X, E_{\mu})$.

We need to prove that the composition of the maps

$$H^{i-1}(X, V_{\lambda} \otimes E_{\lambda}) \longrightarrow H^{i-1}(X, E_{n-i+2}/E_{n-i+1})^{U} \longrightarrow H^{i}(X, E_{n-i+1}/E_{n-i})^{U} \longrightarrow H^{i}(X, V_{\mu} \otimes E_{\mu})$$

is obtained by composing the maps that go from V_{λ} to V_{μ} in the quiver representation.

Consider the commutative diagram with exact rows and columns



where *W* is the quotient of E_{n+i-2}/E_{n-i} obtined by taking all the arrows arriving in E_{μ} . This diagram induces another commutative diagram

Then we see that $h \circ f = 0$ because E_{μ} is not a direct summand of *K*. Then the map *h* lifts to

For the final step, we consider the subbundle $P \subseteq Q$ obtained taking all the arrows starting from λ . Then *P* satisfies the assumptions of Lemma 5.6.3. We have a commutative diagram

where *k* and *r* are induced in cohomology by the inclusions. By construction of *Q*, it follows that $H^{i+1}(X, \text{gr }Q')^{U} = H^{i+1}(X, V_{\mu} \otimes E_{\mu})$; hence it follows that $H^{i+1}(X, Q')^{U} = H^{i+1}(X, V_{\mu} \otimes E_{\mu})$ where the equality is given by *g* and $g \circ k = \text{id}$.

By Lemma 5.6.3 the map in the leftmost column in the last diagram is the composition of the quiver maps tensored with the distinguished isomorphism $j_{\lambda\mu}$. Then the proof is completed by diagram chasing in the other two diagrams.

5.7 Example: the projective line

To illustrate the theory that we have developed so far, we consider the case of the projective line \mathbb{P}^1 .

Let $V = \mathbf{k}^2$ and consider the group G = SL(2). As we did for the *n*-dimensional case, we set in *G* the torus *T* and the Borel subgroup

$$T = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} t_0 & 0 \\ 0 & t_1 \end{pmatrix} \middle| t_i \in \mathbf{k}^*, t_0 t_1 = 1 \right\} \qquad B = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} t_0 & 0 \\ x & t_1 \end{pmatrix} \middle| x \in \mathbf{k}, t_i \in \mathbf{k}^*, t_0 t_1 = 1 \right\}$$

We consider the characters $\chi_i \in X^*(T)$ defined by

$$\chi_i \colon T \longrightarrow \mathbf{k}^* \qquad t \mapsto t_i$$

for i = 0, 1 and we set $\alpha_1 = \chi_1 - \chi_0$. Then $\Phi = \{\alpha_1, -\alpha_1\}$ and $\Phi(B) = \Phi^+ = \Delta = \{\alpha_1\}$. The Weyl group is generated by the reflection

$$r: \alpha_1 \mapsto -\alpha_1$$

The fundamental weight corresponding to α_1 is $\lambda_1 = \frac{1}{2}\alpha_1$ and the dominant weights are those of the form $p\lambda_1$ for $p \ge 0$. The irreducible representation of *G* corresponding to the dominant weight $p\lambda_1$ is the symmetric power $S^p(V)$.

Now, in this case the parabolic group *P* coincides with the Borel subgroup: in particular the Levi decomposition is given by $B = N \rtimes R$ with

$$N = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ x & 1 \end{pmatrix} \middle| x \in \mathbf{k} \right\} \qquad R = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} t^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & t \end{pmatrix} \middle| t \in \mathbf{k}^* \right\}$$

and we see that the Weyl chamber of *R* is the whole of $\Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T)$: the irreducible representation of *R* corresponding to the weight $a\lambda_1$ is det^{*a*}, that corresponds to the line bundle $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(a)$.



In this setting, Bott's Theorem is very simple: observe that $g = \lambda_1$ and that W' = W, so that we can express it in the following form.

Theorem 5.7.1. It holds that

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(a)) = \begin{cases} S^{a}(V) & \text{if } a \ge 0\\ 0 & \text{if } a < 0 \end{cases} \qquad H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(a)) = \begin{cases} S^{-a-2}(V) & \text{if } a \le -2\\ 0 & \text{if } a > -2 \end{cases}$$

In particular, we see that the Bott chambers of \mathbb{P}^1 of length 0 and 1 respectively are

 $B_0 = \{ p\lambda_1 \mid p \ge 0 \} \qquad B_1 = \{ p\lambda_1 \mid p \le -2 \}$

and their vertices are indeed $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}$ and $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-2) = \Omega^1_{\mathbb{P}^1}$.

Now, since $\Omega^1_{\mathbb{P}^1} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-2)$ we see that the quiver of \mathbb{P}^1 is given by the following diagram (for clarity, only one connected component of the quiver is showed):



5.7.1 Plethysm of $\wedge^n(S^m(V))$

As an application of Theorem 5.6.4 we are going to obtain a plethysm formula for $\wedge^n S^m(V)$, i.e. a formula for its decomposition into irreducible representation. We are going to use the same notation of Cayley-Sylvester formula 1.1.5, that is we set

$$p(n, m, e) \stackrel{\text{der}}{=} # \{ (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_n) \mid m \ge \mu_1 \ge \dots \ge \mu_n \ge 0, \ \mu_1 + \dots + \mu_n = e \}$$

for every nonnegative integers *n*, *m*, *e*.

The result that we want to prove is the following:

Proposition 5.7.1. Let *n*, *m* be two nonnegative integers. Then

$$\wedge^{n}(S^{m}(V)) = \bigoplus_{e \ge 0} S^{e}(V)^{\oplus M(n,m,e)}$$

where

$$M(n,m,e) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} p\left(n,m-n+1,\frac{n(m-n+1)-e}{2}\right) - p\left(n,m-n+1,\frac{n(m-n+1)-e}{2}-1\right)$$

in particular, we have the isomorphism of SL(V)-representations

$$\wedge^n(S^m(V)) \cong S^n(S^{m-n+1}(V))$$

Proof. Consider the vector bundle $\wedge^n(S^m(V)) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}$ on \mathbb{P}^1 . We know from Bott's Theorem that $H^0(\mathbb{P}^1, \wedge^n(S^m(V)) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}) = \wedge^n(S^m(V))$ and from Theorem 5.6.4, we know that we can compute $H^0(\mathbb{P}^1, \wedge^n(S^m(V)))$ as the 0-th cohomology of the complex

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \operatorname{gr} \wedge^{n}(S^{m}(V)) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}) \xrightarrow{c_{0}} H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \operatorname{gr} \wedge^{n}(S^{m}(V)) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}) \longrightarrow 0$$

From Theorem 5.6.2 it follows that the map c_0 has maximal rank so that the computation of $H^0(\mathbb{P}^1, \wedge^n(S^m(V)) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1})$ reduces to a combinatorial problem: for every $e \ge 0$ and i = 0, 1 we define $m_i(e)$ as the number of times that the irreducible representation $S^e(V)$ appears on $H^i(\mathbb{P}^1, \operatorname{gr} \wedge^n(S^m(V)) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1})$, then

$$\wedge^n(S^m(V)) = H^0(\mathbb{P}^1, \wedge^n(S^m(V)) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}) = \bigoplus_{e \ge 0} S^p(V)^{\oplus \max\{m_0(e) - m_1(e), 0\}}$$

But now we can observe that $H^1(\mathbb{P}^1, \wedge^n(S^m(V)) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}) = 0$ and this means that $m_0(e) \ge m_1(e)$ for all $e \ge 0$. Hence

$$\wedge^{n}(S^{m}(V)) = H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \wedge^{n}(S^{m}V))) = \bigoplus_{e \ge 0} S^{e}(V)^{\oplus (m_{0}(e) - m_{1}(e))}$$

Now, taking the Euler sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega_{\mathbb{P}^1}(1) \longrightarrow V^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(1) \longrightarrow 0$$

and then dualizing we get the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-1) \longrightarrow V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1} \longrightarrow Q \longrightarrow 0$$

where $Q = {\Omega^1_{\mathbb{P}^1}}^{\vee}(-1) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(1)$ so that

gr
$$V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-1) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(1)$$

Then

$$\operatorname{gr}(S^{m}(V)) = S^{m}(\operatorname{gr} V) = S^{m}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(-1) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(1)) = \bigoplus_{h=0}^{m} S^{m-h}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(1)) \otimes S^{h}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(-1)) = \bigoplus_{h=0}^{m} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(m-2h)$$

Suppose for simplicity that m = 2d is even: then we can write

$$\operatorname{gr}(S^{2d}(V)) = \bigoplus_{h=-d}^{d} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(2h)$$

so that

$$\operatorname{gr}\left(\wedge^{n}(S^{2d}(V))\right) = \wedge^{n}\operatorname{gr}\left(\bigoplus_{h=-d}^{d}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(2h)\right) = \bigoplus_{(a_{0},\ldots,a_{2d})}(\wedge^{a_{0}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}\otimes\ldots\otimes\wedge^{a_{2d}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}})\left(2\sum_{h=0}^{2d}ha_{h}\right)$$

where the sum is over all (a_0, \ldots, a_{2d}) such that $a_i \ge 0$ and $a_0 + \cdots + a_{2d} = n$. Since $\wedge^a \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1} = 0$ as soon as $a \ge 2$, we can rewrite the above as

gr
$$(\wedge^n(S^{2d}(V))) = \bigoplus_{(i_1,\dots,i_n)} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}\left(2\sum_{h=1}^n i_h\right)$$

where the sum is over all elements

$$(i_1,\ldots,i_n)$$
 such that $d \ge i_1 > i_2 > \cdots > i_n \ge -d$

that represent the subsets of $\{-d, \ldots, d\}$ of cardinality *n*.

Now, if we define the numbers

$$q(n,d,w) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} # \left\{ (i_1,\ldots,i_n) \middle| d \ge i_1 > i_2 > \cdots > i_n \ge -d, \sum_{h=1}^n i_h = w \right\}$$

then we can write

$$\operatorname{gr}\left(\wedge^{n}(S^{m}(V))\right) = \bigoplus_{w \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(2w)^{\oplus q(n,d,w)}$$

so that

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(\operatorname{gr}(\wedge^{n}(S^{m}(V)))) = \bigoplus_{w \ge 0} S^{2w}(V)^{\oplus q(n,d,w)}$$
$$H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(\operatorname{gr}(\wedge^{n}(S^{m}(V)))) = \bigoplus_{w \ge 0} S^{2w}(V)^{\oplus q(n,d,-w-1)}$$

Now we observe that q(n, d, w) is clearly an even function on w, so that, in conclusion

$$\wedge^{n}(S^{2d}V) = \bigoplus_{w \ge 0} S^{2w}(V)^{\oplus q(n,d,w) - q(n,d,w+1)}$$

Now, to complete the proof it is enough to show that

$$q(n, d, w) = p\left(n, 2d - n + 1, \frac{n(2d - n + 1) - 2w}{2}\right)$$

for every n, d, w. To this end, define the sets

$$Q(n, d, w) = \left\{ (j_1, \dots, j_n) \middle| 2d \ge j_1 > \dots > j_n \ge 0, \ \sum_{h=1}^n j_h = -w + nd \right\}$$
$$P(n, d, w) = \left\{ (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n) \middle| 2d - n + 1 \ge \lambda_1 \ge \dots \ge \lambda_n \ge 0, \ \sum_{h=1}^n \lambda_h = \frac{n(2d - n + 1) - 2w}{2} \right\}$$

and observe that $p\left(n, 2d - n + 1, \frac{n(2d - n + 1) - 2w}{2}\right) = \#P(n, d, w)$ by definition, whereas the bijection

$$\left\{ (i_1,\ldots,i_n) \middle| d \ge i_1 > \cdots > i_n \ge -d, \sum_{h=1}^n i_h = -w \right\} \longrightarrow Q(n,d,w) \qquad (i_1,\ldots,i_n) \mapsto (i_1+d,\ldots,i_n+d)$$

shows that q(n, d, -w) = #Q(n, d, w) and then q(n, d, w) = #Q(n, d, w) by parity. Consider the two maps

$$F: Q(n, d, w) \longrightarrow P(n, d, w) \qquad (j_1, \dots, j_n) \mapsto (j_1 - n + 1, \dots, j_{n-1} - 1, j_n)$$

$$G: P(n, d, w) \longrightarrow Q(n, d, w) \qquad (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_m) \mapsto (\lambda_1 + n - 1, \dots, \lambda_{n-1} + 1, \lambda_n)$$

We show that these are well-defined: suppose that $(j_1, \ldots, j_n) \in Q(n, d, w)$, then we know that $j_h > j_{h+1}$ for all $h = 2, \ldots, n$, so that $j_h - h - 1 \ge j_{h+1} - h$ and it is also obvious that $j_n - n + 1 \le 2d - n + 1$, while $j_1 \ge 0$ by definition. Moreover, we see that

$$\sum_{h=1}^{n} j_h - (h-1) = \sum_{h=1}^{n} j_h - \sum_{h=1}^{n} (h-1) = -w + nd - \frac{n(n-1)}{2} = \frac{n(2d-n+1) - 2w}{2}$$

and this proves that *F* is well-defined. In a similar way, one can show that *G* is well-defined, and then it is obvious that they are one the inverse of the other. This concludes the proof of decomposition in the case of m = 2d even, for *m* odd we can get to the conclusion by a similar reasoning.

For the isomorphism $\wedge^n S^m(V) \cong S^n(S^{m-n+1}(V))$, it is enough to confront the above formula with the Cayley-Sylvester formula 1.1.5, and see that they coincide.

Chapter 6

The Veronese surface

In this chapter we want to present a method to compute the Betti table of the Veronese surface $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$, under an additional hypothesis on the *SL*(3)-morphisms involved.

6.1 Working on the projective plane

Let $V = \mathbf{k}^3$ and let $\mathbb{P}^2 = \mathbb{P}(V)$ be the projective space of lines of V. Then for every $d \ge 1$ consider the line bundle $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d)$. We want to study the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$: from Remark 3.1.1 we know that this Betti table has shape

	0	1	2	•••	3d - 3	3d - 2	3d - 1		$r_d - d$	$r_d - d + 1$		$r_d - 3$	$r_d - 2$
0	1	-	-	_	-	-	-	_	-	_	-	-	_
1	_	*	*		*	*	*		*	_		_	_
2	_	_	_		_	*	*		*	*		*	*

where $r_d = \dim S^d(\mathbf{k}^3) - 1 = \binom{d+2}{2} - 1 = \frac{(d+2)(d+1)}{2} - 1$. In particular, we see that as soon as $d \ge 5$ there are diagonals p + q = s with more than one nonzero Betti number, so that the techniques that we have used in Subsection 2.7.4 to compute the Betti numbers do not work anymore.

Then we need another method: let M_d be the syzygy bundle defined by the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_d \longrightarrow S^d V^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d) \longrightarrow 0$$

then by Example 2.1.1, we know that

$$K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}) = H^q(\mathbb{P}^2, \wedge^{p+q}M_d)$$

The key point is that M_d is an homogeneous bundle, so that we can compute its cohomology using Theorem 5.6.4. More specifically, for any s = p + q we consider the complex

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, \operatorname{gr} \wedge^{s} M_{d}) \xrightarrow{c_{0}} H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, \operatorname{gr} \wedge^{s} M_{d}) \xrightarrow{c_{1}} H^{2}(\mathbb{P}^{1}, \operatorname{gr} \wedge^{s} M_{d}) \longrightarrow 0$$
(6.1)

and then Theorem 5.6.4 tells us that

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{s}M_{d}) = \operatorname{Ker} c_{0} \qquad H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{s}M_{d}) = \frac{\operatorname{Ker} c_{1}}{\operatorname{Im} c_{0}} \qquad H^{2}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{s}M_{d}) = \frac{H^{2}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\operatorname{gr} \wedge^{s}M_{d})}{\operatorname{Im} c_{1}}$$

The additional hypothesis that we make is that the maps c_0, c_1 have maximal rank, so that, once we know the decomposition into irreducible representation of $H^i(\mathbb{P}^2, \text{gr } \wedge^s M_d)$ we can compute the cohomology of the complex in a purely combinatorial way as in the proof of Proposition 5.7.1. To understand better what we mean, we provide an example for the case d = 2.

6.1.1 The case d = 2

We want to work out again the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(2))$. First, we need to compute gr M_2 : since *gr* is an exact functor, we have an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{gr} M_2 \longrightarrow \operatorname{gr} (S^2 V^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(2) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(2) \longrightarrow 0$$
(6.2)

and then, from the Euler sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1) \longrightarrow V^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1) \longrightarrow 0$$

we get that

$$\mathrm{gr}\;(V^ee\otimes\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2})=\Omega^1_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)\oplus\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)$$

It will be convenient for later to work with the quotient bundle Q instead than the cotangent bundle. Taking the dual of the Euler sequence, we see that $Q = \Omega_{\mathbb{P}^2}^1(1)^{\vee}$, hovewer, on \mathbb{P}^2 we know that $\Omega_{\mathbb{P}^2}^2 = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(-3)$ so that $\Omega_{\mathbb{P}^2}^{1}^{\vee} = \Omega_{\mathbb{P}^2}^1(3)$ and then $\Omega_{\mathbb{P}^2}^1 = Q(-2)$. Then, we see that

$$\operatorname{gr} \left(S^2 V^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \right) = S^2(\operatorname{gr} V^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}) = S^2(Q(-1) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)) = S^2Q(-2) \oplus Q \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(2)$$

and from the exact sequence 6.2 we see that

$$\operatorname{gr} M_2 = S^2 Q(-2) \oplus Q$$

for later use, we remark that $rk S^2Q(-2) = 3$ and that rk Q = 2.

Now we need to compute the cohomology of \wedge^{s} gr M_{2} , note that, as rk $M_{2} = 5$ it will be enough to consider s = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5.

• s = 0: in this case we have to consider \wedge^0 gr $M_2 = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}$. The complex 6.1 in this case is

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0$$

and then taking cohomology we see that

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{2}}) = \mathbf{k} \qquad H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{2}}) = 0 \qquad H^{2}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{2}}) = 0$$

• s = 1: in this case we have to consider gr $M_2 = S^2Q(-2) \oplus Q$. Then from Example 5.4.1, we can compute the complex in cohomology and see that it is given by

$$0 \longrightarrow V \longrightarrow V \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0$$

so that

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, M_{2}) = 0$$
 $H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, M_{2}) = 0$ $H^{2}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, M_{2}) = 0$

• s = 2: in this case we have to consider $\wedge^2(S^2Q(-2) \oplus Q)$. We have the decomposition

$$\wedge^2(S^2Q(-2)\oplus Q) = \wedge^2(S^2Q)(-4) \oplus [S^2Q \otimes Q](-2) \oplus \wedge^2Q$$

Now, we neet to decompose $\wedge^2(S^2Q)$ and $S^2Q \otimes Q$ as direct sum of irreducible homogeneous bundles. This is a problem of representations of GL(2), viewing Q as the standard representation: in particular, using Proposition 5.7.1 for the plethysm SL(2) we see that

$$\wedge^2(S^2Q) = S^2Q(a)$$

for a certain $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ that corresponds to a power of the determinant representations of GL(2). Now, to compute the right a, we observe that $\wedge^2(S^2Q)$ is polystable, since irreducible homogeneous bundles are stable (see [Ram66] and [Ott]) and tensor powers, symmetric powers and wedge powers of stable bundles are stable (see [HL96]). Hence

$$\mu(\wedge^2(S^2Q)) = \mu(S^2Q(a))$$
(6.3)

Now, we see that $\mu(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(a)) = \frac{c_1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(a))}{\operatorname{rk} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(a)} = a$, whereas the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(-1) \longrightarrow V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \longrightarrow Q \longrightarrow 0$$

tells us that $c_1(Q) = c_1(V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}) - c_1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-1)) = 0 - (-1) = 1$ so that $\mu(Q) = \frac{1}{2}$. Then we see that $\mu(\wedge^2(S^2Q)) = 2\mu(S^2(Q)) = 2 \cdot 2 \cdot \mu(Q) = 2$ and $\mu(S^2Q(a)) = \mu(S^2(Q)) + \mu(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(a)) = 1 + a$ so that the equation 6.3 tells us that a = 1 and then

$$\wedge^2(S^2(Q)) = S^2Q(1)$$

With a similar reasoning we can compute the decomposition of $S^2Q \otimes Q$: from the Pieri rule 1.1.3 we have that $S^2Q \otimes Q = S^3(Q)(a) \oplus S^{(2,1)}Q(b)$ for certain $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$. Now we observe that, as representations of GL(2) we have $S^{(2,1)}Q = Q(c)$ for a certain $c \in \mathbb{Z}$, and to compute $a, c \in \mathbb{Z}$ we can use the same strategy with the slope as before: we see that $\mu(S^2Q \otimes Q) = \mu(S^2Q) + \mu(Q) = 1 + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{3}{2}$ whereas $\mu(S^3Q(a)) = \frac{3}{2} + a$ and $\mu(Q(c)) = \frac{1}{2} + c$. Then from the identities

$$\mu(S^2Q\otimes Q) = \mu(S^3Q(a)) \qquad \mu(S^2Q\otimes Q) = \mu(Q(c))$$

we see that a = 0 and c = 1. Then

$$S^2 Q \otimes Q = S^3 Q \oplus Q(1)$$

To conclude, we see that $\wedge^2 Q = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(a)$ for a certain $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, and using the slope as before we see that a = 1. Then, we have shown that

gr
$$\wedge^2 M_2 = S^3 Q(-2) \oplus S^2 Q(-3) \oplus Q(-1) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)$$

And taking cohomology with Bott's theorem (see Example 5.4.1) we see that the cohomology complex of gr $\wedge^2 M_2$ is

$$0 \longrightarrow \wedge^2 V \longrightarrow \wedge^2 V \oplus S^2 V \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0$$

and with our hypothesis of maximal rank maps we see that

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{2}M_{2}) = 0$$
 $H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{2}M_{2}) = S^{2}V$ $H^{2}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{2}M_{2}) = 0$

• s = 3: in this case we have to consider $\wedge^3(S^2Q(-2) \oplus Q)$ we see that

$$\wedge^3(S^2Q(-2)\oplus Q) = \wedge^3(S^2Q)(-6) \oplus [\wedge^2(S^2Q)\otimes Q](-4) \oplus [S^2Q\otimes \wedge^2Q](-2)$$

Now we see that $\wedge^3(S^2Q) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(a)$ for a certain $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and since $\mu(\wedge^3(S^2Q)) = 6 \cdot \frac{1}{2} = 3$ and $\mu(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(a)) = a$, it follows that a = 3.

We proceed to decompose $\wedge^2(S^2Q) \otimes Q$: we have already seen (in the case d = 2) that $\wedge^2(S^2Q) = S^2Q(1)$ and then using Pieri's rule we see that $S^2Q(1) \otimes Q = (S^3Q)(a) \oplus Q(b)$ for certain $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$. But $\mu(S^2Q(1) \otimes Q) = \frac{5}{2}$ and $\mu(S^3Q(a)) = \frac{3}{2} + a$ and $\mu(Q(b)) = \frac{1}{2} + b$ so that $S^2Q(1) \otimes Q = S^3Q(1) \oplus Q(2)$.

The last remaining is $S^2Q \otimes \wedge^2 Q$: we observe that $\wedge^2 Q = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)$ since $\mu(\wedge^2 Q) = 1$ and then $S^2Q \otimes \wedge^2 Q = S^2Q(1)$.

To conclude, we have shown that

gr
$$\wedge^3 M_2 = S^3 Q(-3) \oplus S^2 Q(-1) \oplus Q(-2) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(-3)$$

and taking cohomology with Bott's theorem we see that the cohomology complex is given by

$$0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow S^{(2,1)}V \oplus \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow \mathbf{k} \longrightarrow 0$$

so that

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{3}M_{2}) = 0 \qquad H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{3}M_{2}) = S^{(2,1)}V \qquad H^{2}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{3}M_{2}) = 0$$

• s = 4: in this case we have to study $\wedge^4(S^2Q(-2) \oplus Q)$: we see that

$$\wedge^4(S^2Q(-2)\oplus Q) = [\wedge^3(S^2Q)\otimes Q](-6)\oplus [\wedge^2(S^2Q)\otimes \wedge^2 Q](-4)$$

and we know from computations that we have already done that $\wedge^3(S^2Q) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(3)$, $\wedge^2(S^2Q) = S^2Q(1)$ and $\wedge^2Q = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)$ so that

gr
$$\wedge^4 M_2 = S^2 Q(-2) \oplus Q(-3)$$

and the cohomology complex is

$$0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow V \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0$$

so that

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{4}M_{2}) = 0$$
 $H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{4}M_{2}) = V$ $H^{2}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{4}M_{2}) = 0$

• s = 5: in this last case we have to study $\wedge^5(S^2Q(-2) \oplus Q)$ and we see that

$$\wedge^5(S^2Q(-2)\oplus Q) = [\wedge^3(S^2(Q))\otimes\wedge^2 Q](-6) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(-2)$$

and then the cohomology complex is

$$0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0$$

so that

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{5}M_{2}) = 0$$
 $H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{5}M_{2}) = 0$ $H^{2}(\mathbb{P}^{2},\wedge^{5}M_{2}) = 0$

Then, we see that the Betti table of $(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(2))$ is given representation-theoretically by

and computing dimensions from Proposition 1.1.1, we see that the Betti numbers are given by

in accordance to what we have proved before. In particular this shows that our assumption that the maps in the cohomology complex have maximal rank is verified in this case.

6.1.2 The general case

Now we want to apply this strategy to the case of an arbitrary $d \ge 1$. The main points are:

- 1. Compute the decomposition into irreducible bundles of gr $\wedge^{s} M_{d}$. To do this we can exploit two auxiliary tools:
 - The formula for the plethysm of $\wedge^n(S^m(\mathbf{k}^2))$ that we have obtained in Proposition 5.7.1.
 - The fact that irreducible homogeneous bundle on \mathbb{P}^2 are stable (see [Ram66], [Ott]). So that their tensor powers, alternating powers and symmetric powers splits as the direct sums of homogeneous vector bundles with the same slope.
- 2. Compute the cohomology $H^i(\mathbb{P}^2, \text{gr } M_d)$ thanks to Bott's Theorem in Example 5.4.1.
3. Compute the cohomology of the complex

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, \operatorname{gr} \wedge^{2} M_{d}) \xrightarrow{c_{0}} H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, \operatorname{gr} \wedge^{2} M_{d}) \xrightarrow{c_{1}} H^{2}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, \operatorname{gr} \wedge^{s} E_{d}) \xrightarrow{c_{2}} 0$$

under the assumption that the maps c_0 an c_1 have maximal rank. Then use Theorem 5.6.4, which tells us that

$$H^i(\mathbb{P}^2,\wedge^s M_d)\cong rac{\operatorname{Ker} c_i}{\operatorname{Im} c_{i-1}}$$

4. Compute the Koszul cohomology through Example 2.1.1, that tells us that

$$K_{p,q}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d)) \cong H^q(\mathbb{P}^2, \wedge^{p+q}M_d)$$

Now, the first point is to compute the decomposition of gr $\wedge^{s} M_{d}$ into irreducible representations. We have already seen in the case d = 2 that

$$\operatorname{gr}(V^{\vee}\otimes\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2})=Q(-1)\oplus\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)$$

and then

$$\operatorname{gr} \left(S^d V^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \right) = S^d(\operatorname{gr} V^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}) = S^d(Q(-1) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)) = \bigoplus_{h=0}^d S^h Q(d-2h)$$

Now, the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow M_d \longrightarrow S^d V^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d) \longrightarrow 0$$

yields an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{gr} M_d \longrightarrow \operatorname{gr} S^d V^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d) \longrightarrow 0$$

so that

$$\operatorname{gr} M_d = \bigoplus_{h=1}^d S^h Q(d-2h)$$

We need to study the wedge power gr $\wedge^s M_d$ for every $s \ge 0$. We see that

$$\operatorname{gr} \wedge^{s} M_{d} = \wedge^{s} (\operatorname{gr} M_{d}) = \bigwedge^{s} \left(\bigoplus_{h=1}^{d} S^{h} Q(d-2h) \right) = \bigoplus_{(a_{1},\dots,a_{d})} \bigotimes_{h=1}^{d} \wedge^{a_{h}} S^{h} Q(d-2h)$$
$$= \bigoplus_{(a_{1},\dots,a_{d})} \bigotimes_{h=1}^{d} (\wedge^{a_{h}} S^{h} Q) (a_{h}(d-2h)) = \bigoplus_{(a_{1},\dots,a_{d})} \left[\bigotimes_{h=1}^{d} \wedge^{a_{h}} S^{h} Q \right] \left(sd - 2\sum_{h} a_{h}h \right)$$

where the sum is over the set

$$\{a = (a_1, \ldots, a_d) \mid a_h \ge 0, a_1 + \cdots + a_d = s\}$$

But since $\operatorname{rk} S^h Q = h + 1$ we can limit ourselves to sum over the set

$$A_{d,s} = \{ a = (a_1, \dots, a_d) \mid 0 \le a_h \le h+1, a_1 + \dots + a_d = s \}$$

hence

gr
$$\wedge^{s} M_{d} = \bigoplus_{a \in A_{d,s}} \left[\bigotimes_{h=1}^{d} \wedge^{a_{h}} S^{h} Q \right] \left(sd - 2\sum_{h} a_{h}h \right)$$

Now, we need to find the decomposition of $\otimes_{h=1}^{d} \wedge^{a_h} S^h Q$: we can write formally

$$\bigotimes_{h=1}^{d} \wedge^{a_h} S^h Q = \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} S^n Q(b_n) \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M(a, n)$$

where M(a, n) is a vector space that counts the multiplicity of the SL(2)-representation $S^n(\mathbf{k}^2)$ in $\otimes_{h=1}^d \wedge^{a_h} S^h(\mathbf{k}^2)$ and the b_h are certain integers. To determine the b_h we can use the slope: we see that

$$\mu(\otimes_{h=1}^{d} \wedge^{a_{h}} S^{h}Q) = \sum_{h=1}^{d} \mu(\wedge^{a_{h}} S^{h}Q) = \sum_{h=1}^{d} \frac{1}{2}a_{h}h = \frac{1}{2}\sum_{h=1}^{d} a_{h}h$$

and then the equation $\mu(S^nQ(b_n)) = \mu(\otimes_{h=1}^d \wedge^{a_h} S^hQ)$ tells us that

$$b_n = \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{h=1}^d a_h h - n \right)$$

Summing up, we can write

$$\operatorname{gr} \wedge^{s} M_{d} = \bigoplus_{a \in A_{d,s}} \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} S^{n} Q\left(ds - \frac{3}{2} \sum_{h=1}^{d} a_{h}h - \frac{n}{2}\right) \otimes_{\mathbf{k}} M(a, n)$$
(6.4)

Now we have to compute the vector space M(a, n), which is a problem in representation theory of SL(2). However, the above expression tells us already that

$$M(a,n) = 0$$
 if $\sum_{h=1}^{d} ha_h - n \equiv 1 \mod 2$

Now, let $W = \mathbf{k}^2$ be the standard representation of SL(2). Then we need to compute the decomposition into irreducible representations of $\bigotimes_{h=1}^{d} \wedge^{a_h} S^h W$. For every $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_d) \in A_{d,s}$. We can write formally

$$\wedge^{a_h}S^hW = \bigoplus_{e\geq 0}S^eW\otimes J(a_h,h,e)$$

where $J(a_h, h, e)$ is the vector space that counts the multiplicity of S^eW in $\wedge^{a_h}S^hW$. And now we see that

$$\bigotimes_{h=1}^{d} \wedge^{a_h} S^h W = \bigotimes_{h=1}^{d} \left(\bigoplus_{e \ge 0} S^e W \otimes J(a_h, h, e) \right) = \bigoplus_{e} S^n W \otimes \left[K^{(e,n)} \otimes \bigotimes_{h=1}^{d} J(a_h, h, e_h) \right]$$

where $K^{(e,n)}$ is the vector space that counts the multiplicity of $S^n W$ in $S^{e_1} W \otimes ... \otimes S^{e_d} W$, and the sum is over all $e = (e_1, ..., e_d), e_h \ge 0$. Thus, in our above notation we can write

$$M(a,n) = \bigoplus_{e} \left[K^{(e,n)} \otimes \bigotimes_{h=1}^{d} J(a_h, h, e_h) \right]$$
(6.5)

The vector spaces $K^{(e,n)}$ can be computed inductively thanks to the Clebsch-Gordan formula:

Proposition 6.1.1 (Clebsch-Gordan formula). Let $a \ge b \ge 0$ be two integers. Then

$$S^aW\otimes S^bW= \bigoplus_{h=0}^b S^{a+b-2h}W$$

Proof. This is a simple application of the Pieri's formula 1.1.3: we see that

$$S^{a}W \otimes S^{b}W = S^{a+b}W \oplus S^{(a+b-1,1)}W \oplus \ldots \oplus S^{(a,b)}W$$

but as SL(2)-representations, we see that

$$S^{(h,k)}W = S^{h-k}W$$

for all $h \ge k \ge 0$ and we get the formula.

In particular, we can say when $K^{(e,n)} \neq 0$: this was explained to us by A. Maffei.

Corollary 6.1.1. With the notations as above, let $e = (e_1, \ldots, e_d)$ and $n \ge 0$. Set $r = e_1 + \cdots + e_d$ and $m = \max_{h=1}^d \{2e_h - r\}$. Then

• If $e_1 + \cdots + e_d \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$, then $K^{(e,n)} \neq 0$ if and only if

 $n \equiv 0 \pmod{2}, \max{m,0} \le n \le r$

• If $e_1 + \cdots + e_d \equiv 1 \pmod{2}$, then $K^{(e,n)} \neq 0$ if and only if

 $n \equiv 1 \pmod{2}, \max{m, 1} \le n \le r$

Proof. We proceed to prove the thesis by induction on *d*. The case d = 1 is clear, and the case d = 2 follows from the Clebsch-Gordan formula 6.1.1. Then we suppose that d > 1 and that the thesis is true for d - 1. Now, we observe that $K^{(e,n)}$ is symmetric with respect to the e_h so that we can suppose $e_1 \ge e_2 \ge \cdots \ge e_d$. In particular $m = e_1 - e_2 - e_3 - \cdots - e_d$. Now, let $e' = (e_1, \ldots, e_{d-1})$, then

$$S^{e_1}W \otimes \ldots \otimes S^{e_d}W = \bigoplus_{p \ge 0} (S^pW \otimes K^{(e',p)}) \otimes S^{e_d}W = \bigoplus_{p \ge 0} \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} S^nW \otimes K^{((e_d,p),n)} \otimes K^{(e',p)}$$

hence

$$K^{(e,n)} = \bigoplus_{p \ge 0} K^{(e',p)} \otimes K^{((e_d,p),n)}$$

and we study the various cases.

- Suppose that $e_1 + \cdots + e_{d-1} \equiv 0 \mod 2$: then we have the two subcases
 - $e_d \equiv 0 \mod 2$: suppose first that $K^{(e,n)} \neq 0$. Then there exists a $p \geq 0$ such that $K^{(e',p)} \neq 0$ and $K^{((e_d,p),n)} \neq 0$. By inductive hypothesis we know from $K^{(e',p)} \neq 0$ that $p \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ and

$$\max\{e_1 - e_2 - \dots - e_{d-1}, 0\} \le p \le e_1 + \dots + e_{d-1}$$

and from $K^{((e_d,p),n)} \neq 0$ we know that $n \equiv p + e_d \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ and

$$\max\{p - e_d, e_d - p, 0\} \le n \le p + e_d$$

but then we see that $n \le p + e_d \le e_1 + \cdots + e_d$ and that $n \ge p - e_d \ge e_1 - e_2 - \cdots - e_d$, so that

$$\max\{m, 0\} \le n \le r$$

Conversely, suppose that $n \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ and $\max{m, 0} \leq n \leq r$: then we want to show that there is a $p \geq 0$ such that $K^{(e',p)} \neq 0$ and $K^{((e_d,p),n)} \neq 0$. By inductive hypothesis, these conditions are equivalent to $p \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ and

$$\max\{p - e_d, e_d - p, 0\} \le n \le e_d + p, \qquad \max\{e_1 - e_2 - \dots - e_{d-1}, 0\} \le p \le e_1 + \dots + e_{d-1}$$

that is $p \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ and

$$\max\{n - e_d, e_d - n, m + e_d, 0\} \le p \le \min\{n + e_d, r\}$$

but now we observe that

$$\begin{array}{ll} (n+e_d) - (n-e_d) = 2e_d & r - (n-e_d) = r - n + e_d \\ (n+e_d) - (e_d - n) = 2n & r - (e_d - n) = r + n - e_d = e_1 + \dots + e_{d-1} + n \\ (n+e_d) - (m+e_d) = n - m & r - (m+e_d) = r - m - e_d = 2e_1 + \dots + 2e_{d-1} + e_d \\ (n+e_d) - 0 = n + e_d & r - 0 = r \end{array}$$

so that in any case

$$\min\{n + e_d, r\} - \max\{n - e_d, e_d - n, m + e_d, 0\} \ge 0$$

and if they are equal, then we see that $n + e_d \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ and $r \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ by hypothesis, so that we always manage to find a *p* that works out.

- $e_d \equiv 1 \pmod{2}$: this case can be solved as the previous one.
- Suppose that $e_1 + \cdots + e_{d-1} \equiv 1 \pmod{2}$: then this case can be solved in a way similar to that for the one before.

Unfortunately, we have not managed to find an explicit formula for the dimension of $K^{(e,n)}$ and we do not have an explicit criterion for deciding when $J(a, b, c) \neq 0$ either. However, this strategy can be effectively implemented with the aid of a computer:

• We have written a program in Python that computes the set

$$A_{d,s} = \{ a = (a_1, \dots, a_d) \mid 0 \le a_h \le h+1, \ a_1 + \dots + a_d = s \}$$

through the formula

$$A_{d+1,s} = \bigsqcup_{h=0}^{\min\{s,d+2\}} A_{d,s-h} \times \{h\}$$

that allows to compute the $A_{d,s}$ starting from the $A_{1,\bullet}$, that are very easy to determine.

- We have written a program in Python that computes dim $K^{(e,n)}$ using the Clebsch-Gordan formula 6.1.1. Again we note that the $K^{((e_1,...,e_d),n)}$ can be computed inductively from the $K^{((e_1,...,e_{d-1}),\bullet)}$.
- We have written a program in Python that computes dim *J*(*a*, *b*, *c*) through the formula of Proposition 5.7.1.
- We have written a program in Python that computes the decomposition gr $\wedge^s M_d$ via the formulas 6.4,6.5 and the auxiliary programs listed before. Then we have written another program that computes the cohomology $H^i(\mathbb{P}^2, \text{gr } E_d)$ via Bott's theorem as in Example 5.4.1 and computes the cohomology $H^i(\mathbb{P}^2, E_d)$ using Theorem 5.6.4, under the additional hypothesis that the maps have maximal rank.

For the cases d = 2, 3, 4 we have obtained the same results of Subsection 2.7.3, confirming the hypothesis of the maximal rank.

However with this method we have managed to compute the cases d = 5, 6 as well, that our approach of before, or the standard approach through Macaulay2, could not break. We report here the graphs of $k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$ and $k_{p,2}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d))$ in these cases.



Figure 6.1: The plot on the left shows the Betti numbers $k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(5))$, whereas the plot on the right shows the Betti numbers $k_{p,2}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(5))$. These diagrams are obtained under the additional hypothesis that the maps c_i have maximal rank.



Figure 6.2: The plot on the left shows the Betti numbers $k_{p,1}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(6))$, whereas the plot on the right shows the Betti numbers $k_{p,2}(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(6))$. These diagrams are obtained under the additional hypothesis that the maps c_i have maximal rank.

6.2 Working on the flag variety

We consider now another approach to computing the cohomology of the vector bundles $\wedge^{s} M_{d}$ through homogeneous bundles on the flag variety over \mathbb{P}^{2} .

6.2.1 Homogeneous bundles on the flag variety

Take the Borel subgroup $B^- < G = SL(3)$ given by upper-triangular matrices

$$B^{-} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} t_0 & * & * \\ & t_1 & * \\ & & t_2 \end{pmatrix} \middle| t_0 t_1 t_2 = 1 \right\}$$

and we consider the flag variety $X = G/B^{-}$. Notice that there is a natural projection map

$$\pi\colon X = G/B^- \longrightarrow G/P = \mathbb{P}^2$$

X is naturally an homogeneous variety, so that we can study homogeneous bundles over it with the methods developed in Chapter 5.

Keeping the same notation of Examples 5.1.1, 5.1.2 and 5.1.3 we see that $B^- = P(\Delta)$ and in this case $D' = \Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T)$ and W' = W.

Moreover, the Levi decomposition of B^- is given by $B^- = U \rtimes T$, where *T* is the torus of diagonal matrices and *U* is the set of upper-triangular unipotent matrices

$$U = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & * & * \\ & 1 & * \\ & & 1 \end{pmatrix} \right\}$$

Then, we know from the discussion in Chapter 5 that the irreducible homogeneous bundles on *X* correspond to irreducible representations of *T*, that is, to characters $\lambda \in X^*(T)$; in particular, since every irreducible representations of *T* is one-dimensional, all these bundles are line bundles. For every character $\lambda = p_1\lambda_1 + p_2\lambda_2$ of *T*, we denote by $L_{\lambda} = L_{(p_1,p_2)}$ the corresponding homogeneous line bundle.

Bott's Theorem on X can be expressed as follows:

Proposition 6.2.1 (Bott's theorem on *X*). Let $\lambda = p_1\lambda_1 + p_2\lambda_2$ be a character of *T*. Then

$$H^{0}(X, L_{\lambda}) = \begin{cases} S^{(p_{1}+p_{2}, p_{1})}(V), & \text{if } p_{1}+p_{2} \ge p_{1} \ge 0\\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$H^{1}(X, L_{\lambda}) = \begin{cases} S^{(p_{2}-1, -p_{1}-2)}(V), & \text{if } p_{2}-1 \ge -p_{1}-2 \ge 0\\ S^{(p_{1}-1, p_{1}+p_{2}+1)}(V) & \text{if } p_{1}-1 \ge p_{1}+p_{2}+1 \ge 0\\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$H^{2}(X, L_{\lambda}) = \begin{cases} S^{(-p_{1}-3, p_{2})}(V), & \text{if } -p_{1}-3 \ge p_{2} \ge 0\\ S^{(-p_{2}-3, -p_{1}-p_{2}-1)}(V) & \text{if } -p_{2}-3 \ge -p_{1}-p_{2}-3 \ge 0\\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$H^{3}(X, L_{\lambda}) = \begin{cases} S^{(-p_{1}-p_{2}-4, -p_{2}-2)}(V), & \text{if } -p_{1}-p_{2}-4 \ge -p_{2}-2 \ge 0\\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Proof. It follows from the above remarks and Bott's Theorem 5.4.1.

Remark 6.2.1. As for the projective plane, Bott's theorem is best understood graphically: see picture 6.3.

A particular class of homogeneous bundles on *X* are those coming from \mathbb{P}^2 by pullback. Indeed, it is easy to see that, if *E* is an homogeneous bundle on \mathbb{P}^2 , then π^*E is an homogeneous bundle on *X* and, moreover the functor

$$\pi^* \colon \mathbf{HomVec}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \longrightarrow \mathbf{HomVec}_X$$

corresponds simply to the restriction

$$\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}_{P} \longrightarrow \operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}_{B^{-}} \qquad (\rho \colon P \longrightarrow GL(V)) \mapsto (\rho_{|B^{-}} \colon B^{-} \longrightarrow GL(V))$$

In particular we see that for any homogeneous bundle *E* on \mathbb{P}^2 we have

$$\operatorname{gr} \pi^*(E) = \pi^*(\operatorname{gr} E)$$

indeed, both expressions amounts to taking a representation of *P* and restrict it to a representation of *T*.

We can describe explicitly the effect of the pullback on irreducible bundles. Consider a character $\lambda = p_1\lambda_1 + p_2\lambda_2$ such that $p_2 \ge 0$ and take the corresponding irreducible homogeneous bundle E_{λ} on \mathbb{P}^2 . This is the bundle that corresponds to the irreducible representation V_{λ} of R = GL(2) with highest weight λ , and then computing $\pi^* E_{\lambda}$ is the same as computing the decomposition of V_{λ} into weight spaces, that is

$$\pi^*(E_{\lambda}) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\mathrm{rk}E_{\lambda}-1} L_{\lambda-n\alpha_2} = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{p_2} L_{(p_1+n,p_2-2n)}$$
(6.6)



Figure 6.3: Bott chamber of X: the darker shaded parts are the Bott chambers corresponding to irreducible homogeneous bundles with nonzero H^0 , H^1 , H^2 and H^3 . The Bott chamber with nonzero H^0 correspond to the Weyl chamber *D*. The hyperplanes corresponding to bundles with zero cohomology are represented in blue.

The reason why we are interested in working with the flag variety is that we can study the cohomology of homogeneous bundles on \mathbb{P}^2 by pulling them back to *X*:

Proposition 6.2.2. Let *E* be an homogeneous vector bundle on \mathbb{P}^2 . Then

$$H^i(\mathbb{P}^2, E) \cong H^i(X, \pi^* E)$$

for every i.

Proof. This follows from the Leray spectral sequence. See [Ott].

6.2.2 Cohomology and Random triangles

From Proposition 6.2.2 that we can compute the cohomology $H^i(\mathbb{P}^2, \wedge^s M_d)$ as the *i*-th cohomology of the complex

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(X, \wedge^s \pi^* \operatorname{gr} M_d) \longrightarrow H^0(X, \wedge^s \pi^* \operatorname{gr} M_d) \longrightarrow H^0(X, \wedge^s \pi^* \operatorname{gr} M_d) \longrightarrow 0$$

that is obtained pulling back the corresponding complex on \mathbb{P}^2 . From the above remarks, we see that $\pi^*(\operatorname{gr} M_d)$ is a direct sum of line bundles, so that it is much easier to compute its alternating power $\wedge^s \pi^*(\operatorname{gr} M_d)$, as there is no problem of plethysm or tensor decomposition.

Remark 6.2.2. We point out that for a general homogeneous vector bundle *F* on *X* it is not known whether the cohomology $H^i(X, F)$ coincides with the *i*-th cohomology of the complex

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(X, \operatorname{gr} F) \xrightarrow{c_0} H^1(X, \operatorname{gr} F) \xrightarrow{c_1} H^2(X, \operatorname{gr} F) \xrightarrow{c_2} 0$$

indeed, X is not an Hermitian symmetric variety, so that Theorem 5.6.4 does not apply.

However it was proved by A. Boralevi in [Bor] that there is still an isomorphism

$$H^0(X,F) \cong \operatorname{Ker} c_0$$

Now we want to apply this strategy: we know from the previous section that we have a decomposition of homogeneous bundles on \mathbb{P}^2 given by

gr
$$M_d = \bigoplus_{h=1}^d S^h Q(d-2h) = \bigoplus_{h=1}^d E_{(d-2h,h)}$$

so that, thanks to the formula 6.6 we see that

$$\operatorname{gr} \pi^* M_d = \pi^* (\operatorname{gr} M_d) = \bigoplus_{h=1}^d \bigoplus_{k=0}^h L_{(d-2h+k,h-2k)} = \bigoplus_{(a,b)\in T_d} L_{(a,b)}$$

where

$$T_d = \{ (d - 2h + k)\lambda_1 + (h - 2k)\lambda_2 \mid h = 1, \dots, d \ k = 0, \dots, h \}$$

is a triangle minus one vertex:



Figure 6.4: The bundle gr $\pi^* M_3$: the elements of T_3 are denoted by the fuchsia dots.

Now, since the $L_{(a,b)}$ are all vector bundles we see that

$$\wedge^{s}(\operatorname{gr} \pi^{*}M_{d}) = \bigoplus_{\{\mu_{1},...,\mu_{s}\}} L_{\mu_{1}+\cdots+\mu_{s}}$$

where the sum is over all distinct subsets of T_d of cardinality *s*. For example, the decomposition of \wedge^2 gr π^*M_3 is illustrated in the following figure.



Figure 6.5: The bundle gr $\wedge^2 \pi^* M_3$: the numbers over each dot denote the multiplicity of the corresponding line bundle in the decomposition.

We see that the decomposition of the bundle gr $\wedge^s \pi^* M_d$ recalls somehow the Central Limit Theorem: indeed, summing over all subsets in T_d of cardinality *s* corresponds to considering the random sums $X_1 + \cdots + X_s$, where the X_i are random variables uniformly distributed over T_d , with the condition that all the X_i are distinct. This observation raises hope towards Conjecture 1, but a complete proof appears quite difficult anyway. Here we present two partial results in this direction.

Discrete random triangles

We have seen before that

$$\wedge^s(\operatorname{gr}\,\pi^*M_d)=igoplus_{\set{\mu_1,...,\mu_s}}L_{\mu_1+\dots+\mu_s}$$

where the sum is over all distinct subsets of T_d of cardinality *s*.

The problem here comes from the fact that we are considering subsets of T_d of a fixed cardinality. However, if we consider all possible alternating powers at the same time we see that

$$\bigoplus_{s=0}^{+\infty} \wedge^{s} (\operatorname{gr} \pi^{*} M_{d}) = \bigoplus_{\{\mu_{1}, \dots, \mu_{r}\}} L_{\mu_{1} + \dots + \mu_{r}}$$

where the second sum is over all subsets $\{\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r\} \subseteq T_d$. This means that

$$\bigoplus_{s=0}^{+\infty} \wedge^s (\operatorname{gr} \pi^* M_d) = \bigoplus_{\lambda} L_{\lambda}^{\oplus m(\lambda)}$$

where $m(d, \lambda)$ is the number of subsets of T_d the sum of whose element gives λ . More precisely

$$m(d,\lambda) = \#\left\{I \subseteq T_d \left| \sum_{\mu \in I} \mu = \lambda\right\}\right\}$$

This can be modelized probabilistically as follows: take for every $\mu \in T_d$ a random variable X_{μ} with distribution

$$\mathbb{P}(X_{\mu} = \mu) = \frac{1}{2}$$
 $\mathbb{P}(X_{\mu} = 0) = \frac{1}{2}$

and let

$$S_d = \sum_{\mu \in T_d} X_\mu$$

then it is easy to see that

$$\mathbb{P}(S_d = \lambda) = \frac{m(d, \lambda)}{\sum_{\nu} m(d, \nu)}$$
 for all λ

Proposition 6.2.3. *With the above notations, we have that, as* $d \to +\infty$

$$\frac{S_d - \mathbb{E}[S_d]}{d^2} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, Q)$$

in distribution, where

$$Q = \frac{1}{72} \begin{pmatrix} 9 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

To prove this result we need some preparation first. To begin with, we recall a variant of the Central Limit Theorem due to Lyapounov.

Theorem 6.2.1 (Multidimensional Lyapounov's CLT). Let $\{Y_{n,k} \mid n \ge 1, 1 \le k \le n\}$ be a triangular collection of random variables with values in \mathbb{R}^d such that the variables in the rows $Y_{n,1}, \ldots, Y_{n,n}$ are independent and $\mathbb{E}[|Y_{n,k}|^3] < +\infty$. Set $T_n = Y_{n,1} + \cdots + Y_{n,n}$. If

$$Var[T_n] \longrightarrow \Sigma$$
 and $\lim_{n \to +\infty} \sum_{k=1}^n \mathbb{E}[|Y_{n,k} - \mathbb{E}[Y_{n,k}]|^{2+\delta}] = 0$

for a certain $\delta > 0$, then

$$T_n - \mathbb{E}[T_n] \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, \Sigma)$$

in distribution.

Proof. See [Bil95].

Then we consider the following situation: take a family of i.i.d. standard Bernoulli random variables $(B_{(a,b)})_{a \ge 0, b \ge 0}$ and consider for each $a \ge 0, b \ge 0$ the variable

$$Z_{(a,b)} = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} B_{(a,b)} \\ B_{(a,b)} \end{pmatrix}$$

The meaning of this is that we have taken independent random variables $Z_{(a,b)}$ such that

$$\mathbb{P}\left(Z_{(a,b)} = \begin{pmatrix} a \\ b \end{pmatrix}\right) = \frac{1}{2} \qquad \mathbb{P}\left(Z_{(a,b)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}\right) = \frac{1}{2}$$

Now, for every $d \in \mathbb{N}$ consider the random variable

$$R_d = \sum_{\substack{a \ge 0, b \ge 0\\a+b \le d}} Z_{(a,b)}$$

We want to investigate the asymptotic behaviour of R_d . To do this, it will be useful to define

$$Z_k = \sum_{\substack{a \ge 0, b \ge 0\\a+b=k}} Z_{(a,b)}$$

in particular we note that the Z_k are independent and that $R_d = Z_1 + \cdots + Z_d$. First we compute the mean and the variance matrix.

Lemma 6.2.1. Let Z_k and R_d be as before. Then the mean and the variance of the Z_k are given by

$$\mathbb{E}[Z_k] = \frac{k(k+1)}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\1 \end{pmatrix} \qquad Var[Z_k] = \frac{k(k+1)}{24} \begin{pmatrix} 2k+1 & k-1\\k-1 & 2k+1 \end{pmatrix}$$

whereas the mean and the variance of the R_d are given by

$$\mathbb{E}[R_d] = \frac{d(d+1)(d+2)}{12} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \qquad Var[R_d] = \frac{d(d+1)(d+2)}{96} \begin{pmatrix} 2d+2 & d-1\\ d-1 & 2d+2 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. Let $B \sim B_{(a,b)}$ be a random variable with the same distribution as the $B_{(a,b)}$. Then we can write $B = (C D)^T$ and it is easy to see that C, D, CD are standard Bernoulli, so that

$$\mathbb{E}[C] = \mathbb{E}[D] = \frac{1}{2} \qquad \text{Cov}(C, C) = \text{Cov}(D, D) = \frac{1}{4} \qquad \text{Cov}(C, D) = \mathbb{E}[CD] - \mathbb{E}[C]\mathbb{E}[D] = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{4} = \frac{1}{4}$$

Now, it is easy to see that

$$\mathbb{E}[Z_k] = \sum_{a+b=k} \mathbb{E}[Z_{(a,b)}] = \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{a+b=k} \begin{pmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix} \right) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{k(k+1)}{2} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{k(k+1)}{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{k(k+1)}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Var}[Z_k] &= \sum_{a+b=k} \operatorname{Var}[Z_{(a,b)}] = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{a+b=k} \begin{pmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{a+b=k} \begin{pmatrix} a^2 & ab\\ ab & b^2 \end{pmatrix} = \\ &= \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{k(k+1)(2k+1)}{6} & \frac{k(k+1)(k-1)}{6}\\ \frac{k(k+1)(k-1)}{6} & \frac{k(k+1)(2k+1)}{6} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{k(k+1)}{24} \begin{pmatrix} 2k+1 & k-1\\ k-1 & 2k+1 \end{pmatrix} \end{aligned}$$

From these, we can compute the mean and the variance of the R_d : the mean is given by

$$\mathbb{E}[R_d] = \sum_{k=1}^d \mathbb{E}[Z_k] = \left(\sum_{k=1}^d \frac{k(k+1)}{4}\right) \binom{1}{1} = \frac{d(d+1)(d+2)}{12} \binom{1}{1}$$

and the variance by

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Var}[R_d] &= \sum_{k=1}^d \operatorname{Var}[Z_k] = \frac{1}{24} \sum_{k=1}^d \begin{pmatrix} k(k+1)(2k+1) & k(k+1)(k-1) \\ k(k+1)(k-1) & k(k+1)(2k+1) \end{pmatrix} = \\ &= \frac{d(d+1)(d+2)}{96} \begin{pmatrix} 2d+2 & d-1 \\ d-1 & 2d+2 \end{pmatrix} \end{aligned}$$

Now we can prove that the R_d are asymptotically normal:

Lemma 6.2.2. Let $R_d = Z_1 + \cdots + Z_n = \sum_{a+b \leq n} Z_{(a,b)}$ be as before. Then

$$\frac{R_d - \mathbb{E}[R_d]}{d^2} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, \Sigma)$$

in distribution, as $d \rightarrow +\infty$ *, where*

$$\Sigma = \frac{1}{96} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We want to apply the previous theorem: we set $Y_{d,k} = \frac{Z_k}{d^2}$ and $T_d = \sum_{k=1}^d Y_{d,k} = \frac{R_d}{d^2}$. Then it is clear that

$$\operatorname{Var}[T_d] = \frac{1}{d^4} \operatorname{Var}[R_d] \longrightarrow \Sigma = \frac{1}{96} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$

Now fix $k \ge 1$ and observe that

$$\begin{aligned} |Y_{d,k} - \mathbb{E}[Y_{d,k}]| &= \frac{1}{d^2} |Z_k - \mathbb{E}[Z_k]| = \frac{1}{d^2} \left| \sum_{h=0}^k (Z_{(a,b)} - \mathbb{E}[Z_{(a,b)}]) \right| = \frac{1}{d^2} \left| \sum_{h=0}^k \binom{h(B_{(h,k-h)} - \mathbb{E}[B_{(h,k-h)}])}{(k-h)(B_{(h,k-h)} - \mathbb{E}[B_{(h,k-h)}])} \right| = \frac{1}{d^2} \left| \binom{\sum_{h=0}^k hC_h}{\sum_{h=0}^k (k-h)C_h} \right| = \frac{1}{d^2} \left| \binom{A_k}{B_k} \right| \le \frac{1}{n^2} (|A_k| + |B_k|) \end{aligned}$$

where $C_h = B_{(h,k-h)}$ and $A_k = \sum_{h=0}^k hC_h$ and $B_k = \sum_{h=0}^k (k-h)C_{k-h}$. In particular, A_k and B_k have the same distribution (as it is clear by their construction).

Now, we want to use the Lyapounov's CLT with $\delta = 2$: observe that we have

$$|Y_{d,k} - \mathbb{E}[Y_{d,k}]|^4 \le \frac{1}{d^8} (|A_k| + |B_k|)^4 \le \frac{2^3}{d^8} (|A_k|^4 + |B_k|^4)$$

where for the last inequality we have used the convexity of the function $x \mapsto x^4$ for $x \ge 0$. Now we can compute

$$\mathbb{E}[|Y_{d,k} - \mathbb{E}[Y_{d,k}]|^4] \le \frac{2^3}{n^8} (\mathbb{E}[|A_k|^4] + \mathbb{E}[|B_k|^4]) = \frac{2^4}{n^8} \mathbb{E}[|A_k|^4]$$

Now, one can show (using cumulants, for example) that $\mathbb{E}[|A_k|^4] \sim Ck^6$ for a certain constant *C* so that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{d} \mathbb{E}[|Y_{d,k} - \mathbb{E}[Y_{d,k}]|^4] \sim B \frac{d^7}{d^8} \qquad \text{as } d \to +\infty$$

for another constant *B*, and then we conclude.

Proposition 6.2.3 follows easily from the above result.

Proof of Proposition 6.2.3. Consider the affine maps

$$f_d \colon \Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T) \longrightarrow \Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T) \qquad x \mapsto Ax + b_d$$

where

$$A = \frac{1}{3\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & \sqrt{3} \\ -1 & -\sqrt{3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad b_d = \frac{d}{3} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then it it easy to show that the set

$$T_d = \{ (d - 2h + k)\lambda_1 + (h - 2k)\lambda_2 \mid h = 1, \dots, d \ k = 0, \dots, h \}$$

goes into the set

$$f_d(T_d) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a \\ b \end{pmatrix} \middle| a \ge 0, b \ge 0, 1 \le a + b \le d \right\}$$

so that, in the notations of Proposition 6.2.3 and Lemma 6.2.2 we have that

$$S_d = f_d(R_d) = A \cdot R_d + b_d$$

Then

$$\frac{S_d - \mathbb{E}[S_d]}{d^2} = A \cdot \frac{R_d - \mathbb{E}[R_d]}{d^2}$$

and since we know from Lemma 6.2.2 that

$$\frac{R_d - \mathbb{E}[R_d]}{d^2} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, \Sigma)$$

in distribution, as $d \to +\infty$, it follows that

$$\frac{S_d - \mathbb{E}[S_d]}{d^2} \longrightarrow A^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{N}(0, \Sigma)$$

To conclude, it is enough to observe that

$$A^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{N}(0, \Sigma) = \mathcal{N}(0, A^{-1}\Sigma(A^{-1})^T) = \mathcal{N}(0, Q)$$

Continuous random triangles

Consider again the decomposition

$$\wedge^{s}(\operatorname{gr} \pi^{*}M_{d}) = \bigoplus_{\{\mu_{1},\dots,\mu_{s}\}} L_{\mu_{1}+\dots+\mu_{s}}$$

where the sum is over all distinct subsets of T_d of cardinality *s*.

We have already said that this decomposition corresponds to taking the sum $S_{d,s} = X_{d,1} + \cdots + X_{d,s}$ where the $X_{d,i}$ are i.i.d. random variables uniformly distributed on T_d , with the condition that $X_{d,i} \neq X_{d,j}$ if $i \neq j$. We would like to see an asymptotic normal behavior, but the condition $X_{d,i} \neq X_{d,j}$ is quite difficult to work with. We consider then a simplification of this situation: namely, we imagine to work not on a discrete triangle minus one point but on a continuous triangle. Then the condition $X_{d,i} \neq X_{d,j}$ becomes meaningless, and we just have to consider a sum of i.i.d. random variables without any restriction.

More precisely,, we consider for every *d* the full triangle T_d defined as the convex envelope of $T_d \cup \{ d\lambda_1 \}$ and we take a sequence of i.i.d. random variables $(X_{d,i})_{i\geq 1}$ with uniform distribution on \tilde{T}_d . Then for every $s \geq 0$ we define the sum

$$S_{d,s} = X_{d,1} + \dots + X_{d,s}$$

and we want to investigate the asymptotic distribution of $S_{s,d}$ as $s \to +\infty$. Thanks to Lyaponouv's Theorem 6.2.1 we can prove that there is asymptotic normality in the case s = d.

Proposition 6.2.4. *With notations as before, we have that, as* $d \to +\infty$

$$\frac{S_{d,d} - \mathbb{E}[S_{d,d}]}{d^{\frac{3}{2}}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0,Q)$$

in distribution, where

$$Q = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. First we consider the following situation: for every $d \ge 1$ let C_d be the triangle

$$C_d = \{ (x, y) \mid x \ge 0, y \ge 0, x + y \le d \}$$

and consider a sequence $(Z_{d,i})_{i\geq 1}$ of i.i.d. random variables uniformly distributed over C_d . Then define

$$T_d = Z_{d,1} + \cdots + Z_{d,d}$$

We want to compute the mean and the variance of T_d : let Z = (A, B) be a random variable with uniform distribution over C_d . Then we see that

$$\mathbb{E}[A] = \frac{2}{d^2} \int_{C_d} x dx dy = \frac{2}{d^2} \int_0^d x (d-x) dx = \frac{2}{d^2} \cdot \frac{d^3}{6} = \frac{d}{3}$$
$$\mathbb{E}[B] = \frac{2}{d^2} \int_{C_d} y dx dy = \frac{2}{d^2} \int_0^d y (d-y) dy = \frac{2}{d^2} \cdot \frac{d^3}{6} = \frac{d}{3}$$

so that

$$\mathbb{E}[Z] = \frac{d}{3} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathbb{E}[T_d] = d\mathbb{E}[Z] = \frac{d^2}{3} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

To compute the variance we see that

$$\mathbb{E}[A^2] = \frac{2}{d^2} \int_{C_d} x^2 dx dy = \frac{2}{d^2} \int_0^d x^2 (d-x) dx = \frac{d^2}{6}$$
$$\mathbb{E}[B^2] = \frac{2}{d^2} \int_{C_d} y^2 dx dy = \frac{2}{d^2} \int_0^d y^2 (d-y) dy = \frac{d^2}{6}$$
$$\mathbb{E}[AB] = \frac{2}{d^2} \int_{C_d} xy dx dy = \frac{2}{d^2} \int_0^d x \frac{(d-x)^2}{2} dx = \frac{d^2}{12}$$

so that

$$\operatorname{Var}[Z] = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^2}{18} & -\frac{d^2}{36} \\ -\frac{d^2}{36} & \frac{d^2}{18} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \operatorname{Var}[T_d] = d\operatorname{Var}[Z] = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^3}{18} & -\frac{d^3}{36} \\ -\frac{d^3}{36} & \frac{d^3}{18} \end{pmatrix}$$

Now, we define the variables $W_{d,i} = \frac{Z_{d,i}}{d^{\frac{3}{2}}}$ and we want to apply Theorem 6.2.1 to them. Observe that $W_{d,1} + \cdots + W_{d,d} = d^{-\frac{3}{2}}T_d$ and that

$$\operatorname{Var}[d^{-rac{3}{2}}T_d] = \Sigma = rac{1}{36} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 \\ -1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$

Now we need to show that

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{1}{d^{\frac{3}{2}(2+\delta)}} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \mathbb{E}[|Z_{d,i} - \mathbb{E}[Z_{d,i}]|^{2+\delta}] = 0$$

for a certain $\delta > 0$. For any $\delta > 0$ we have that

$$|Z - \mathbb{E}[Z]|^{2+\delta} \le (|A - \mathbb{E}[A]| + |B - \mathbb{E}[B]|)^{2+\delta} \le 2^{1+\delta}(|A - \mathbb{E}[A]|^{2+\delta} + |B - \mathbb{E}[B]|^{2+\delta})$$

by convexity of the function $x \mapsto x^{2+\delta}$. Then, since *A* and *B* have the same distribution, we see taking expectations that

$$\mathbb{E}[|Z - \mathbb{E}[Z]|^{2+\delta}] \le 2^{2+\delta} \mathbb{E}[|A - \mathbb{E}[A]|^{2+\delta}]$$

but since $|A| \leq d$ it follows that

$$\mathbb{E}[|Z - \mathbb{E}[Z]|^{2+\delta}] \le 4^{2+\delta} d^{2+\delta}$$

Then

$$\lim_{d \to +\infty} \frac{1}{d^{\frac{3}{2}(2+\delta)}} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \mathbb{E}[|Z_{d,i} - \mathbb{E}[Z_{d,i}]|^{2+\delta}] \le \lim_{d \to +\infty} 4^{\delta+2} \frac{d^{3+\delta}}{d^{3+\frac{3}{2}\delta}} = 0$$

This shows that

$$\frac{T_d - \mathbb{E}[T_d]}{d^{\frac{3}{2}}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, \Sigma)$$

in distribution, for $d \to +\infty$. To conclude, it is enough to observe that the affine maps

$$f_d: \Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T) \longrightarrow \Lambda_{\mathbb{R}}(T) \qquad x \mapsto Ax + b_d$$

that we have seen in the proof of Proposition 6.2.3 send \tilde{T}_d to C_d , so that $T_d = f(S_{d,d})$. Then, we get the desired result as in the proof of Proposition 6.2.3.

Remark 6.2.3. With the same technique, one can prove a similar statement for the $S_{d,s}$ with s = md for a certain constant m.

References

- [BCR11] Winfried Bruns, Aldo Conca, and Tim Römer, *Koszul homology and syzygies of veronese subalgebras*, Math. Ann. **351** (2011), 761–779.
 - [Bil95] Patrick Billingsley, Probability and measure, Wiley, 1995.
 - [Bor] Ada Boralevi, *Quiver representations and homogeneous vector bundles on flag manifolds,* Ph.D. Thesis, Università di Firenze.
- [Cas93] Guido Castelnuovo, Sui multipli di una serie lineare di gruppi di punti appartenente ad una curva algebrica, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 7 (1893), 89–110.
- [Dol03] Igor Dolgachev, Lectures on invariant theory, Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- [EEL13] Lawrence Ein, Daniel Erman, and Robert Lazarsfeld, *Asymptotics of random Betti tables*, J. Reine Angew. Math. (2013).
- [Eis05] David Eisenbud, The geometry of syzygies, Springer-Verlag, 2005.
- [Eis95] _____, Commutative algebra with a view towards algebraic geometry, Springer-Verlag, 1995.
- [EL12] Lawrence Ein and Robert Lazarsfeld, *Asymptotic syzygies of algebraic varieties*, Invent. math. **190** (2012), 603–646.
 - [ES] David Eisenbud and Frank-Olaf Schreyer, *Betti numbers of syzygies and cohomology of coherent sheaves*, ICM 2010 (Hyderabad, India), in Proceedings of the ICM 2010, World scientific Publishing Co.
- [Fel71] William Feller, An introduction to probability theory and its applications, volume II, Wiley, 1971.
- [FH91] William Fulton and Joe Harris, Representation theory, Springer-Verlag, 1991.
 - [Fuj] Takao Fujita, Defining equations for certain types of polarized varieties, in Complex analysis and algebraic geometry (Walter L. Jr. Baily and Tetsuji Shioda, eds.), Cambridge University Press, 1977, pp. 165–173.
- [GR92] Peter Gabriel and Andrei V. Roiter, *Algebra*, *VIII: Representations of finite-dimensional algebras*, Springer, 1992.
- [Gre84a] Mark Green, *Koszul cohomology and the geometry of projective varieties*, J. Diff. Geom. **19** (1984), 125–171.
- [Gre84b] _____, Koszul cohomology and the geometry of projective varieties II, J. Diff. Geom. 20 (1984), 279–289.
 - [Gre] _____, *Koszul cohomology and geometry*, First college on Riemann surfaces (Trieste, Italy, 1987), in Lectures on Riemann surfaces, World scientific Publishing Co., pp. 177–200.
 - [Har77] Robin Hartshorne, *Algebraic geometry*, Springer, 1977.
 - [Hil82] Howard Hiller, Geometry of coxeter groups, Pitman, 1982.
 - [HL96] Daniel Huybrechts and Manfred Lehn, *The geometry of moduli spaces of sheaves*, Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- [Hum81] James Humphreys, Linear algebraic groups, Springer-Verlag, 1981.
- [Kos61] Bertram Kostant, *Lie algebra cohomology and the generalized Borel-Weil theorem*, Ann. of Math. **74** (1961), 329–387.

- [Lit90] Peter Littelmann, A generalization of the Littlewood-Richardson rule, J. Algebra **130** (1990), 328–368.
- [Mat61] Arthur Mattuck, Symmetric products and jacobians, Am. J. Math 83 (1961), 189–206.
- [Mum] David Mumford, *Varieties defined by quadratic equations*, Corso C.I.M.E. (Varenna, Italy, 1989), Questions on algebraic varieties, Cremonese, 1970, pp. 30–100.
- [OP01] Giorgio Ottaviani and Raffaella Paoletti, *Syzygies of Veronese embeddings*, Compos. Math. **125** (2001), 31–37.
- [OR06] Giorgio Ottaviani and Elena Rubei, *Quivers and the cohomology of homogeneous vector bundles*, Duke Math. J. **132** (2006), 459–508.
 - [Ott] Giorgio Ottaviani, Rational homogeneous varieties, http://web.math.unifi.it/users/ ottavian/rathomo/rathomo.pdf.
- [Ram66] Sundararaman Ramanan, *Holomorphic vector bundles on homogeneous spaces*, Topology 5 (1966), 159–177.
- [Rub04] Elena Rubei, A result on resolutions of Veronese embeddings, Ann. Univ. Ferrar Sez. VII 50 (2004), 151–165.
- [SD72] Bernard Saint-Donat, Sur les équations définissant une courbe algébrique, C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Ser. A **274** (1972), 324–327.
- [Sno13] Andrew Snowden, *Syzygies of Segre embeddings and* Δ*-modules*, Duke Math. J. **162** (2013), 225–277.
 - [Vak] Ravi Vakil, Foundations of algebraic geometry, http://math.stanford.edu/~vakil/ 216blog/FOAGjun1113public.pdf.
- [Zho14] Xin Zhou, *Effective non-vanishing of asymptotic adjoint syzygies*, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **142** (2014), 2255-2264.